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IN THE TENNESSEE REGULATORY AUTHORITY
AT NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE

IN RE:

CONSUMER ADVOCATE’S PETITION DOCKET NO. 11-00005
FOR A DECLARATORY ORDER THAT
BERRY’S CHAPEL UTILITY, INC_,IS A
PUBLIC UTILITY UNDER TENNESSEE
LAW AND SHOULD BE REGULATED
BY THE TRA
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CONSUMER ADVOCATE’S INITIAL BRIEF THAT BERRY’S CHAPEL UTILITY,
INC., IS APUBLIC UTILITY UNDER TENNESSEE LAW AND SHOULD BE
REGULATED BY THE TRA

The Consumer Advocate and Protection Division of the Office of the Attorney General
(“Consumer Advocate™), pursuant to the Hearing Officer’s Notice of February 11, 2011, hereby
submits its Initial Brief on the issue of whether Berry’s Chapel Utility, Inc., is a public utility
under Tennessee law and should be regulated by the Tennessee Regulatory Authority (“TRA”™).
The Hearing Officer’s Notice directed the parties to address three issues:

1. Whether the TRA has the authority under Tennessee law to make a determination
with respect to whether Berry’s Chapel Utility, Inc. f/k/a Lynwood Utility

Company is a nonprofit corporation or a public utility as defined in Tenn. Code

Amn. § 65-4-101(6).

2. Whether Berry’s Chapel Utility, Inc. ¥/k/a Lynwood Utility Company is a public
utility under Tennessee law and subject to regulation by the TRA.

3. Whether customers of Berry’s Chapel Utility, Inc. f/k/a Lynwood Utility
Company are entitled to a refund of any increase in rates that was put into place
through the Rate Change Notice, which called for a $20 per month increase
effective November 1, 2010.
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The Consumer Advocate’s position on these three issues is as follows:

1. Yes, the TRA does have authority under Tennessee law to make a
determination with respect to whether Berry’s Chapel Utility, Inc. f/k/a
Lynwood Utility Company is a nonprofit corporation or a public utility as
defined in Tenn. Code Ann. § 65-4-101(6).

2. Yes, Berry’s Chapel Utility, Inc. f/k/a Lynwood Utility Company is a public
utility under Tennessee law and subject to regulation by the TRA.

3. Yes, customers of Berry’s Chapel Utility, Inc. f/lk/a Lynwood Utility
Company are entitled to a refund of any increase in rates that was put into
place through the Rate Change Notice, which called for a $20 per month
imcrease effective November 1, 2010.

INTRODUCTION

Berry’s Chapel Utility, Inc. (“Berry’s Chapel”) is a utility formed by the merger of
Lynwood Utility Corporation into Berry’s Chapel. Prior to the merger, Lynwood Utility
Corporation (“Lynwood Utility” or “Lynwood”) was a Tennessee corporation providing
wastewater services to the Cottonwood residential community near Franklin, Tennessee.
Lynwood Utility had a Certificate of Convenience and Necessity granted by the TRA and was
subject to regulation by the TRA as a public utility authorized to earn a just and reasonable rate
of return, including a profit. According to a letter filed by counsel for Lynwood Utility, effective
September 1, 2010, Lynwood Utility was merged into Berry’s Chapel, a company with a charter
stating that it is incorporated under the Tennessee Nonprofit Corporation Act as a “mutual

>

benefit corporation.” Furthermore, according to the same letter from counsel for Lynwood
Utility, Berry’s Chapel is a “nonutility because it is a nonprofit corporation.” Therefore,
according to Berry’s Chapel, it should be exempt from regulation by the TRA.

The Consumer Advocate disputes Berry’s Chapel’s claim that it is not a public utility and

that it is exempt from TRA regulation. Accordingly, the Consumer Advocate has filed the




present Petition for a Declaratory Order that Berry’s Chapel Utility, Inc., Is a Public Utility
Under Tennessee Law and Should Be Regulated by the TRA. The TRA has now set a hearing in
this matter and requested the parties to set forth their positions on these issues.

1. The TRA Has Authority to Determine that Berry’s Chapel Is a Nonprofit
Corporation or a Public Utility

In Tenn. Code Ann. § 65-4-104, the Tennessee Legislature expressly granted the TRA the
power to regulate all public utilities. Inherent in and necessary to the power to regulate utilities
is the power to determine what a utility is. It is, therefore, no accident that the first section in the
Tennessee Code Chapter that sets forth the TRA’s regulatory powers, “Regulation of Public
Utilities by Commission,” is entitled “Public utilities defined.” See Tenn. Code. Ann. § 65-4-
101. If the TRA does not have the authority to apply the definition of what a public utility is,
any public utility could simply declare itself to be some form of entity that is not subject to TRA
regulation and the TRA would be prohibited from mnquiring into whether the entity was really
what it claimed to be.

Accordingly, the TRA has ample authority under Tennessee law to determine whether
Berry’s Chapel is a nonprofit corporation or a public utility.

2. Berry’s Chapel Is a Public Utility Under Tennessee L.aw and Subject to Regulation
by the TRA

The statute under which Berry’s Chapel claims to be exempted from regulation by the
TRA is inapplicable to a corporation such as Berry’s Chapel. Berry’s Chapel claims that it is a
nonutility under Tenn. Code Ann. § 65-4-101(6)(E) because it is a “nonprofit corporation.”
Tenn. Code Ann. § 65-4-101(6)(E) provides as follows:

.. ..(6) “Public utility” as defined in this section shall not be
construed to include the following nonutilities:




(E) Any cooperative organization, association or
corporation not organized or deing business for profit.

Berry’s Chapel, however, is not a “cooperative” corporation not organized or doing
business for profit as required by this statute. A plain reading of Tenn. Code Ann. § 65-4-
101(6)(E) shows that the only kind of “nonprofit” that can be excluded from the definition of a
“public utility” is one that is “cooperative” in nature because the word “cooperative” niust be
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read in front of each of the terms “organization,” “association,” and “corporation” for the statute
to make sense and to effectively protect Tennessee consumers from utilities operating in a
monopolistic environment. Otherwise, under Berry’s Chapel’s reading of the statute, any utility
simply calling itself an “association,” for example, would be free from TRA regulation. A
cooperative is an organization composed of and responsible to the members it serves. The
Charter of Berry’s Chapel, however, shows that there are no members. There are only three
persons listed on the incorporation papers of Berry’s Chapel and two of them, the Rings, are the
main creditors or, in effect, the owners of the company: John Ring; Tyler L. Ring; and James B.
Ford. The persons who would ordinarily be “members” of the cooperative corporation are
Berry’s Chapel’s captive customers who have virtually no input into or control over Berry’s
Chapel and cannot opt for another service provider since their wastewater system has long
operated in a state-sanctioned monopoly environment. Accordingly, Berry’s Chapel does not
meet the definition of a cooperative corporation.

Thus, the emphasis on the term “cooperative” in interpreting the statute under which
Berry’s Chapel is seeking to avoid regulation by the TRA is absolutely critical. Because if a

utility is a true cooperative composed of the members it serves there is a built-in mechanism to

ensure that the persons served by the utility are not completely at its mercy. If, however, Berry’s




Chapel’s position is accepted there is nothing to stop those persons who control and benefit by
the utility from charging its captive customers as much as those persons want.

This case, therefore, goes to the very heart of public utility regulation. Governmental
regulatiqn of utilities is supposed to serve as a proxy for regulation by the market place because
in a monopoly situation such as exists in the case of Berry’s Chapel there is no true market.
Berry’s Chapel’s customers cannot simply contract for other sewer service; they are literally tied
to their service provider. So if Berry’s Chapel’s interpretation of the law is accepted, their
customers do not have the protection of the market, the government, or a self-governing
cooperative. Surely the Legislature did not intend such a result. Therefore, the Consumer
Advocate requests the TRA to interpret the law as the Legislature intended and protect the
customers of Berry’s Chapel.

In addition, the new company formed by the merger, Berry’s Chapel, has presented to the
TRA no indicia of a nonprofit corporation other than a form submitted to the Tennessee
Secretary of State. The Consumer Advocate, therefore, maintains that the TRA should disregard
the mere form of nonprofit corporate status alleged by Berry’s Chapel and find that the
substance of the corporation is that of a for-profit utility and that Berry’s Chapel is therefore
subject to the regulation of the TRA.

3. Customers of Berry’s Chapel Are Entitled to a Refund of any Increase in Rates

Finally, since Berry’s Chapel is a public utility under Tennessee law and subject to TRA
regulation, any rate increases it imposes are subject to approval of the TRA. Berry’s Chapel,
however, did not obtain such approval before imposing a $20 per month rate increase on its
customers. Accordingly, the rate increase was improper and the money obtained from the

improper increase should be returned to the customers.




I.  THE TRA HAS THE AUTHORITY UNDER TENNESSEE LAW TO
MAKE A DETERMINATION WITH RESPECT TO WHETHER BERRY’S
CHAPEL UTILTY, INC. F/K/A LYNWOOD UTILITY COMPANY IS A
NONPROFIT CORPORATION OR A PUBLIC UTILITY AS DEFINED IN
TENN. CODE ANN. § 65-4-101(6)

In Tenn. Code Ann. § 65-4-104, the Tennessee Legislature expressly granted the TRA the
power to regulate all public utilities. Inherent in and necessary to the power to regulate utilities
is the power to determine what business activities constitute that of a utility? It is, therefore, no
accident that the first section in the Tennessee Code Chapter that sets forth the TRA’s regulatory
powers, “Regulation of Public Utilities by Commission,” is entitled “Public utilities defined.”
See Tenn. Code. Ann. § 65-4-101. If the TRA does not have the authority to apply the definition
of what a public utility is, any public utility could simply declare itself to be some form of entity
that is not subject to TRA regulation and the TRA would be prohibited from inquiring into
whether the entity was really what it claimed to be.

Tenn. Code Ann. § 65-4-104, the statute that gives the TRA the power to regulate all
public utilities, provides as follows:

The authority has general supervisory and regulatory power,
jurisdiction, and control over all public utilities, and also over their
property, property rights, facilities, and franchises, so far as may be
necessary for the purpose of carrying out the provisions of this
chapter. However, such general supervisory and regulatory power
and jurisdiction and control shall not apply to street railway
companies.

In addition, the Tennessee Legislature expressly granted the TRA the power to issue
declaratory orders. See Tenn. Code Ann. § 65-2-104 which provides as follows:

On the petition of any interested person, the authority may issue a
declaratory ruling with respect to the applicability to any person,
property, or state of facts of any rule or statute enforceable by it or
with respect to the meaning and scope of any order of the
authority. A declaratory ruling, if issued after argument and stated
to be binding, is binding between the authority and the petitioner
on the state of facts alleged in the petition, unless it is altered or set
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aside by a court in a proper proceeding. Such rulings are subject to

teview in the chancery court of Davidson County in the manner

provided in this chapter for the review of decisions in contested

cases. The authority shall prescribe by rule the form for such

petitions and the procedure for their submission, consideration, and

disposition.

So in addition to the TRA’s own Rule governing declaratory orders, TRA Rule 1220-1-

2-.05, the Consumer Advocate is before the TRA with its Petition for a Declaratory Order that
Berry’s Chapel Is a Public Utility Under Tennessee Law and Should Be Regulated by the TRA
pursuant to this statute, Tenn. Code Ann. § 65-2-104.

Moreover, the Tennessee Legislature has expressly provided that the chapter containing
the statute regaiding declaratory orders is to be liberally construed:

This chapter shall not be construed as in derogation of the
common law, but shall be given a liberal construction, and any
doubt as to the existence or the extent of a power shall be resolved
in favor of the existence of the power.

Tenn. Code Ann. § 65-2-121.

With regard to whether the TRA has ever exercised its authority to determine whether a
specific entity is or is not a public utility as defined in Tenn. Code Ann. § 65-4-101, the TRA has
to look no further than letters written by its own legal staff on this very issue of a nonprofit
corporation. In the course of preparing its Petition for a Declaratory Order, the Consumer
Advocate learned that in 2008 attorneys for the TRA wrote letters allowing a homeowners
association which operated a wastewater system to avoid regulation by the TRA on the ground
that it was a nonprofit corporation. A copy of these letters is attached as Collective Exhibit A
(A-1, A-2, A-3). This matter, which involved the Fairfield Glade Homeowners Association, was
not a contested case, nor did it involve public deliberations by the TRA directors. Furthermore,

the Consumer Advocate was unaware at the time of this position taken by attorneys for the TRA.

It should also be noted that the Fairfield Glade matter is distinguishable from the present case in
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that there were actual members of the association as opposed to Berry’s Chapel which has no
members, and the association was a 501(C)(4) nonprofit. See Exhibit A-1. Therefore, in its
Petition for a Declaratory Order, the Consumer Advocate requested the TRA Directors to give
the position expressed in the Fairfield Glade letters no precedential weight.

Even so, the letters clearly show that the TRA believed itself capable of determining and
applying the definition of a public utility. For example, the letter of June 26, 2008, from counsel
for the TRA, attached as Exhibit A-3, states that “[o]nce we established that Fairfield Glade
Community Club was operating as a nonprofit corporation, the issue became whether Fairfield
Glade Community Club would be acting beyond the authority in its charter as a nonprofit
corporation by performing a utility function.” The word “established” indicates the counsel for
the TRA did not merely take the word of the utility as to its corporate status but actually looked
into how the utility “operated.” Furthermore, in a letter from counsel for the homeowners
association dated April 16, 2008, attached as Exhibit A-1, counsel states that Fairfield Glade
Community Club “has been recognized as a tax-exempt not-for-profit 501(c)(4) corporation by
the IRS.” Counsel for the association also attached a copy of the association’s charter which
indicates the association did in fact have members. These elements, how the entity actually
operates, whether it has federal tax-exempt status, and whether 1t has members, are all factors the
Consumer Advocate has asked the TRA to consider in the present case.

Now that the Consumer Advocate has come before the TRA and asked for a similar
exercise of determining the definition of a public utility in specific circumstances, it is hoped that
the TRA will not follow the practice of using the definition of public utility to grant exemptions
from regulatory authority but not use the definition of public utility to determine that the

application of regulatory authority is warranted.




Another example of how the TRA uses its authority to go behind the mere surface of a
utility’s request is the process by which requests for Certificates of Convenience and Necessity
(“CCN”) are handled. When a company applies to the TRA for a CCN it states that it has
sufficient managerial, financial and technical abilities to provide the services it intends to offer.
See, e.g., BellSouth BSE, Inc. v. Tennessee Regulatory Authority, 2003 WL 354466 (February 18,
2003), attached as Exhibit B. The TRA, however, does not merely take the company at its word:
but generally conducts a hearing to test the validity of the statements in the application. Id.

If agencies such as the TRA did not have the authority to make a determination of
whether a company should be regulated, agencies’ ability to regulate would be severely
restricted. There are, however, examples in Tennessee law where agencies exercised their
regulatory powers in the face of claims by compames that they were not subject to regulation.
See ,e.g., H&R Block Eastern Tax Services, Inc. v. State of Tennessee, Department of Commerce
and Insurance, 267 S.W.3d 848 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2008). In H&R Block, the Department of
Commerce and Insurance asseried that a product sold by H&R Block was insurance and,
therefore, H&R Block should be subject to regulation by the Department. [d. at 849, 852. H&R
Block opposed the Department’s position and sought a declaratory order that their product was
not msurance and that it was not subject to regulation by the Department. Id. at 849, 852. In the
H&R Block case, the Court of Appeals ultimately held that the product was not imsurance, but
there was no challenge to the Department’s authonty to assert that a previously unregulated
company should be subject to Department regulation.

In summary, the TRA has the following basis for the authority to act regarding Berry’s
Chapel: (1) the TRA has clear statutory authority to issue declaratory orders construing and

applying its own statutes such as the one defining public utilities; and (2) the TRA has the staff,




expertise, and actual experience in similar situations such as the Fairfield Glade matter and CCN
proceedings to determime if the entity is what it claims to be, in this case, if Berry’s Chapel is
truly a not for profit enﬁty.

Finally, the Consumer Advocate would also note that the TRA has authority to act in this
situation based on its power over CCNs. In the present case, the CCN of Lynwood is apparently
still in effect because when Lynwood was merged into Berry’s Chapel the CCN was not
transferred or even attempted to be transferred. See the letter of September 17, 2010, attached as
Exhibit C, from Donald Scholes to Mary Freeman, Chairman of the TRA.

In previous filings with the TRA the Consumer Advocate has drawn attention to the fact
that the merger of Lynwood mto Berry’s Chapel needed approval by the TRA because the statute
under which Berry’s Chapel claimed authority to consummate the merger, Tenn. Code Ann. §
65-4-112(b) does not specifically refer to mergers. See, e.g., Consumer Advocate’s Reply to the
Answer of Berry’s Chapel Ultility, Inc., to Petition for Declaratory Judgment. In its letter of
September 17, 2010, to Mary Freeman, Chairman of the TRA, Berry’s Chapel stated that
“[ulnder the T.C.A. §65-4-112(b), the merger of Lynwood Utility Corporation into Berry’s
Chapel Utility, Inc. did not require any approval of the Authority smce Berry’s Chapel Utility,
Inc. is a nonutility.” (Emphasis added.) A copy of the letter is attached as Exhibit C. Tenn.
Code Ann. §65-4-112(b) provides as follow:

(b) Any public utility as defined in § 65-4-101, may, without the
approval or consent of the state of Tennessee or the authority, or
any other agency of the state, sell, lease, or otherwise dispose of
any of its property, including, but without limitation, franchises,
rights, facilities, and other assets, and its capital stock, to any of the
nonutilities defined in § 65-4-101.

It should be noted, however, that although the term “mmerger” does appear in §65-4-

112(a), the term “merger” does not appear in §65-4-112(b):
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§ 65-4-112. Property; utility leases, merges or consolidation

(a) No lease of its property, rights, or franchises, by any such
public utility, and no merger or consolidation of its property, rights
and franchises by any such public utility with the property, rights
and franchises of any other such public utility of like character
shall be valid until approved by the authority, even though power
to take such action has been conferred on such public utility by the
state of Tennessee or by any political subdivision of the state.

{b) Any public utility as defined in § 65-4-101, may, without the
approval or consent of the state of Tennessee or the authority, or
any other agency of the state, sell, lease, or otherwise dispose of
any of its property, including, but without limitation, franchises,
rights, facilities, and other assets, and its capital stock, to any of the
nonutilities defined in § 65-4-101.

The Consumer Advocate maintains that in this situation there is an important difference
between a “merger” and the decision of a utility to “sell, lease, or otherwise dispose of any of its
property.” If a public utility merges with another unregulated utility, the result is generally the
disappearance of the first utility into the second one (this was the case in the merger of Lynwood
into Berry’s Chapel). As a result of the first utility’s disappearance, the public being served by
that public utility no longer has a fully functioning regulated utility to look to for service.
Furthermore, the Certificate of Convenience and Necessity (“CCN”) is no longer viable and has,
in effect, been abandoned without a hearing. In a sale, lease, or disposal of any property, on the
other hand, the first utility would still be alive and viable and the TRA and the public could use
the CNN to effectively call on the utility to continue serving the public. Thus, if a utility chooses
to sell or dispose of all or virtually all of its property it does so at its own peril because the
requirement to serve the public would still be in place.

Accordingly, the persons who controlled Lynwood can still be called to account for the

obligations imposed by a CCN to provide utility service because the merger of Lynwood into

Berry’s Chapel, whether or not it required TRA approval, had no effect on the CCN. If,
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improbable as it seems, Berry’s Chapel maintains that it may simply walk away from a CCN
without TRA approval, the Consumer Advocate very much wants to be heard on that issue.

For the foregoing reasons, the TRA should determine that it has the authority under
Tennessee law to make a determination with respect to whether Berry’s Chapel Utility, Inc. f/k/a
Lynwood Utility Company is a nonprofit corporation or a public utility as defined in Tenn. Code

Ann. § 65-4-101(6).
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II. BERRY’S CHAPEL F/K/A LYNWOOD UTILITY COMPANY IS A
PUBLIC UTILITY UNDER TENNESSEE LAW AND SUBJECT TO
REGULATION BY THE TRA

A. BERRY’S CHAPEL IS NOT A “COOPERATIVE” CORPORATION
AS REQUIRED BY THE STATUTE EXCLUDING CERTAIN
ENTTITIES FROM THE DEFINITION OF PUBLIC UTILITIES
The statute under which Berry’s Chapel claims to be exempted from regulation by the
TRA is inapplicable to a corporation such as Berry’s Chapel. In its letter of September 17, 2010,
attached as Exhibit C, Berry’s Chapel claims that it is a nonutility under Tenn. Code Ann. § 65-
4-101(6)(E) because it is a “nonprofit corporation.” Tenn. Code Ann. § 65-4-101(6)(E) provides

as follows:

.. .. (6) “Public utility” as defined in this section shall not be
construed to include the following nonutilities:

(F) Any cooperative organization, association or
corporation not organized or doing business for profit.

A copy of Tenn. Code Ann. § 65-4-101 is attached as Exhibit D for convenience of reference.
Berry’s Chapel, however, is not a “cooperative” corporation as required by this statute.
A plain reading of Tenn. Code Ann. § 65-4-101(6)(F) shows that the only kind of nonprofit that
is to be excluded from the definition of a “public utility” is one that is “cooperative” in nature.
Thus, the word “cooperative” must be read in front of each of the terms “organization,”
“association,” and “corporation” for the statute to make sense and to effectively protect
Tennessee consumers from utilities operating in a monopolistic environment. Berry’s Chapel, on
the other hand, wants to isolate the words “corporation not organized or doing business for

profit” from the rest of the sentence and not give any meaning to the term “cooperative.” In
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effect, this would create a stand-alone exclusion from the definition of public utility. As will be
shown, however, such a reading is contrary to the well-accepted rules of statutory construction.
Any reading of subsection (E) other than the one advanced by the Consumer Advocate

E Y

which reads the word “cooperative” before each of the terms “organization,” “association,” and
“corporation” would lead to absurd results. For example, if the terms “association” and
“corporation” are read as being unmodified by the term “cooperative,” any utility currently
regulated by the TRA could simply change its name to include the word “association” and then,
as if by magic, it would become an unregulated utility because “associations,” so the argument
would go, are to be excluded from the definition of public utility. After all, just look at the word
“association” in the statute, so the logic of Berry’s Chapel would dictate, and the conclusion is

obvious, that an “association” should be unregulated:

.. .. (6) “Public utility” as defined in this section shall not be
construed to include the following nonutilities:

&) Any cooperative organization, association or
corporation not organized or doing business for profit.

Tenn. Code Ann. § 65-4-101(6E). The law, however, abhors such absurd results when
construing statutes. See Lee Medical, Inc. v. Beecher, 312 S.W.3d 515, 527 (Tenn. 2010).
Furthermore, as will be discussed below, even if the term “association” were read as being linked
to the words “not organized or doing business for profit,” that would not eliminate the problem
of absurd results. In particular, subsection (E) would conflict with a later provision in the statute,
namely, section (7) which provides that the term ““[pJublic utility”” does not mean nonprofit
homeowners associations or orgamzations . . . .” In short, if an “association” were construed as
being a non-utility under subsection (E), there would be no need for the later section (7) which

exempts associations of homeowners.
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Moreover, unless the word “cooperative” is read as modifying each of the terms,
“orpanization,” “association” and “corporation,” the word “cooperative” would have only a
confused purpose at best in the statute. In fact, if the term “cooperative” is read as applying only
to the term “cooperative organization,” subsection (E) would have to be read as excluding from
the definition of public utility an entity that was not necessarily a nonprofit because there is
nothing inherently nonprofit about a “cooperative organization.” In fact, the statute governing
electric cooperatives recognizes that unless an electric cooperative is formed under the act
governing such cooperatives, there is a virtual presumption that it is not a nonprofit. Tenn. Code
Ann. § 65-25-223 provides as follows:

Cooperatives and foreign corporations transacting business in this

state pursuant to this part shall be deemed to be not-for-profit

cooperatives and nonutilities, and, except as provided in § 65-25-

222, exempt in all respects from the jurisdiction and control of the

Tennessge regulatory authority.
However, as will be seen below, one of the stated purposes of the origmal legislation that created
the exclusion in subsection (E) was to exempt “certain non-profit organizations” from the
definition of public utility. Accordingly, it is the Consumer Advocate’s reading of the word
“cooperative” in subsection (E) that gives true meaning to that word; and when the Legislature
used the word “cooperative,” it is to be presumed “that the Legislature used each word in the
statute purposely and that the use of these words conveyed some intent and had a meaning aﬁd a
purpose.” Anderson Fish & Oyster Company, Inc. v. Olds, 277 S.W.2d 344, 345 (Tenn.1955).

As stated above, if subsection (E) is read so as to exclude from the definition of public
utility a mere “association,” whether for-profit or not, there would be a conflict with section (7)

of Tenn. Code Ann. § 65-4-101 which provides as follows:

(7) “Public utility” does not mean nonprofit homeowners
associations or organizations whose membership is limited to
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owners of lots in residential subdivisions, which associations or
organizations own, construct, operate or maintain water, street
light or park maintenance service systems for the exclusive use of
that subdivision; provided, however, that the subdivisions are
unable to obtain such services from the local utility district. None
of the property, property rights or facilities owned or used by the
associations or organization for the rendering of such services shall
be under the jurisdiction, supervision or control of the Tennessee
regulatory authority.

That is, if a mere “association,” as opposed to a “cooperative association,” were to be excluded
from the definition of public utility as must be the case if the term “cooperative” is not read as
modifying “association,” any homeowner’s association, certainly a non-profit one, would already
be a non-utility and not subject to the jurisdiction of the TRA. Clearly, however, the Legislature
did not believe that associations of homeowners were already excluded when they added section
(7). Otherwise, section (7) would be superfluous and it is presumed “that the General Assembly
did not intend to enact a useless statute.” See Lee Medical, Inc. v. Beecher, 312 S.W.3d 515, 527
(Tenn. 2010). Furthermore, a statute should be construed “in a way that avoids conflict and
facilitates the harmonious operation of the law.” See Lee Medical, Inc. v. Beecher, 312 S.W.3d
515, 527 (Tenn. 2010).

The reading of subsection (E) advanced by the Consumer Advocate is also consistent
with another statute involving nonprofit entities, Tenn. Code Ann. § 48-58-601(c), which
provides as follows:

(c) All directors, trustees or members of the governing bodies of
nonprofit _cooperatives, corporations, clubs, associations and
organizations described in subsection (d), whether compensated or
not, shall be immune from suit arising from the conduct of the
affairs of such cooperatives, corporations, clubs, associations or
organizations. Such immunity from suit shall be removed when
such conduct amounts to willful, wanton or gross negligence.
Notwithstanding other provisions of this subsection to the contrary,

all directors, trustees or members of the governing bodies of
nonprofit cemetery corporations, associations and organizations
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referred to in subdivision (d)(6) shall be immune from personal

liability only if such cemetery corporations, associations or

orgamzations carry liability insurance coverage in an amount to be

determined by the department of commerce and insurance;

provided, that such requirement shall not apply in any county

having a population of not less than six thousand (6,000) nor more

than six thousand one hundred twenty-five (6,125) according to the

1980 federal census or any subsequent federal census. Nothing in

chapters 51-68 of this title shall be construed to grant immunity to

the nonprofit cooperative, corporation, association or organization.

(Emphasis added)
In Tenn. Code Ann. § 48-58-601(c) the word “nonprofit” in the phrase “governing bodies of
nonprofit cooperatives, corporations, clubs, associations and organizations” clearly modifies
each of the terms in the phrase. Otherwise the phrase could be read to mean that all corporations
or clubs, not just nonprofit ones, would have the immunity described in the statute, an obviously
absurd result. Similarly, in subsection (E) of Tenn. Code Ann. § 65-4-101(6)(E), the word
“cooperative” must be read as modifying each of the terms in the phrase “[a]ny cooperative
organization, association or corporation not organized or doing business for profit” in order to
avoid the absurd results previously discussed.

The section of the Tennessee Code which excludes certain nonprofits from regulation as
“public utilities” was passed in 1935, 1935 Public Acts, Chapter 42. As in the current Tennessee
Code Annotated, Public Chapter 42 contains an exclusion from the definition of “public utility”
for “(e) any cooperative organization, association or corporation not organized or doing business
for profit.” A copy of 1935 Public Acts, Chapter 42 is attached as Exhibit E. The Preamble to
Chapter 42 provides as follows:

AN ACT to define and limit the authority, powers and jurisdiction
of the Railroad and Public Utilities Commission so as to exempt
therefrom certain Federal and State Corporations, Agencies,
Instrumentalities, and other public bodies and certain non-profit

organizations herein defined as non-utilities; to authorize utilities
to sell, lease or otherwise dispose of their property to non-utilities;
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and as a part hereof to amend sections 5380 to 5508, inclusive, of
the official code of Tennessee, passed at the regular session of the
General Assembly of the State of Tennessee in 1931, known as the
Code of Tennessee of 1932, said section of the code defining the
“Public Utility.” (Emphasis added)

Significantly, the Preamble provides that “certain non-profit organizations” are to be
excluded from the definition of “public utilities.” Thus, it is clear from the Preamble that as
regards subsection (E), any entity wishing to be excluded from the definition of public utility
must be a nonprofit. However, unless the word “cooperative™ is read as applying to each of the

I 4

terms “organization,” “association,” and “corporation” the result would be that a mere
cooperative organization (regardless of whether it was nonprofit or not) and a mere association
(regardless of whether it was nonprofit or not) would be considered nonutilities contrary to the
intent of the statute. Such, however, cannot be the case given the clear intent of the Legislature
that only “nonprofits” would be excluded from regulation under subsection (E).

References to cases in Tennessee establish that there are numerous “cooperative
corporations” in Tennessee, so the reading of subsection (E) putting the term “cooperative”

kI 14

before the term “organization,” “association,” and “corporation” is consistent with actual
corporate practice. See, e.g., Franklin Power & Light Company v. Middie Tennessee Electric
Membership Corporation, 434 S'W.2d 829, 830 (Tenn.1968) (“The complainant is a co-
operative, ndn—proﬁt electric membership corporation chartered in 1936™); and City of South
Fulton v. Hickman-Fulton Counties Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation, 976 S.W.2d 86
(Tenn.1998)(a printout from Secretary of State noting nonprofit status is attached as Exhibit F).
In addition, the case of Tiger Creek Bus Line v. Tiger Creeck Transp. Ass’n, Inc., 216

Sw.2d 348 (Tenn. 1948), dealt explicitly with the issue of whether a non-profit cooperative was

exempt from regulation pursuant to the exemption first promulgated under 1935 Public Acts,
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Chapter 42 for “any cooperative organization, association or corporation not organized or doing
business for profit.” In Tiger Creek, a bus line organized as a non-profit cooperative sought
exemption from regulation on the basis that it was not a “public utility.” The Court apparently
agreed that the entity in question was a non-profit cooperative, but then held that it was subject to
regulation under the Motor Carrier Act. The relevant point here, however, is that this case
demonstrates entities in Tennessee have been organized as non-profit cooperatives and have
sought exemption on that basis, not on the basis that they were mere non-profits.

Black’s Law Dictionary, Seventh Edition (1999), defines “cooperative corporation™ as
“la]n entity that has a corporate existence, but is primarily organized for the purpose of providing
services and profits to its members and not for corporate profit.” That is, it is an organization
composed of and responsible to the members it serves. As stated above, however, the Charter of
Berry’s Chapel, Exhibit G, states that it has no members. There are only three persons listed in
the Charter of Berry’s Chapel and two of them, the Rings, are the main creditors or, in effect, the
owners of the company: John Ring; Tyler L. Ring; and James B. Ford. The persons who would
ordinarily be “members” of the cooperative corporation are Berry’s Chapel’s captive customers
who have virtually no input into or control over Berry’s Chapel and cannot opt for another
service provider since their wastewater system has long operated in a state-sanctioned monopoly
environment. Accordingly, Berry’s Chapel does not meet the definition of a cooperative
corporation.

The emphasis on the term “cooperative” in interpreting the statute under which Berry’s
Chapel is seeking to avoid regulation by the TRA is absolutely critical. Because if a utility is a
true cooperative composed of the members it serves there is a built-in mechanism to ensure that

the persons served by the utility are not completely at its mercy. If, however, Berry’s Chapel’s
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position is accepted there is nothing to stop those persons who control and benefit by the utility
from charging its captive customers as much as those persons want.

The main purpose of Tenn. Code Ann. § 65-4-101(6)(E) is to exempt “cooperatives”
such as electric cooperatives from regulation by the TRA, a fact long recogmzed by the TRA.
The fact that Tenn. Code Ann. § 65-4-101(6)(E) exempts “cooperatives” from regulation by the
TRA is shown in Tenn. Code Ann. § 65-25-234, which governs electric cooperatives, and which
provides as follows:

(a) Every cooperative has the power and is authorized, acting
through its board of directors, to acquire, construct, own, improve,
operate, lease, maintain, sell, mortgage, pledge or otherwise
dispose of any system, plant or equipment for the provision of
telephone, telegraph, telecommunications services, or any other
like system, plant, or equipment within and/or without the service
arca of such cooperative in compliance with title 65, chapters 4 and
5, and all other applicable state and federal laws, rules and
regulations. Notwithstanding § 65-4-101(6)(E) or any other
provision of this code or of any private act to the contrary, to the
extent that any cooperative provides any of the services authorized
by this section, such cooperative shall be subjeci to regulation by
the Tennessee regulatory authority in the same manner and to the
same extent as other certificated providers of telecommunications
services, including, without limitation, rules or orders governing
anti-competitive practices, and shall be considered as and have the
duties of a public utility, as defined in § 65-4-101, but only to the
extent necessary to effect such regulation and only with respect to
such cooperative's provision of telephone, telegraph and
communication services. (Emphasis added.)

Thus, as long as “cooperatives” (and, significantly, there is no reference to mere “nonprofits” in
this Code section) operate in the utility sphere in which they originated, they will be exempt
from TRA regulation pursuant to Tenn. Code Ann. § 65-25-234.

The Consumer Advocate is aware that in 2008 attorneys for the TRA wrote letters
allowing a homeowners association which operated a wastewater system to avoid regulation by

the TRA on the ground that it was a nonprofit corporation. A copy of these letters is attached as
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Collective Exhibit A (A-1, A-2, A-3). This matter, which involved the Fairfield Glade
Homeowners Association, was not a contested case, nor did it involve public deliberations by the
TRA directors. Furthermore, the Consumer Advocate was unaware at the time of this position
taken by attoméys for the TRA. It should also be noted that the Fairficld Glade matter is
distinguishable from the present case in that there were actual members of the association as
opposed to Berry’s Chapel which has no members, and the association was a 501(C)(4)
nonprofit. See Exhibit A-1. Therefore, based on the analysis previously set forth herein, the
Consumer Advocate believes the position reflected in the letters is mistaken and requests that the
TRA Directors give that position no precedential weight..

In conclusion, Berry’s Chapel has not demonstrated that it is the kind of nonprofit that is
to be excluded from the defimtion of “public utility.” Accordingly, Berry’s Chapel is still a
public utility and, therefore, subject to the regulation of the TRA.

B. BERRY’S CHAPEL HAS SHOWN NO PROOF THAT IT IS A
NONPROFIT CORPORATION OTHER THAN THE MERE
LANGUAGE OF ITS CHARTER

In a letter dated September 17, 2010, from Donald L.. Scholes announcing the merger of
Lynwood into Berry’s Chapel, Mr. Scholes states that Berry’s Chapel is a “nonprofit
corporation” and a “nonutility.” A copy of this letter is attached as Exhibit C. The letter,
however, provides no proof of Berry’s Chapel’s “nonprofit” status other than a Charter of
Berry’s Chapel Utility, Inc.

Since that letter was sent to the TRA, Berry’s Chapel has had ample opportunity to
provide the TRA with some evidence indicating that it is, in fact, a nonprofit corporation.
Examples of evidence indicating nonprofit status include such items as: proof of 501(c)(3) status

under the federal Internal Revenue Code (Exhibit H); proof of tax exempt status with the State
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of Tennessee (Exhibit I); and proof that Berry’s Chapel uses the procedures for nonprofit
corporations set forth in Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) (Exhibit J).
While none of these items is necessarily conclusively determinative of nonprofit status, and all
can certainly be looked at by this agency to see if they are well-founded and still valid, they
would at least give the agency something more to look at than the mere charter submitted by
Berry’s Chapel.

Berry’s Chapel, however, apparently believes that all it needs to do to go from a being
utility regulated by the TRA to a being an unregulated utility is to go to the Secretary of State
and file papers under the Nonprofit Corporation Act. Such a situation cannot possibly have been
the intent of the Legislature when it set forth the definition of public utility in Tenn. Code Ann. §
65-4-101(6)(E).

In addition, while the absence of filing proof of how or whether a company intends to
forgo or otherwise distribute profits is not necessarily dispositive of nonprofit status, Berry’s
Chapel has still not provided any proof of how or whether it intends to forgo or otherwise
distribute the profits it would have made as a company regulated by the TRA and authorized to
earn a just and reasonable rate of return, i.e., a profit.

Under Tennessee law, a corporation’s separate identity may be ignored when that
separate identity is shown to be a sham or where necessary to accomplish justice. Oceanics
Schools, Inc. v. Barbour, 112 S'W. 3d 135, 140 (Tenn.Ct.App.2003). In the present case, it is
necessary to disregard the alleged nonprofit status of Berry’s Chapel in order to accomplish the
just end of providing the residents of Cottonwood who are served by Berry’s Chapel with the

protections of properly regulated utility service intended under Tennessee law.
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Furthermore, the Tennessee Supreme Court has held that “a regulatory body, such as the
Public Service Commission, is not bound in all instances to observe corporate charters and the
form of corporate structure or stock ownership in regulating a public utility, and in fixing fair
and reasonable rates for its operations.” BellSouth Advertising & Publishing Corporation v.
Tennessee Regulatory Commission, 79 §.W.3d 506, 516 (Tenn.2002), citing Tennessee Public
Service Commissfon v. Nashville Gas Co., 551 S.W.2d 315, 319-20 (Tenn.1977). BellSouth
Advertising involved a petition for a declaratory order by AT&T in which AT&T requested the
TRA to convene a contested case and make BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc. (“BellSouth”),
and BellSouth Advertising & Publishing Corporation (“BAPCQO”) parties. BellSouth was a
public utility regulated by the TRA and BAPCO was an unregulated affiliate. BellSouth
Advertising & Publishing at 509-10. In holding that the TRA did in fact have jurisdiction over
BAPCO, an unregulated affiliate, the Tennessee Supreme Court again cited Nashville Gas,
stating that holding otherwise would allow the regulated utility, “through the device of holding
companies, spinoffs, or other corporate arrangements, to place the cream of a utility market in
the hands of a parent or an affiliate, and to strip the marketing area of a regulated subsidiary of
its most profitable customers.”
Simiiarly, the TRA should not allow those persons who control Berry’s Chapel to take
the “cream” from the Cottonwood customers and “strip” the TRA of its regulatory jurisdiction.
Accordingly, the TRA should find that Berry’s Chapel Utility, Inc. f/k/a Lynwood Utility

Company is a public utility under Tennessee law and subject to regulation by the TRA.
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III. CUSTOMERS OF BERRY’S CHAPEL UTILITY, INC,, F/K/A LYNWOOD
UTILITY COMPANY ARE ENTITLED TO A REFUND OF ANY
INCREASE IN RATES THAT WAS PUT INTO PLACE THROUGH THE
RATE CAHANGE NOTICE, WHICH CALLED FOR A $20 PER MONTH
INCREASE EFFECTIVE NOVEMBER 1, 2010

Since Berry’s Chapel is a public utility under Tennessee law and subject to TRA
regulation, any rate increases it imposes are subject to approval of the TRA. Berry’s Chapel,
however, did not obtain such approval before imposing a $20 per month rate increase on its
customers. Accordingly, the rate increase was improper and the money obtained from the

improper increase should be returned to the customers.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,

\Vance L fyuome]

VANCE L. BROEMEL (BPR #11421)
MARY LEIGH WHITE (BPR #26659)
Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General

Consumer Advocate and Protection Division
P.O. Box 20207

Nashville, Tennessee 37202-0207
(615)741-8733

Dated: February 25, 2011.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that a true and correct copy of the foregoing Initial Brief was served via

U.S. Mail or electronic mail upon:

Donald L. Scholes

Branstetter, Stranch & Jennings, PLLC
227 Second Avenue North, Fourth Floor
Nashville, TN 37201-1631

Vojin Janjic (vojin.janjic@tn.gov)
Department of Environment and Conservation
401 Church Street

L&C Annex 6™ Floor

Nashville, Tennessee 37243

Gary Davis (gary.davis@tn.gov)

Wade Murphy (wade.murphy@tn.gov)
Department of Environment and Conservation
401 Church Street

L&C Annex 6™ Floor

Nashville, Tennessee 37243

This the 25th day of February, 2011.
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BRANSTETTER, STRANCH & JENNINGS, PLLC

ATTORNEYS AT LAW
227 SECOND AVENUE NORTH

CECIL D. BRANMSTETTER, 3R. . FOURTH FLOOR. TELEPHONE
C. DEWEY BRANSTETTER, IR, NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE 37201-1G31 (515) 254-880}
RAMDALL C. FERGUSON ' .

R. JAN JENNINGS® FACSIMILE
JOE P. LENISKI, JR. (6I5) 250-3037
DONALD L. SCHOLES. April 16, 2008

JAMES G. STRANCH, 11l
I. CERARD STRANCH, IV
JANE B. STRANCH

B. DENARD MICKENS
J. D. STUART
MICH AEL ). WALL

FALSO ADMITTED IR GA

I. Richard Collier, General Counsel

Shilina Chatterjee Brown, Legal Counsel -
Tennessee Regulatory Authority

460 James Robertson Patkway

Nashville, TN 37243-0505

Re:  Inquiry regarding Wastewater Services Provided by
Fairfield Glade Community Club

Dear Mr. Collier and Ms. Brown:

1 am writing you in follow up to your letter to Gerry Miller of March 28, 2008, at the
request of the Fairfield Glade Community Club. In that letter, you express an opinion that
Fairfield Glade Community Club would not exempt from regulation as a public utility by the
Tennessee Regulatory Authority (TRA) under T.C.A. § 65-4-101(7), as a “nonprofit
homeowners association,” in the event it contracts to provide wastewater treatment service
beyond the property owners within the Fairfield Glade residential community.

Fairfield Glade Community Club is a Tennessee not-for-profit corporation and has been
recognized as a tax-exernpt not-for-profit 501(c)(4) corporation by the IRS. Thave enclosed a
copy of its corporate charter which states that it is a not-for-profit corporation. Under T.C.A. §
65-4-101(6)(E), “[alny cooperative organization, association or corporation not organized or
doing business for profit” is a nonutility and is not subject to regulation by the TRA as a public
utility. Because Fairfield Glade Compmunity Club is a not-for-profit corporation, it clearly fits
within this exemption and is not subject to regulation by the TRA.

. Unlike the exemption from TRA regulation for a homeowners association set forth in
T.C.A. § 65-4-101(7), the exemption for a not-for-profit corporation under T.C.A. § 65-4-
101(6)(E) does not limit the exemption from regulation to a specific subdivision or geographic
territory. Therefore, to the extent the wastewater system of Fairfield Glade Community Club
provides sewer service to a commercial or residential customer outside of the Fairfield Glade
residential community does not affect its classification as a nonutility as determined by the
Temnnessee legislature. :
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I. Richard Collier
Shilina Chatterjee Brown
April 11,2008

Page 2 ‘

4

_ T hope this letter explains why the sewer system of Fairfield Glad Community Club is not
subject to economic regulation by the TRA. As a community wastewater system, Fairfield Glade
Community Club js subject to all statutes and regulations of the Tennessee Department of
Environment and Conservation for commmnity wastewater systems.

Because Fairfield Glad Community Club is a nonutility under T.C.A. § 65-4-101(6)(E), 1
have advised it that it does not need to file an application for a certificate of public convenience

and necessity. Iam sending a copy of this letter to Darlene Standley since she received a copy of
your March 28, 2008, letter to Gerry Miller.

1 wanted to make you aware that Gerry Miller is not an authorized representative of

Fairfield Glade Community Club. He is neither a board member nor officer of Fairfield Glade

Community Club. He has not been authorized to speak on behalf of Fairfreld Glade Commumity
Club.

If you would like to discuss this issue further, please do not hesitate to contact me.

Sincerely yours,

Dol § bl

DONALD L. SCHOLES

Enclosure ‘ . _
c: Harvey Hoffman (via fax and first class mail)
Darlene Standley

{004033/06391/00124160.D0C / Ver.1}
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CerTIFICATE -

The undersigned, as Secretary of State o f the State of Tennesses, hereby
certifies that the attuched document was veceived for filing on behalf
of FATRFIELD GLADE COMMUNITY, CLUB

. (¥Name of Carperation) i
was duly executed in accordance with the Tennessee General Corporation Art,

was found to conform to law and wes-filed by the undersigned, as Secretary of
State, on the date noted on the decument.

THEREFORE, the undersigned, as Secretary of State, and by virtue of .
the authority vested in him by low, hereby issues this certificate and attaches
hereto the document which was duly filed on __MAY FOURTH , 1810

S;crltur],r of State
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FAIRFIEID GLADE COMMUNITY Ccrpm

The undersigpeq natural pexrson,

hav.'i.ng- Capacity to epp-
tract and acting az ths incorporator

of a Corporation under

the Tenneames Geénera] Corporation Rot,

adopts tha follawing
charter for such Corpoxation:

1. The name of the FOxporation i

Falrcfield glaaa Community vius,

- 4. The Corporation iz gor for profite,

5, The Purposes For which the corporation is
’ ares i ’

Crgani zeq
o~ To. fonatruct, maintain ang Cperate: rpa—
= reational facdlities, including marinas;
- golf courses, tennls cqurty, ¢

. Swimning Pools, parks, Playgrounds
= COMOR armas apg like r
-

=

acilities ¢
benefit or its me

or the-
2rs, and to de all ather
ingsg incidental or desirahble in Connectign
therewi th - .
Z i
= §. This corporation is ng have members,
) 7- The Qirectpcs of the COrporation shaly bhe divideg
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) at different times,
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BRANSTETTER, STRANCH & JENNINGS, PLLC
ATTORNEYS AT LAW
227 SECOND AVENUE NORTH

CECIL D. BRANSTETTER, 5R. . FOURTH FLOQR TELEPHONE
C. DEWEY BRANSTETTER, JR. NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE 37201-[163] (E15) 254-8B01
RANDALL C. FERGUSON

R. JAN JENNINGS* FACSIMILE
JOE B LENISK], JR. {6l5) 250-3937

DOMALD L. SCHCLES I\me 24. 2008
JAMES G. STRANCH, Il 1

J. GERARD STRANCH, IY¥

JANME B. STRANCH

———

B. DENARD MICKEN3
J. D, STUART
MICHAEL 1. WALL

=ALSO ADMITTED IN CA

Via Hand Delivery
1. Richard Collier, General Counsel
Tennessee Regulatory Authority
460 James Robertson Parkway
Nashville, TN 37243-0505

Re: Inquiry regarding Sewer Services Provided by
Fairfield Glade Community Club

Dear Richard:

I am writing you in follow up to our telephone conversation a couple of weeks ago
regarding the position taken by me in my April 16, 2008, letter to you in which I asserted that the
sewer collection and treatment system operated by Fairfield Glade Community Club is not
subject to regulation by the Tennessee Regulatory Authority (TRA). I asserted that Fairfield
Glade Community Club is a nonutility under T.C.A. § 65-4-101(6)(E) because it is a Tennessee
nonprofit corporation. :

You did not question whether a Tennessee nonprofit corporation is exerpt from
regulation by the TRA under T.C.A. § 65-4-101(8)(E). Instead you raised an issue about
whether Fairfield Glade Community Club could actually provide sewer service under its charter
as a Tennessee nonprofit corporatiori. Under its corporate charter Fairfield Glade Community
Club was organized:

To construct, maintain and operate recreational facilities, including marinas, golf
courses, tennis courts, club houses, swimming pools, parks, playgrounds, streets,
common areas and like facilities for the benefit of its members, and to do all
other things incidental or desirable in connection therewith.

Under T.C.A. § 48-53-101 (copy enclosed), a Tennessee nonprofit corporation “has the
purpose of engaging in any lawful business unless a more limited purpose is set forth in the
charter.” The legislature used very broad language when it described the type of businesses in
which a nonprofit corporation can engage. A Tennessee nonprofit corporation can engage in any
lawful business. The provision of sewer service is a lawful business. Therefore, Fairfield Glade
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J. Richard Collier
Tune 24, 2008
Page 2

Community Club has the right and power to provide sewer service as a Tennessee noﬁpmﬁt
corporation. '

Fairfield Glade Community Club was created before the legislature adopted the
Tennessee Nonprofit Corporation Act in 1987. Paragraph 4 of its charter provides that the
corporation is a not-for-profit corporation. Fairfield Glade Community Club became subject to
the Tennessee Nonprofit Corporation Act pursuant to T.C.A. §§ 48-68-101(a) and 48-68-104
(4)(copies enclosed). Together these statutes operated to subject Fairfield Glade Community
Chub to the Tennessee Nonprofit Corporation Act and to designate Fairfield Glade Community
Club as a mutual benefit corporation. '

The sewer collection and treatment system operated by Fairfield Glade Community Club
has been and is operated for the benefit of its members. The construction and operation of a
sewer system certainly falls within the scope of “like facilities for the benefit of its members™ as
used in the purpose provision of its charter. The purpose provision of its charter permits
Fairfield Glade Community Club “to do all other things incidental or desirable in connection™
with its purposes, The supermarket to which Fairfield Glade Community Club is providing
sewer service is an integral part of the Fairfield Glade Commumity. The supermarket is to be
located on real property which is contiguous to the Fairfield Glade Community.

The extension and expansion of sewer service to any person or business who ismota
member of the Fairfield Glade Community Club benefits the corporation’s sewer system and is
incidental and desirable in connection with the operation of its sewer system. Economically
feasible expansions of the corporation’s sewer system to obtain new customers increase the
system’s revenues and enhance the financial operation of the sewer system. Increased revenues
from expansions of the sewer system provide a benefit to all the corporation’s members who are
served by the sewer system.

I hope that this letter has adequately addresses your concern about whether Fairfield
Glade Community Club has the power to operate a sewer system as a Tennessee nonprofit
corporation. A Tennessee nonprofit corporation can engage in any lawful business, including
providing sewer service. No question should exist that the operation of the sewer system by the
Fairfield Glade Community Club benefits its members and that service to persons o businesses
outside the development is incidental and desirable to its members. To the extent any question
exists about whether Fairfield Glade Community Club has the power to own and operate a sewer
syster is a corporate issue not a regulatory issue and is outside the scope of the TRA’s authority
granted to it by the legislature.
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J. Richard Collier
Tune 24, 2008 ' »
» Page?2 '

-

If I can provide any further information to yon for you ta respense to my April 16, 2008,
letter, please let me know. '

Sincerely yaurs,

Dt & Jebde

DONALD L. SCHOLES

Enclosures
c Harvey Hoffran
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LEXSTAT TCA 48-53-101

TENNESSEE CODE ANNOTATED
© 2008 by The State of Teonessee
All rights reserved

4 CURRENT THROUGH THE 2007 REGULAR SESSION ***
ek ANNOTATIONS CURRENT THROUGH MARCH 25, 2008 ***

Title 48 Corporations And Associations
Nonprofit Corparations
Chapter 53 Purposes and Powers

Go to the Tennessee Code Archive Direciory

Tenn. Cade Ann. § 48-53-101 (2008)

48-53-101. Purposes.
(a) Every corparation incorporated under chapters 51-68 of this title has the purpose of engaging in amy lawful busi-
ness unless a more limited purpose is set forth in the charter.

) A corporatioﬂ engaging in an activity that is subject to regulation under another statute of this state may incor-
porate under chapters 51-68 of this title only if permitted by, and subject to all lirnitations of, the other statute.

HISTORY: [Acts 1987, ch. 242, § 3.01.]

NOTES:
Cross-References. . .

.Application of nonprofit corporation law, title 48, chs. 51-67, to corporations existing on January 1, 1988, § 48-68-
101.

Business corporations, purposes and pawers, title 43, ch. 13,
Section to Section References. ;

Chapters 51-68 are referred to in §§ 4-52-105, 37-10-209, 45-8-204, 48-51-101 — 48-51-104, 48-51-201, 48-51-
202, 48-51-301 — 48-51-304, 48-51-306, 4851401, 48-51-402, 48-51-601, 48-51-701, 48-52-102, 48-52-104, 48-32-
105, 48-53-101, 48-53-102, 48-54-101, 48-54-103, 48-56-101, 48-56-302, 43-57-104, 48-57-106, 48-57-203, 48-57-
204, 48-58-101, 48-58-202, 48-58-204, 48-58-205, 48-58-302, 48-58-304, 48-58-509, 48-58-601, 48-60-102, 48-60-
103, 48-60-202, 48-60-203,48-60-302, 48-61-102, 48-61-103, 48-62-102, 48-64-109, 48-64-201, 48-64-205, 48-65-
105, 48-66-102, 48-67-101, 43-67-102, 48-68-101 — 48-68-104, 48-101-702, 48-101-802, 43-101-805, 48-101-806, 49-
4.105, 49-9-1301, 65-25-201, 65-25-225, 66-27-102, 67-5-212, 69-6-148.

Chapters 51-67 arc referred to in §§ 48-68-101 - 48-68-104,
This chapter is referred to in § 65-23-205.

This section is referred ta in § 48-54-101.

Comparative Legislation.

*Nonprofit corporations, purposes, powers:
Ala. Code § 10-3A-20 et seq,
Arlk. Code § 4-28-205.
Ga. 0.C.GA. § 14-3-301 et seq.
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1 of 2 DOCUMENTS

TENNESSEE CODE ANNOTATED
© 2008 by The State of Tennessee
All rights reserved

*++ CIJRRENT THROUGH THE 2007 REGULAR SESSION ***
w+x ANNOTATIONS CURRENT THRGUGH MARCH 25, 2008 ***

Title 48 Corporations And Associations
Nonprafit Corporations
Chapter 68 Transition Provisions
Part 1 —General Provisions

Go to the Tennessee Code Archive Directory
Tenn. Code dnn, § 48-63-101 (2008)
48-68-101. Application to existing domestic corporations.

(a) Chapters 51-68 of this title apply to all domestic nonprofit corporations in existence on January 1, 1988, that were
incorporated under any general statute of this state providing for incorporation of nonprofit corporations. The provisions
of chapters 51-68 of this title shall, hawever, not apply to corporations, the charters of which were granted by special
legislative act prior to the adoption of the Constitution of 1870. Such corporations may amend their charters for any
purposes consistent with chapters 51-68 of this tifle and in the manner set out in chapters 51-68 of this title. Such
amendments and the particular rights, obligations, duties, and privileges conferred or imposed by the amendments shall
be subject to § 48-31-102. .

{b) The provisions of § 4§-32-1 02(a) do not apply to the charter of any corporation existing on January I, 1528,
unless and until a charter amendment is filed. The first charter amendment filed by a corporation following January 1,
1988, shall include eny information required by § 48-52-102(a) ot otherwise on file in the office of the secretary of
state, cxcept that the name and address of each incorporator may be excluded, and the information required by § 48-52-
102(a)(4) shall be provided for the curreat registered agent and registered office, Until such a charter amendment is
filed, a corporation's registered agent shall be that agent specified in the office of the secretary of state on Jarmary 1,
1988, and such corporation's registered office sball be deemed to be that office specified as the address of its registered

apent unless such agent or office is changed thereafter pursuant to the provisions of chapter 55 or 65 of this title.

(c) The provisions of chapters 51-68 of this title shall not apply to municipal corporations; provided, that this chap-
ter shall apply to any public governmental corporation or authority created by or established under the authority of a
municipal corporation or county or both for the performance of public functions, inchiding industrial development '
boards created pursuant to the provisions of title 7. .

(d) The provisions of Acts 1968, ch. 523, § 1 (3.06 3.11), as zmended, in effect on January 1, 1988, shall apply to
any claims, applications, or proceedings for indemnification, or any corporate action autherizing indemnification, made
or begun before January 1, 1988. '

(&) The provisions of Acts 1968, ch. 523, § 1(12.01 - 12.12, 12.14) and Acts 1969, ch. 66, §§ 1 and 2, in effect on
January 1, 1988, shall apply to any dissolution as to which 2 statement of intent to dissolve has been filed or a court
proceeding filed before January 1, 1988.

HISTORY: [Acts 1987, ch. 242, § 18.01.]

NOTES:
Cross-References.

Business corporations, transition provisions, title 48, ch. 27.
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Title 48 Corporations And Associations
Nonprofit Corporations
Chapter 68 Transition Provisions
Part 1 —General Provisions

Go to the Tennessee Code Archive Directory
Tenn, Code Ann. § 48-68-104 (2008)

48-68-104, Public benefit and mutual benefit corporations.

On Jarmary 1, 1988, each domestic corporati:::n existing on January 1, 1988, that is or becomes subject to chapters 51-
68 of this title, shall be designated as a public benefitora mutnal benefit corporation as follows:

(1) Any corporation designated by statute as a public benefit corporation or 2 mutual benefit corporation is the
type of corporation designated by statute;

(2) Any corporation which does not come within subdivision (1) but which is recognized as excmpt under §
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code ( 26 U.S.C. § 501(c)(3)), or any successor section, is a public benefit
corporation;

(3) Any corporation which doés not come within subdivision (1) or (2), but which is organized for a public or
charitable purpose and which upon dissolution must distribute its assets to the United States, a state or a peson which is
recognized as exempt under § 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, or any successor section, is a public benefit

corporation; and
(4) Any corporation which does not come within subdivision (1), (2) ar (3) is a mutual benefit corporation.

BISTORY: [Acts 1987, ch. 242, § 18.06.]

NOTES:
Section to Section References.
This section is referred to in § 48-51-201.
Texthooks.
Termessee Forms (Robinson, Ramsey and Harwell), No, 5-1401.
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TENNESSEE REGULATORY AUTHORITY

Eddfe Roberson, Chairman

Tre Hargett, Director 461 Tares Robertson Parkway
Sara Kyle, Director Nashville, Tennessee 37243-0505
Ron Jones, Director

June 26, 2008
VIA FACSIMILE AND U.8. MAIL

Donald L. Scholes, Esq.

Branstetter, Stranch & Jennings, PLLC
227 Second Avenue North, Fourth Floor
Nashvyille, TN 37201-1631

Re: Inquiry Regarding Sewer Services Provided by
Fairfield Glade Community Club

Dear Don:

Thank you for your letters of April 16, 2008 and June 24, 2008 and the discussion we
have had during the time period between those two letters. Your letter of June 24, 2008 is
especially helpful in addressing the rem#ining concemns regarding thie pperation of the
wastewater tréatment system by Faitfield Glade Community Club, THe docuriéntation provided
with your letters defnonstrates that Fairfield Glade Commumty Club is a nenprofit gorporation,
not merely a nonprofit homeowners assgciatien, a premise which was relied upon in our letter of
March 28, 2008 to Gerry Miller. Once we established that Fairfield Glade Communmity Club was
operating as a nonprofit corporation, the issne became whether Fairfield Glade Community Club
would be acting beyond the authority in its charter as a nonprofit corporation: by performing 2
utility function. Your letter of June 24, 2008 points out that a nonprofit corporation can engage
in “any lawful business unless a more limited purpose is set forth in the charter.® (Tenn. Code
Ann. § 48-53-107). You have interpreted the language in the charter of Fairfield Glade
Cotnmunity Club as broad enough to include the provision of wastewater treatment service to the
supermarket in question because the supermarket “is an integral part of the Fairfield Glade
Commumty“ and “is to be located on real property which is contiguous to the Fairfield Glade
Community.”

The pusition set forth in out March 28, 2008 letter was not based on the fact that Fairfield

Glade Community Club was operating the wastewater treatment system as a nonprofit

corporation. In our prior review, as requested by & resident of Fairfield Glade, we exarained only

Tenn. Code Ann. § 65-4-101(7) and not Tenn. Code Ann. § 65-4-101(6)(E} in reaching our the

_conglusion that a Certificate of Convenience: and Necessity (“CCN”) was required for the
operation of the wastewater treatment systeimn.

Telephene (615) 741-2904, Toll-Free 1-800-342-8339, Facsimile {615) 741-5015
www.staté. th ns/tra




Donald L. Scholes, Esq.
Juhe 25, 2008
Page 2

Based on thé information you have provided in your April 16, 2008 and June 24, 2008
letters and through our discussion of this matter, the Legal Divisicn of the Tennessee Regulatory
Authority is of the opinion that because Fairfield Glade Community Club is a nonprofit
corporaﬁon, a CCN is not required for its operation of a wastewater treatment system as you
have described. The question of whether Fairfield Glade Community Club is operating beyond
the scape of its nonprofit corporation charter is sufficiently addressed in your letter of Jung 24,
2008. ' :

Should you have any questions regarding this letter, please do not hesitate to contact me.

Very truly yours,

Rrodunel Colliin

1. Richard Collier
General Counsel

C: Shilina Chatterjee, Counsel
Darlene Standley, Chief, Utilities Division
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H
Only the Westlaw citation is currently available.

SEE COURT OF APPEALS RULES 11 AND 12

Court of Appeals of Tennessee.
BELLSOUTH BSE, INC.,
v,
TENNESSEE REGULATORY AUTHORITY.

No. M2000-00868-COA-R12-CV.
Feb. 18, 2003.

Tennessee Regulatory Authority, Na. 98-00879.
Guilford F. Thornton, Jr., Nashville, Tennessee, for
the appellant, Bellsouth BSE, Inc.

Henry Walker, Nashville, Tennessee, for the ap-
peliees, MCI WorldCom, Southeastern Competitive
Carriers Association, Time Wamer Communica-
tions of the South, L.P., and U.S. LEC of Tenness-~
ee, Inc. .

J. Richard Collier, Jonathan N. Wike, Nashville,
Tennessee, for the appellee, Tennessee Regulatory
Authority.

PATRICIA J. COTTRELL, ., delivered the opin-
ion of the court, in which BEN H. CANTRELL,
P.I,M.S,, and WILLIAM C. KOCH, JR., joined.

OPINION
PATRICIA J. COTTRELL, I.

*1 BellSouth BSE, Inc. appeals from an order
of the Tennessee Regulatory Authority denying
BSE's application for certification as a competing
local exchange company in those areas where
BSE's affiliate, BellSouth Telecommunications, is
- the incumbent provider of local services. Because
the TRA denied the petition on the basis that such
certification may be inconsistent with the goal of
fostering competition and could be potentially ad-
verse to competition, as opposed to establishing

- conditions or requirements designed o ensure that

anticompetitive practices did not occur, we vacate
the order as beyond the agency's statutory authority.

Before the state legislature made significarit
changes .in the law goveming telecommunications
services in 1995, local telephone service was
provided to consumers in a locality by one com-
pany under a regulated monopoly system. The ad-
option of the Tennessee Telecommunication Act,
1995 Tenn. Pub. Acts 408 (effective June 6, 1995),
abolished monopolistic contral of local telephone
service and opened that market to competition. It
also changed the way in which providers of such
services, and the rates they charge, were regulated.

As part of the hnplementation of local service
competition, a company which was providing basic
local exchange telephone service, as defined by
statute, prior to June 6, 1995, was designated as the
“incumbent local exchange telephone company,” or
ILEC. Tenn.Code Amn. § 65-4-101(d). New
entrants mto the market after June 6, 1995, were
nown as “competing telecommunications service
providers” or CLECs. Tenn.Code
65-4-101(e). To become a CLEC, a provider is re-
quired to be certificated pursuant to Tenn.Code
Ann. § 65-4-201, which provides in pertinent part;

After notice to the incumbent ocal exchange
telephone company and other interested parties and
following a hearing, the authority shall grant a cer-
tificate of convenience and necessity to a compet-
ing telecommunications service provider if after ex-
amining the evidence presented, the authority. finds:

(1) The applicant has demonstrated that it will
adhere to all applicable authority policies, rules and
orders; and

(2) The applicant possesses sufficient mana-

' gerial, financia]l and technical abilities to provide

the applied for services.

Tenn.Code Ann. § 65-4-201(c). .

©2011 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.
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BellSouth BSE, Inc. applied for a certificate as
a CLEC {(First Application) o provide local tele-
phone services on a statewide basis. BellSouth
BSE, Inc. is a wholly owned subsidiary of Bell-
Souwth BSE Corporation which, in turn, is a whoily
owned subsidiary of BellSouth Corporation. Bell-
South Telecommunications (“BST”), another
wholly-owned subsidiary of BellSouth Corporation,
is the incumbent local exchange provider for por-
tions of Tennessee. The Tennessee Regulatory Au-
thority (“TRA™) granted BellSouth BSE, Inc.
(“BSE”) authority to provide local services only in
those territories where its affiliate, BST, was not
the ILEC. The TRA concluded that the potential for
anticompetitive harm outweighed the benefits to
consumers if BSE were permitted to operate as a
CLEC in those areas where its affiliate was provid~
ing local service as the ILEC,

*2 BSE, however, was invited to re-open the
issue if at any time in the future it believed it could
“carry the public interest burden herein raised and
alleviate the Agency's concerns with regard to
Tenn.Code Ann. § 65-5-208(c)....” BellSouth BSE,
Inc. did just that and sought expanded authority to
operate as a CLEC (Second Application). Compet-
itors were allowed to intervene, ™! and a hearng
was held. The TRA denied the petition. It is that
denial which is the subject of this appeal.

FN1. The intervenors who are also ap-
pellees in this appeal are MC! WorldCom,
Inc., Southeastern Competitive Carriers
Association, Time Warner Telecom of the
Mid-South, L.P., and U.S. LEC of Ten-
nessee, Inc.

BSE did not propose to offer any services that
could not be offered by BST. BSE intended to
provide “any and all services that are or may be
provided by a local exchange carrier.”

I. The TRA's Concems

In denyimg BSE's application for a certificate of
convenience and necessity to provide expanded in-
trastate telecommunications services, the TRA re-

counted that the Second Application proceedings
were held to provide BSE the opportunity to allevi-
ate the concerns which led to the TRA's order on
the First Application. Those concemns are related to
the potential for anticompetitive behavior and the
potential for BST to avoid controls imposed upon it
because of its status as an ILEC, as well as its

status under federal law as a “Bell operating com-

pany,” through the use of an affiliate. The TRA ex-
pressed several specific areas of concern, which can
only be examined in the context of the regulatory
framework, both state and federal, for telecommu-
nication services providers.

By enaciment of the Telecommunications Act
of 1996, Congress made fundamental changes in
local telephone markets by, among other things,
prohibiting states from enforcing laws that impede
competition. In order to facilitate the transition
from regulated monopolies to true competition, the
Act imposes upon the incumbent provider or ILEC,
who formerly enjoyed the monopoly, a number of
duties intended to facilitate entry into the market by
other, formerly excluded, providers. AT & T Corp.
v. ITowa Utils. Bd, 525 U.S. 366, 371-72, 119 S.Ct.
721, 726-27 (1999). As more specifically ex- plained:

Until the passage of the 1996 Act, state utility
commissions continued to regulate local telephone
service as a natural monopoly. Commissions typic-
ally granted a single company, called a local ex-
change carrier (LEC), an exclusive franchise to
provide telephone service in a designated area. Un-
der this protection the LEC built a local network-
made up of elements such as loops (wires),
switches, and transmission facilities-that connects
telephones in the local calling area to each other
and to long distance carriers.

The 1996 Act brought sweeping changes. It
ended the monopolies that incumbent LECs held
over local telephone service by preempting state
laws that had protected the LECs from competition.
See 47 US.C. § 253. Congress recognized,
however, that removing the legal barriers to entry

© 2011 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.
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would not be enough, given current technology, to
make local telephone markets competitive. In other
words, it is economijcally impractical to duplicate
the incumbent LEC's local network infrastructure.
To get around this problem, the Act allows poten-
tial competitors, called competing local exchange
carriers (CLECs), to enter the local telephone mar-
ket by using the incumbent. LEC's network or ser-
vices in three ways. First, a CLEC may build its
own network and “interconnect” with the network
of an incumbent. See id § 251(c)(2). Second, a
CLEC may lease elements (loops, switches, etc.) of
an incumbent LEC's metwork “on an unbundled
basis.” See id § 251(c)(3). Third, a CLEC may buy
an incumbent LEC's retail services “at wholesale
rates” and then resell those services to customers
under its (the CLEC's) brand. See id § 251(c)(4).

*3 GTE South, Inc. v. Morrison, 199 F.3d 733,

737 (4th Cir.1999).

This access is accomplished through an inter-
connection agreement between the ILEC and a
CLEC. In addition, an ILEC is required to provide
access to its network elements and various services
and to provide dialing parity to competing pro-
viders on a nondiscriminatory basis. 47 U.S.C. §§
251(c)(3) & 251(b)(3). The FCC has promulgated
rules and policies implementing those provisions
“to require incumbent LECs to provide competition
with access to the incumbent LECs' networks suffi-
cient to create a competitively neutral playing field
for new entrants....” In Re Implementation of the
Telecommunications Act of 1996, Third Report and
Order in CC Docket No. 96-115, Second Order on
Reconsideration of the Second Report and Order in
CC Docket No. 96-98, and Notice of Proposed
Rulemaking in CC Docket No. 99-273, at 6 (rel.
Sept. 9, 1999).

Under state law, all providers are required to
provide non-discriminatory intérconnection to their
public networks under reasonable terms and condi-
tions, and all are to be provided “desired features,
functions and services promptly, and on an un-
bundled and non-discriminatory basis from all other
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telecommunications providers.” Tenn.Code Anm. §
65-4-124(a). '

- At the state level, incumbent providers are also
governed by specific provisions, again designed to
facilitate ‘entry into the local telephone service mar-
ket by competitors. For example, rates to be
charged by incumbent providers opting to be under
a price regulation plan are subject to a requirement
that such rates be just and reasonable, defined as
“affordable”, as determined by the TRA. Tenn
Code Ann. § 65-5-209(a). These rates are subject to
limitations, including safeguards to ensure univer-
sal service and nondiscrimination among custom-
ers. Tenn.Code Ann. § 65-5-209(b).

After the initial qualification of a price regula-
tion plan, an ILEC's ability to increase rates is sub-
ject to limitations. Essentially, a price regulated

ILEC can adjust rates for specific sérvices subject -

to an overall maximum annual adjustment to ag-
gregate revenues for such services. Tenn.Code Ann.
§ 65-5-209(e). However, rates for basic services
cannot be increased for four (4) years afier imple-
mentation of the plan, and annual increases for ba-
sic services are thereafter limited to annual rates of
inflation. Tenn.Code Ann. § 65-5-209(f).

ILECs not under a price regulation plan are
subject to traditional rate regulation. ILECs have
unique, carrier-of-last-resort obligations and uni-
versal service obligations. Tenn.Code Amn. §
65-5-207(c)(2) & (8). ILECs, upon request, are re-
quired to provide interconnection services to
CLECs. Tenn.Code Ann. § 65-5-209(d). None of
these burdens apply to CLECs.

Another requirement for ILECs which was the
subject of argument herein and part of the TRA's
reasoning is that found in Tenn.Code Ann. §
65-5-208(c), which provides:

Effective January 1, 1996, an incumbent local
exchange telephone company shall adhere to a price
floor for its competitive services subject to such de-
termination as the authority shall make pursuant to

©2011 Thomsan Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.
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§ 65-5-207.7% The price floor shall equal the in-
cumbent local exchange telephone company's tar-
iffed rates for essential elements utilized by com-
peting telecommunications service providers plus
the total long-run incremental cost of the competit-
ive elements of the service. When shown to be in
the public interest, the authority shall exempt a ser-
vice or group of services provided by an incumbent
jocal exchange telephone company from the re-
quirement of the price floor. The authority shall,
as appropriate, also adopt other rules or issue
orders to prohibit cross-subsidization, prefer-
ences to competitive services or affiliated entit-
ies, predatory pricing, price squeezing, price dis-
crimination, tying arrangements or other anti-
competitive practices.

FN2. Temn.Code Amn. § 65-5-207 author-
izes the TRA to establish policies, rules,
and orders requiring all telecommunica-
tions service providers to contribute to the
support of universal service, which con-
sists of residential basic local exchange
telephone service at affordable rates and
carrier-of-last-resort obligations. .

*4 (emphasis added).

" It is the highlighted language which provides
the primary basis for the TRA's denial of BSE's ap-
plication for CLEC status in those areas where its
affiliate is the incumbent provider. The TRA ex-
pressed concemns that the relationship between BSE
and BST fostered the potential for the enumerated,
or other, anticompetitive activities, as well as the
opportunity for BST to avoid the limitations placed
on it as an ILEC. The six concerns, or issues for
resolution, expressed by the TRA were:

1. Whether there exists the potential for dis-
criminatory treatment of other CLECs or for pref-
erential treatment of BSE by BellSouth when there
are no safeguards being offered to monitor affiliate
transactions or performance;
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2. Whether BellSouth seeks to avoid its ILEC
obligations through BSE's ability to select Bell-
South's best customers and offer special deals that
BellSouth cannot offer due to statutory prohibi- tions;

3. Whether there exists the potential for the
prohibited acts of price squeezing and cross-
subsidization;

4. Whether in the solicitation of BellSouth
business customers by BSE, those customers will
contimie to be offered the same services under the
same utility's name, with the same personnel over
the same local network as employed by BellSouth;

5. Whether BSE présented substantial and ma-
terial evidence that it would provide services to
consumers that could not be offered by BellSouth;
and

6. Whether it is in the public interest for a Re-
gional Bell Operating Company (“RBOC”) such as
BellSouth, to have an affiliated CLEC operating
within its territory.

The last issue involves BellSouth's status as a
RBOC, and that issue again requires some back-
ground explanation, In 1974, the U.S. Department
of Justice brought an antitrust action against AT &
T for monopolization of telecommunications ser-
vices and equipment. United States v. American
Tel. and Tel. Co., 552 F.Supp. 131 (D.D.C.1982),
aif'd sub nom. Maryland v. United States, 406 U.S.
1001, 103 S.Ct. 1240 (1983). That long and com-
plex litigation resulted in a settlement reflected in a
consent decree. This consent decree required AT &
T to divest itself of the twenty or so Bell operating
companies (“BOCs”) that provided local telephone
service as monopolies. Under the court-approved
plan, these BOCs were spun off from AT & T and
grouped into seven regional holding companies, or
RBOCs, who continued to provide local service as
regulated monopolies until the 1996 Telecommu-
nications Act and/or similar legislation in various
states. See AT & T Corp. v. Federal Communica-

© 2011 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.
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tions Comm'n, 220 F3d 607, 611 (D.C.Cir.2000).
Bell South is a RBOC. Id; see also 47 U.S.C. §
153(4) (defining “Bell operating company” by list-
ing twenty companies by name, including South
Central Bell Telephone Company, the predecessor
of BST). Although the Bell operating companies
were allowed to retazin their state-regulated mono-
polies on local service, they were prohibited by the
consent decree from entering other parts of the tele-
communications business, including long distance,
equipment sales, and specified other services.
United States v, American Tel. and Tel. Co., 552
F.Supp. at 224,

*5 The Telecommunications Act of 1996 res-
cinded the consent decree. While a number of key
provisions apply to all incumbent local exchange
carriers, such as the requirement that they offer
nondiscriminatory access and interconnection to
local competitors, 47 U.S.C. § 251, the Act also in-
cludes “Special Provisions Concerning Bell Operat-
ing Companies,” 47 U.5.C. §§ 271 to -276, which
apply only to the BOCs and their affiliates. Some of
these provisions allow BOCs to enter into formerly
prohibited areas of the telecommunications market,
but only under specifically enumerated conditions.
Of primary importance, § 271 establishes require-
ments that a BOC or its affiliate must meet before it
can provide long distance, or InterLATA, services.
Those requirements relate primarily to interconnec-
tion and include a competitive checklist insuring,
among other things, nondiscriminatory access to
network elements and other facilities and services.
47U.5.C. §271(c). ™

FN3. The Act further provides that the
FCC cannot approve a BOC or BOC affili-
ate application, to provide interLATA ser-
vices unless it finds that the applicant has
met the requirements with respect to access
and interconnection, has fully implemented
the competitive checklist, “the requested
authorization will be carried out in accord-
ance with the requirements of section
272" and the approval is consistent with

Page 6 of 19

Page 5

the public interest, convenience and neces-
sity. 47 U.5.C. § 271(d)(3).

BOCs and their affiliates are barred from man-
ufacturing and selling equipment until they have re-
ceived authorization to provide interLATA ser-
vices, which, of course, requires demonstrated com-
pliance with the nondiscriminatory access require-
ments and the competitive checklist. 47 US.C. §
273. That section includes additional strictures on
such manufacturing activities. Section 276 includes
nondiscrimination safeguards for provision of
payphone services by a BOC and a requirement that
a BOC may not subsidize its payphone services dir-
ectly or indirectly from its telephone exchange ser-
vice operations. In addition, BOCs may provide
electronic publishing only through a separate affili-
ate or through a joint venture operated according to
specific requirements, including structural separa-
tion. 47 U.S.C. § 274/

FN4. This required structural separation, or
line-of-business restriction, has been up-
held in a bill of attainder and first amend-
ment challenge, BellSourth Corp. v. F.C.C,
144, F.3d 58, 61 (D.C.Cir.1998), cert.
denied, Apr. 26, 1999,

Most relevant to our analysis of the issues
herein, because of the parties’ references to and ar-
guments about “Section 272 affiliates” is the re-
quirement of 47 U.5.C. § 272, which the FCC has
described as follows:

Section 272(a) provides that a BOC (including
any affiliate) that is a LEC subject to the require-
ments of section 251(c) may provide certain ser-
vices only through a separate affiliate. Under sec-
tion 272, BOCs (or BOC affiliates) may engage in
the following activities only through one or more
affiliates that are separate from the incumbent LEC
entity: (A) manufacturing activities; (B) interLATA
telecommunications services that
region; and {C) interLATA information services.

In the Matter of Implementation of the Non-

© 2011 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.
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Accounting Safeguards of Sections 271 and 272 of
the Communications Act of 1934, As Amended, CC
Docket No. 96-149, First Report and Order, at 50
(rel. Dec. 24, 1996) (footnotes omitted).

The statute establishes “structural and transac-
tional requirements” for § 272 separate affiliates,
including independent operation, maintenance of
separate books and records, totally separate of-
ficers, directors and employees, and no credit ar-
rangement whereby recourse may be had against
the assets of the BOC. 47 U.5.C. § 272(b)(1)~(4). In
addition, the affiliate is required “to conduct all
transactions with the Bell operating company of
which it is an affiliate on an arm's length basis with
any such transactions reduced to writing and avail-
able for public inspection.” 47 U.8.C. § 272(b)(5).
Nondiscrimination safeguards also exist. 47 U.S.C.
§ 272(c).

*6 It is this siructural and operational separa-
tion between the BOC and its affiliate which has
been determined on the federal level to provide pro-
tection against anticompetitive practices. It allows a
BOC affiliate to provide some services that the
BOC itself would be prohibited from providing.
This separation is a- critical element in understand-
ing the TRA's position herein.

II. ILEC Affiliation
The TRA has previously granted certificates to
over thirty competing local exchange carriers to
provide local services on a statewide basis. In addi-
tion, the TRA has granted certificates as CLECs to
two affiliates of ILECs, namely Citizens Telecom-
munications Company of Tennessee and United
Telephones-Southeast, Inc.™ BSE asserts that
* these prior approvals establish precedent which the
TRA must follow and require that BSE's statewide
application be granted because the TRA is required
by federal and state law to certificate CLECs on a
competitively neutral basis.

FN5. At BSE's request, at the hearing in-
volved herein the TRA took judicial notice
of its grant of these certificates, and the re-
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cords from those proceedings have been
included in the record herein. Those re-
cords reflect that the TRA granted to
Sprint Communications Company, L.P. a
certificate to provide intrastate service
based upon an application to provide a full
array of telecommunications services nor-
mally provided by an incumbent local ex-
change telephone company throughout the
State of Tennessee in all geographic loca-
tions permitted under Tenn.Code Ann. §
65-4-201, Similarly, Citizens Telecommu-.
nications Company filed an application for
certification as a CLEC secking authority
to operate statewide to provide a full array
of telecommunications services as would
normally be provided by an incumnbent loc-
al exchange telephone company. The TRA
granted the application.

The TRA responds that its prior decisions, in-
volving other companies i other situations, do not
bind it in this situation. It also asserts, and found,

_that BellSouth and its affiliate BST or BellSouth

are different from other CLECs and their affiliates
and present unique issues. The TRA found:

In Tennessee, Citizens, Sprint, and their affili-
ated companies are not similarly situated to Bell-

~ South and BSE. Neither Citizens nor Sprint are

RBOCs, and neither possesses the historical market
dominance so closely associated with RBOCs such
as BellSouth. Unlike Citizens and Sprint, BellSouth
maintains approximately eighty percent (80%) of
the access lines in Temmessee. Therefore, since BSE
is the affiliate of the dominant local exchange carri-
er in Tennessee, the actions which BSE seeks to
take must be evaluated by assessing whether such
actions will truly foster competition in Tennessee.
The authority finds that Citizens and Sprint are not
similarly situated to BSE and BeliSouth.

(footnotes omitted).

If the TRA had determined that BSE was in-
eligible to be certified statewide as a CLEC on the
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basis that an affiliate was disqualified from certific-
ation in the same market where its affiliate was the
incumbent provider, the two prior approvals would
pose serious problems to affirming the TRA's order
herein. However, the TRA did not find that such a
per se disqualification existed, and we can find
none in the statute. The prior approvals indicate
that the TRA interpreted the Telecommunications
Act as authorizing affiliates of ILECs to be certified
as CLECs statewide, including in those markets
where the affiliate was the incumbent.

The prior approvals also serve to rebut an argu-
ment made herein by the intervenors. Those inter-
venors argue that it is illegal under Tennessee law
for BellSouth to operate as both an ILEC and a
CLEC in the same service territory. They assert
that because the Telecommunications Act defines a
CLEC as a carrier providing service before June 6,
1995, and defines an ILEC as a provider of services
certified after June 6, 1995, an ILEC camnot be a
CLEC. We do not disagree that the statufe envi-
sions an ILEC and a CLEC as being different entit-
ies.

: *7 However, the intervenors argue that because

BST camnot be a CLEC, BeliSouth should not be
allowed to accomplish the same illegal result
through use of an affiliate; i.e., BST cannot do in-
directly what it is prohibited from doing directly.
While much of the intervenors' argument is ad-
dressed to BellSouth's market dominance and posi-
tion, their argument is also based upon the statutory
distinctions between ILECs and CLECs. To that
extent, the intervenors' assertions that BellSouth
cannot operate both an ILEC and a CLEC would
apply equally to any other affiliate relationship. Ob-
viously, the TRA has rejected that interpretation of
the statute by certifying as CLECs at least two oth-
er entities affiliated with ILECs. We find no basis
for rejecting the TRA's nterpretation. In fact, the
legislature apparently foresaw the possibility of an
- ILEC providing services to an “affiliated entity.”
See Tenn.Code Ann. § 65-5-208(c).

As the TRA's order makes clear, its denial of

BSE's request for a certificate for statewide CLEC
status was not based upon BSE's status as an affili-
ate of an ILEC per se. Instead, it was related to the
unique position enjoyed by BeliSouth as the domin-
ant provider of local exchange services and as a
Bell operating company.

We agree with the TRA that each application
must be considered on its own merits and upon the
facts of each individual situation. In the instant situ-
ation, the facts raise issues as to the effect of certi-
fication on competition which may differ from
those raised by other incumbent affiliate applica-
tions. However, the TRA cannot apply legal re-
quirements arbitrarily or capriciously and must
have a factual basis for its actions. Tenn.Code Ann.
§ 4-5-322(h).

1II1. BOC Status

As set out earlier, BellSouth, BST and BSE (as
an affiliate of a BOC) are subject to specific provi-
sions of the Telecommunications Act of 1996 not
applicable to other CLECs. The question is whether
that status justifies a differing approach or standard
for BSE's qualification as a CLEC than that applied
to affiliates of other ILECs who are not aiso BOCs.

BSE argues that the FCC has recognized or au-
thorized affiliates of ILECs and BOCs. The TRA
has acknowledged and referred to the FCC's rulings
on specific arrangements, but has distinguished the
situation covered by those rulings from the situ-
ation presented by BSE's application herein.

The FCC has considered the question of the
provision of local exchange and exchange access by
Section 272 BOC affiliates and reached the follow-
ing conclusion: ’

Based on our analysis of the record and the ap-
plicable statutory provisions, we conclude that sec-
tion 272 does not prohibit a section 272 affiliate
from providing local exchange services in addition
to interLATA services, nor can such a prohibition
be read into this section. Specifically, section
272(a)(1) states that-
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A Bell operating company (including any affil-
jate) which is a local exchange carrier that is sub-
ject to the requirements of section 251(c) may not
provide any service described m [section 272(a)(2)
] unless it provides that service through ome or
more affiliates that ... are separate from any operat-
ing company entity that is subject to the require-
ments from section 251(c} ...

*8 We find that the statutory language is clear
on its face-a BOC section 272 affiliate is not pre-
cluded under section 272 from providing local ex-
change service, provided that the affiliate does
not qualify as an incumbent LEC subject to the
requirements of section 251(c).

In the Matter of Implementation of the Non-
Accounting Safeguards of Sections 271 and 272 of
the Communications Act of 1934, As Amended, CC
Docket No. 95-149, First Report and Order, at §
312 (rel. Dec. 24, 1996) (emphasis added).

Tt is clear that the FCC's comments are ad-
dressed to those BOC affiliates which are Section
272 affiliates and are operated independently from
an ILEC affiliate. They apply where the BOC in-
cumbent has been authorized to provide long dis-
tance services. This means that the BOC incumbent
has demonstrated to the FCC's satisfaction that it
has complied with the various competition require-
ments set out in 47 U.S.C. § 271.

We agree with the TRA that the FCC rulings
relied upon by BSE do not directly apply to an ap-
plication by an affiliate of a BOC which is not a
Section 272 affiliate to provide local service in an
arca where the BOC is the incumbent. While BSE
is not incorrect in asserting that these FCC rulings
do not prohibit the grant of its application, they also
do not require it. The FCC, based on federal stat-
utory law, has found that BOC affiliates may
provide certain kinds of services when circum-
stances not present in the case before us exist.

BSE is not a Section 272 affiliate, and does not
claim to be. Section 272 affiliate status only applies

to affiliates of a BOC which have received Section
271 approval. The TRA determined that BSE
“remains a type of affiliate not contemplated under
§ 272.” In addition, the TRA explained:

It is appropriate that BSE has not requested in
its Application to provide non-incidental services,
because BSE cannot satisfy the requirements for a
Section 272 affiliate, for those services, until inter-
LATA permission is granted pursuant to Section
271. The Authority concludes that BSE cannot, at
this time, as a matter of law, provide Section
272(a}(2) non-incidental services, does not intend
to provide Section 272(a}(2) incidental services,
and is, therefore, not a Section 272 affiliate. Having
concluded as such it is difficult to embrace the pos-
ition that the safeguards established under Section
272 are applicable to BSE. It is equally difficult to
accept that an entity such as BSE is of the type con-
templated by the FCC's pronouncement that Section
272 does not prohibit a Section 272 affiliate from
providing local exchange services in addition to in-
terLATA services. :

(footnotes omitted).

The TRA asserts that BSE's lack of Section 272
status is important is considering the competitive
goals of both federal and state legislation. The Au-
thority contends that Section 271 approval indicates
satisfaction of the requirements for entry into the
long distance market, including compliance with
the competitive checklist. As of the date of the pro-
ceedings herein, BellSouth did not have Section
271 approval, and the TRA states that BellSouth
has been denied that approval several times by the
FCC and in other states. ™ Consequently, the
TRA found that BSE had not been required to show
that it has adequate operations support systems with
performance measurements in place which would
“provide assurance that the public welfare is pro-
tected by ensuring that competing carriers have a
means to compete and are treated in a competitively
neutral manner by the ILEC [BST].” The TRA also
found that not only does the denial of such approval
indicate that the required proof of compliance with
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competitive safeguards was not provided in those
proceedings, the TRA . found that BSE did not
demonstrate such compliance in the hearing herein.

FN6. For example:

In the Maiter of Application of BellSouth
Corporation, et al, Pursuamt to Section
271 of the Communications Act of 1934,
as amended, to Provide In-Region, Inter-
LATA Services in South Carolina, 13
FCC Rcd 539, 547 P 14 (1997) (failure
to (1) provide nondiscriminatory access
to operations support systems, (2)
provide unbundled network elements in
a manner that permits competing carriers
to combine them through collecation,
and (3) offer certain retail services at
discounted rates), aff'd, BellSouth Corp.
v. FCC, 333 US.App. D.C. 253, 162
F.3d 678 (D.C.Cir.1998); In the Matter
of Application by BellSouth Corporation,
et al, Pursuant to Section 271 of the
Communications Act of 1934, as
amended, fo Provide In-Region, Inter-
LATA Services in Louisiana, 13 TCC
Recd 6245, 6246-47 P 1 (1998) (failure to
provide nondiscriminatory access to op-
erations support system and to make
telecommunications  services  available
for resale); In the Matter of Application
of BellSouth Corporation, BellSouth
Telecommunications, Inc., and BellSouth
Long Distance, Inc., for Provision of In-
Region, InterLATA Services in Louisi-
anag, 13 FCC Red 20399, 20605 P 10
(1998) (failure to provide nondiscrimin-
atory access to operations support sys-
tem and unbundled network elements).

AT & T Corp.y. FCC, 220 F.3d at 613.

*3 The TRA did not deny the application for
statewide CLEC certification because of BSE's
status as a BOC or BOC affiliate. It did, however,
consider that status as a factor in its consideration

of the competitive effect of allowing BSE to com-
pete with its affiliate where the competition protec-
tions assured by Section 272 affiliate status are not
present. We conclude that neither BSE's status as
an ILEC affiliate nor its status as a BOC affiliate
was the basis for the TRA's denial. That status did,
however, influence the standards applied by the
TRA to BSE in its consideration of the competitive
effect of granting BSE's application.

IV. The Issues Presented and The Standard of Re-
view

As the list of TRA concerns set out earlier in
this opinion demionstrates, the TRA focused its de-
cision on the potential for anticompetitive activities
and conduct if an affiliate of the Regional Bell Op-
erating Company and ILEC were certified as a
CLEC, especially in the absence of the protections
provided by federal law to Section 272 affiliates. In
the order now under appeal, the TRA noted that in
its previous denial “one critical area of concern was
that the affiliate relationship between BST and BSE
could be potentially and irreversibly adverse to
competition.” The TRA found without Section 271
approval of BellSouth, there was still no evidence
that BellSouth had the necessary safeguards in
place to ensure fair treatment among all CLECs and
further stated:

Exacerbating our concemn is that no other per-
formance measurements have been established,
which arguably help to serve as support to the ex-
istence of competitive neutrality in the relationship
between BeHBSouth, BSE and other CLECs.
Without these safeguards and measurements the
Authority would have difficulty determining wheth-
er BellSouth in fact afforded preferential treatment
to its affiliate CLEC in Tennessee.

It was on the basis of these concemns that the
TRA determined that approval of BSE's application
was not in the public interest and “may, in fact” be
incensistent with the goal of competition. The TRA
concluded that BSE offered little convincing evid-
ence or testimony to diminish its concerns regard-
ing potentially abusive collusive behavior.
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On appeal, our review of the TRA's order is
governed by Tenn.Code Ann. § 4-5-322(h), which
provides: _

The court may affimn the decision of the
agency or remand the case for further proceedings.
The court may reverse or modify the decision if the
rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced be-
cause the administrative findings, inferences, con-
clusjons or decisions are:

(1) In violation of constitutional or statutory
provisions;

(2) In excess of the statutory authority of the
agency; ‘

(3) Made upon unlawful procedure;

(4) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by
abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise
of discretion; or i

(5) Unsupported by evidence which is both
substantial and material in the light of the entire re-
cord.

*10 In determining the substantiality of evid-
ence, the court shall take into account whatever in
the record fairly detracts from its weight, but the
court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the
agency as to the weight of the evidence on ques-
tions of fact.

The TRA may exercise only that authority giv-
en it expressly by statute or arising by necessary
implication from an express grant. BellSouth Adver.
& Publ'g Corp. v. Tennessee Regulatory Auth., 79
S.W.3d 506, 512 (Tenn.2002); Tennessee Pub,
Serv. Comm'n v. Southern Ry. Co., 554 S.W.2d 612,
613 (Tenn.i977). The General Assembly has given
the TRA “practically plenary authority over the
utilities within its jurisdiction.” BellSouth Adver. &
Publ'g Corp., 79 S.W.3d at 312 (quoting Tennessee
Cable Television Ass'n v. Tennessee Pub. Serv.
Comm™, 844 SWwW2d 151, 159 (Tenn.Ct
App.1992)). The TRA has “general supervisory

and regulatory power, jurisdiction, and control over
all public utilities.” Tenn.Code Ann. § 65-4-104.
The General Assembly has given the TRA, in addi-
tion to other jurisdiction conferred, the authority to
“investigate, hear and enter appropriate orders to
resolve all contested issues of fact or law arising as
a result of the application of Acts 1995, ch. 408 [the
Tennessee Telecommunications Act].” Tenn.Code
Ann. § 65-5-210(a).

BSE asserts, however, that the TRA's order was
contrary to governing statutory provisions. In re-
viewing BSE's request, the TRA was required to
apply Tenn.Code Ann. § 65-4-201(c), quoted carli-
er, which establishes the requirements for certifica-
tion as a competing provider, BSE asserts that it
met the two requirements by demonstrating: (1) that
it will adhere to ali applicable TRA policies, rules
and orders; and (2) that it posseésses managerial,
financial and technical abilities to provide the ser-
vices. BSE cites the TRA's approval of it as a
CLEC in some territories in Tennessee as proof the -
TRA has found that BSE meets these statutory
qualifications. Accordingly, BSE argues, the TRA
was required to gramt its application for statewide
certification because of the mandatory language of
the statute.

There is no dispute that BSE met the two re-
quirements of Tenn.Code Ann. § 65-4-201(c). The
TRA, however, determined that its other statutorily
assigned responsibilities required it to examine the
application in light of its effect on competition, in-
cluding its responsibility under Tenn.Code Ann. §
65-4-201(a) to consider the present and future pub-
lic interest in determining whether to grant a certi-
ficate of convenience and necessity. In the case
herein, however, the TRA defined that public in-
terest in terms of the impact of BSE's application
on competition. it is clear from the order that the
TRA's reason for denying BSE certification as a
CLEC in those areas where its affiliate was the
ILEC was its determination that such certification
could adversely impact the development of compet-
ition in the provisicn of local telephone service.
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*11 The TRA maintains that it was required to
consider the effect on competition. The TRA relied
upon its obligations set out in Tenn.Code Amnn. §
65-5-208(c), also quoted above, to prohibit anti-
competitive practices in dealings between the in-
cumbent and competitors. The TRA was also mind-
ful of the General Assembly's policy of fostering
competition, as set out in the Tennessee Telecom-
munications Act of 1995

The general assembly declares that the policy
of this state is to foster the development of an effi-
cient, technologically advanced, statewide system
of telecommunications services by permitting com-
petition in all telecommunications services markets,
and by permitting alternative forms of regulation
for telecommunications services and telecommunic-
ations services providers. To that end, the regula-
tion of telecommunications services and telecom-
munications services providers shall protect the in-
terests of consumers without unreasonable preju-
dice or disadvantage to any telecommunications
services provider; universal service shall be main-
tained; and rates charged to residential customers
for essential telecommunications services shall re-
main affordable.

Tenn.Code Ann. § 65-4-123. In the preambie to
the Tennessee Telecommunications Act, the Gener-
al Assembly stated a policy that “Competition
among providers should be made fair by requiring
that all regulation, be applied impartially and
without discrimjnation to each.” 1995 Tenn. Pub.
Acts ch. 408,

In addition, federal law places a duty on the
TRA to promote or insure competition in the provi-
sion of telecommunication services. In particular,
the Telecommunications Act of 1996 requires re-

moval of barriers to entry into that business and

states:

(2) In general. No State or local statute or regu-
lation, or other State or local legal requirement,
may prohibit or have the effect of prohibiting the
ability of any entity to provide any interstate or in-

trastate telecommunications service.

(b) State regulatory authority. Nothing in this
section shall affect the ability of a State to impose,
on a competitively neutral basis and consistent with
Section 254 of this title, requirements necessary to
preserve and advance universal service, protect the
public safety and welfare, ensure the continued
quality of telecommunijcations services, and safe-
guard the rights of consumers,

47U.S.C. §253.

We agree with the TRA that it has the authority
to consider the effect on competition of an applica-
tion for statewide certification as a CLEC. In addi-
tion to its general almost plenary authority to regu-
late public utilities and the authority granted by the
statutes quoted herein, it also has specific authority
to adopt rules or issue orders to prohibit anticom-
petitive practices. Tenn.Code Ann. § 65-5-208(c).
Thus, we conclude the TRA did not act in excess or
in contravention of relevant statutory authority in:
considering the effect on competition.

However, the authority to consider the effect
on competition does not remove the requirements
that the agency base its decisions on substantial and
material evidence and that those decisions not be
arbitrary or capricious. The determinative issues in
this appeal are framed by BSE's arguments that the
TRA's decision was arbitrary because it differenti-
ated among ILEC affiliates and that the decision
was based upon speculation and not upon the evid-
ence and, therefore, is not supported by substantial
and material evidence. In addition, BSE asserts that
the TRA's order is actually anticompetitive and pre-
vents BSE's entry into the market as a competing
local exchange service provider by establishing
more stringent requirements for it than those ap-
plied to other ILEC affiliates. The intervenors as-
sert that BST is already dominant in the local ser-
vices market, making removal of barriers to entry
irrelevant. The TRA asserts its order was designed
to further the competition envisioned by both feder-
al and state law.
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*12 The TRA did, in fact, treat BSE's applica-
tion differently from applications for statewide
CLEC certification other affiliates of ILECs. They
based this differing treatment on BSE's relationship
to BellSouth, which has undisputed market domin-
ance in the state and which is a BOC. Regional Bell
Operating Companies have been subject to stric-
tures and limjtations not applicable to other com-
panies since the consent order was entered in
United States v. American Tel. and Tel Co. The
1996 Telecommunications Act has special provi-
sions relating to RBOCs. Because RBOCs had
gained control of the local services markets through
a monopoly, such measures were considered neces-
sary if true competition were to develop as a prac-
tical matter.

The FCC has recognized the authority of state
regulatory agencies to treat certain BOC related en-
tities differently because of the potential impact on
competition.

State regulation. As mentioned above, several -
BOCs have already submitted applications to state
regulatory commissions seeking authority to
provide both local exchange services and inter-
LATA services from the same affiliate. Although
we conclude that the 1996 Act permits section 272
affiliates to offer local exchange service in addition
to interLATA service; we recognize that individual
states may regulate such integrated affiliates differ-
ently than other carriers.F’

FN7. BSE's application does not include a
proposal to provide interLATA (long dis-
tance) services. As discussed earlier, the
FCC's pronouncements have involved Sec-
tion 272 affiliates who propose to provide
both local and long distance services.
Thus, in our earlier discussion of BOC
status, we have agreed with the TRA that
the FCC's recognition of BOC and ILEC
affiliates is not dispositive of the question
of whether an affiliate which is not a Sec-
tion 272 affiliate may qualify as a CLEC

Page 13 of 19
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where its affiliate is the ILEC. However,
while the finding that state regulatory
agencies may regulate integrated affiliates
differently from other entities is not dir-
ectly applicable to a non-272 affiliate be-
coming a CLEC, we think the principles
involved are similar enough to warrant re-
iiance on the FCC's recognition of state
agencies' autharity to regulate BOC affili-
ates differently.

In the Matter of Implementation of the Non-
Accounting Safeguards of Sections 271 and 272 of
the Communications Act of 1934, As Amended, CC
Docket No. 96-149, First Report and Order, at
317 (zel. Dec. 24, 1996) (footnotes omitted).

Although state statues do not make reference to
RBOCs, we conclude that the TRA had the author-
ity to consider BellSouth's market dominance in the
state angd its status as a BOC in analyzing the com-
petitive effects of its affiliate’s application. We also
conclude that Tenn.Code Ann. § 63-3-208(c) gave
the TRA the authority to issue orders which would
prohibit the specific anticompetitive practices listed
in the statute, as well as others. Because the rela-
tionship between BST, BSE, and BellSouth
provides a situation where such practices can devel-
op, the TRA was authorized to examine this situ-
ation differently from other applications and to ad-
opt rules or to establish by order standards or re-
quirements to fulfill its responsibility to further
competition.

However, that is not what the TRA did, Instead
of “regulating” a BOC affiliate differently, the TRA
denied the certification. BSE describes the TRA's
decision as “Rather than engage with BSE in a reas-
onable framework of regulation for its services in
the market, the TRA has chosen to simply deny
BSE a place at the table.” The question is whether
the TRA could deny certification under the facts
presented.

V. :
The TRA had previously expressed its concerns
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about the potential for anticompetitive conduct -

between BSE and its affiliates. The second hearing
was held to allow BSE to address those concems.
In the hearing, BSE offered to submit itself to vari-
ous requirements to alleviate the concerns of the
TRA. In specific, BSE offered:

*13 (1) To operate independently from BST;

(2) To maintain its books, records, and ac-
counts separate from the books, records, and ac-
counts maintained by BST;

(3) To have separate officers, directors, and
employees from BST;

(4) Not to obtain credit under any arrangement
that would permit a creditor, upon default, to have
recourse to the assets of BST;

(5) To conduct all transactions with BST on an
arms' length basis with any such transactions re-
duced to writing and available for public inspec-
tion; FN¢

FNS8. Items 1-5 replicate the structural sep-
aration requirements set out in 47 U.S.C. §

272(b).

(6) Not to engage in cross-subsidization, grant-
ing preferences to competitive services or affiliated
entities, predatory pricing, price squeezing, price
discrimination, tying arrangements, or other anti-
competitive practices as prohibited by Tenn.Code
Amn. § 65-5-208(c);

" (7) To set its price floor equal to the wholesale
price it pays to BST;

{8) To file and resell its Confract Service
Agreements;

(9) To be bound by the non-discrimination re-
quirements of 47 U.8.C. §§ 251 and 252;

(10) To file tariffs;

{11) To consent to regular audits of its opera-
tions by the TRA;

{12) To provide cost allocation data of its oper-
ations;

{13) To accept advertising restrictions assuring
that any advertising would properly identify
“BellSouth BSE”;

(14) To submit to any other applicable ILEC
Rules in the event BSE undertakes the activities of
its ILEC affiliate BST; and

(15) To abide by any and all of the appli'cable
TRA policies, rules and orders.

The TRA found these promises msufficient,
primarily for three reasons. It determined that
BSE's failure to file a cost allocation manual pre-
vented the Authority from determining whether ap-
propriate safeguards were in place to prevent cross-
subsidies between regulated and non-regulated ser-
vices.™ Sjmilarly, BSE did not file a business
plan, and the TRA stated it routinely examined such
plans when considering CLEC applications. The
TRA found that “The lack of a business plan and
cost allocation manual prevents the Authority from
determining the extent to which BSE intends to op-
erate, and whether such operation and the provi-
sioning of telecommunications services on an ex-
panded level is compatible with the public interest.”

FN9. There is proof in the record that with .
regard to BSE's operation in the Tampa,
Florida area, cost allocations between BSE
and BellSouth's cellular phone company
were not very strict, even though the com-
panies shared some costs. For example, the
cellular provider paid all advertising costs,
and BSE did not pay a portion of that.

Although BSE did not file a business plan, an
Intervenor introduced into evidence a report pre-
pared for BeliSouth by a consultant regarding the
benefits to BeliSouth of sending a CLEC affiliate
into various markets. BSE disavowed the report,
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stating that it did not serve as BSE's business plan.
In its brief, the TRA argues the report is
“significant, not as a representation of BSE's cur-
rent or future business practices, but for its indica-
tion of the most obvious opportunities that a CLEC
affiliate would provide for BellSouth and for the
fact that BellSouth was studying these opportunities
in great detail.” The brief continues:

The report is replete with statements that Bell-
South viewed its “ CLEC ” as an extension of Bell-

South, which would benefit from maximum identi-

fication with BellSouth, that the CLEC would be
operated as part of a comprehensive business
strategy that would pertain to all BellSouth com-
panies, and that the CLEC would offer many ways
of circumventing regulatory restraints on Bell-
South's incumbent LEC operations.... Elsewhere,
the report states that the rationale for establishing a
CLEC is that “ BellSouth needs alternatives to gam
pricing and packaging freedoms.”

*14 We do not disagree with the TRA's de-
scription of the report. Although BSE denied the re-
port was ever its business plan, the TRA argues that
“The existence of this report submitted by the Inter-
venors and the absence of a business plan from
BSE creates a reasonable presumption that BST in-
tended to let loose its affiliate ‘CLEC’ upon the
market not as a truly independent competitor and in
order to circumvent regulatory requirements.”

The final, and apparently most significant,
reason given by the TRA is its interpretation of
BSE's offer to be bound by a price floor equal to
the resale price it pays to BST for the purchase of
its telecommunications services. As discussed
above, Tenn.Code Ann. § 65-5-208(c) requires an
ILEC to adhere to a price floor for its competitive
services which must equal the ILEC's rates for es-
sential services used by CLECs plus the total long-
run incremental cost of the competitive elements of
the service.

One of the major concerns of the intervenors
was the price floor issue. On appeal, they argue that

Page 150f19

Page 14

Tennessee has established a “price floor” for cer-
tain ILEC services and prohibited the ILEC from
charging customers less than that amount for the

. purpose of preventing ILECs from engaging in

predatory pricing, ie, pricing services below cost.
The intervenors' expert testified that the price floor
statute prevents an incumbent provider with market
power from pricing services at less than cost-and
thereby discouraging potential competitors from
building their own networks. Essentially, the inter-
venors arpue that since an ILEC is restricted by law
to a price floor, the same public policy requires that
an affiliate of an ILEC be subject to the same re-
striction because the ILEC should not be allowed to
avoid the statutory price floor by operating through
an affiliate 10

FN10. The intervenors' position is ex-
plained in their brief as follows:

Based on the testimony at the second
hearing, here is how BSE's scheme
would work: Under federal law, Bell-
South is required to make all services
available for resale at a discounted,
wholésale rate. In Tennessee, state regu-
lators have determined that BellSouth's
wholesale rate should be 16% less than
the carmrer's retail rate. Thus, if Bell-
South's retail rate for local service were
$12.15, a CLEC may purchase that ser- -
vice for a discounted price of $10.31.

During cross-examination, [BSE] was
asked to assume, for the sake of argu-
ment, that BellSouth’'s $12.15 rate was
also the price floor for that service, as
calculated in accordance with section
208(c). Under those circumstances he re-
peatedly maintained that BSE could leg-
ally purchase BellSouth's service at the
wholesale rate and resell it for $10.31 or
$10.81, substantially less than Bell-
South's price floor. In an effort to per-
suade the TRA to approve BSE's propos-
al, [BSE] said BSE would agree to price

© 2011 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig: US Gov. Works.
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its services at no less than $10.31-the
wholesale price it paid to BellSouth-but
would not agree to abide by BellSouth's
price floor of $12.15.

The TRA was also unconvinced that BSE's of-
fer regarding the price floor was sufficient to allevi-
ate its concemns about anticompetitive conduct and
found: -

In an effort to lessen the anti-competitive effect
of its expanded certification, BSE agreed to be
bound by a price floor equal to the resale price paid
to BellSouth for the purchase of its telecommunica-
tions services. However, BSE failed to demonstrate
whether the resale price it will pay to BellSouth
will or will not include operator. service costs, ad-
ministrative costs, or marketing and advertising
costs. Absent an evidentiary demonstration of all
costs to be included i the resale price paid to BST,
the “price floor” promised by BSE may not be com-
parable to that set for incumbents under Tenn.Code
Ann. § 65-5-208(c). Furthermore, the Authority is
of the opinion that if a price floor is to act as a'de-
terrent against price squeezing, the floor must be
set in a manner that will ensure that all of the costs
of providing the services are included therein.
Thus, a meaningful promise to be bound to a price
floor will not only include the rate paid to Bell-
South by BSE, but will also include additional costs
incurred by BSE in providing such services. Under
BSE's proposal to set the price floor at the resale
rate paid to BellSouth, BSE would still be free to
sell a service below the total cost that BSE must in-
cur to provide that service.

*15 On appeal, the TRA contends that the
danger of a price squeeze is presented by the pos-
sibility that BSE would lower its resale price, “as
long as the cost components of that price are undis-
closed or are subject to manipulation,” to a level
that competitors of BSE and BST would be unable
to match. The TRA found BSE's promise to set its
price floor at the resale rate it pays BST would still
allow BSE to resell a service below the overall cost
to BSE of providing the service. The TRA contends

this situation results in am “obvious opportunity”
for a price squeeze. See Town of Norwood v. New
England Power Co., 202 F.3d 408, 418 (lst
Cir.2000) (explaining the “traditional price
squeeze™).

The TRA points out that BSE has never agreed
to apply the price floor as described by the TRA.
BSE argues that its price floor agreement must be
considered in conjunction with the other safeguards
it promised to comply with, which will “ensure that
all of the costs of providing its services are in-
cluded in its pricing.”

The price floor statute only applies to incum-
bent providers and does not by its terms apply to
CLECs. In fact, in situations where an affiliate rela-
tionship with the incumbent is not present, the issue
would simply not arise. Consequently, the TRA
must rely upon its authority to promote competition
and prevent anticompetitive practices as authority
for its decision. There is no evidence in the record
that in the other situations where the TRA has ap-
proved an affiliate of the incumbent provider as a
CLEC that any such price floor requirement has
been imposed. '

It is the relationship between BSE and Bell-
South and BellSouth's market dominance and status
as a RBOC that created the “concerns” that led the
TRA to determine that anticompetitive practices
might occur. It is actually the potential for Bell-
South to use a subsidiary to circumvent restrictions
placed on its operation by federal and state law and
regulation, to the detriment of competition, which
is at the core of the TRA's action. The fact that it is
the affiliate relationship that is the problem is ex-
emplified i the TRA's finding that,
“Counterbalancing these proposals [BSE's agree-
ment to the listed restrictions] in the record before
the TRA are BSE's numerous demonstrations of its
close ties to BST. Further, as BSE's witness admit-
ted, BSE and BST will remain affiliates. BSE will

~ be nominally independent of BST, but neither will

be truly independent of BellSouth Corporation.”
¥l Although the TRA did not decide that no af-

© 2011 Thomsoen Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.

https ://Web2.westlaw.com/pfint/pﬁntstream.aspx?sv=Split&prft=HTMLE&rs=WLWI 1.01... - 2/14/2011




Page 17 of 19

Page 16
Not Reported in S.W.3d, 2003 WL 354466 {Tenn.Ct.App.)

(Cite as: 2003 WL 354466 (Tenn.Ct.App.))

filiate of BellSouth or BST could be certified as a
CLEC i those areas where BST is the incumbent
provider, it did not by rule or order establish min-
imum requirements to insure the type of independ-
ent operation it felt necessary to prevent
“possibilities” for anticompetitive conduct.

FN11. The Intervenors assert that this case
is simply about whether BeliSouth can be
both an ILEC and a CLEC at the same
time and in the same service territory.
“Since BSE does not propose to offer any
services to Tennessee customers that Bell-
South itself cannot also offer, the only ap-
parent reason for BSE's creation is to allow
BellSouth to do indirectly, through an af-
filiate, what it cannot do directly, ie., to
engage in otherwise prohibited pricing and
marketing strategies.” The intervenors as-
sert that the BellSouth companies are at-
tempting to avoid the effect of those stat-
utes which prohibit BeliSouth itself from
obtaining a CLEC certificate and which
regulate BellSouth as the imcumbent pro-
vider. This argument presupposes, among
other things, that there is no structural and
operational separation between the affili-
ates.

The FCC has addressed concemns similar to
those raised by the TRA in the context of a Section
272 affiliate (an affiliate of a BOC which meets the
structural separation requirements of 47 U.S.C. §
272) in its report entitled /n the Matter of Imple-
mentation of the Non-Accounting Safeguards of
Sections 271 and 272 of the Communications Act of
1934, As Amended, CC Docket No. 96-149, First
Report and Order (rel. Dec. 24, 1996) wherein it
made the following findings:

*16 We also conclude as a matter of policy that
regulations prohibiting BOC section 272 affiliates
from offering local exchange service do not serve
the public interest. The goal of the 1996 Act is to
encourage competition and innovation in the tele-
communications market. We agree with the BOCs

that the increased flexibility resulting from the abil-
ity to provide both interLATA and local services
from the same entity serves the public interest, be-
cause such flexibility will encourage section 272
affiliates to provide innovative new services, To the
extent that there are concerns that the BOCs will
unlawfully subsidize their affiliates or accord them
preferential treatment, we reiterate that improper
cost allocation and discrimination are prohibited by
existing Commission rules and sections 251, 252,
and 272 of the 1996 Act, and that predatory pricing
is prohibited by the antitrust laws. Our affiliate
transaction rules, as modified by our companion
Accounting Safegnards Order, address the BOCs'
ability to engage in improper cost allocation. The
rufes in this Order and our rules, in our First Inter-
connection Order and our Second Intercommection
Order ensure that BOCs may not favor their affili-
ates. In sum, we find no basis in the record for con-
cluding that competition in the local market would
be harmed if a section 272 affiliate offers local ex-
change service to the public that is similar to local
exchange service offered by the BOC.

Id at 9 315 (footnotes omitted).

Of course, BSE is not a Section 272 affiliate,
and the structural separation requirements estab-
lished in that provision are not automatically im-
posed upon BSE. There is no impediment, however,
to the TRA imposing the same safeguards as a con-
dition to certification, by virtue of its anthority un-
der Tenn.Code Ann. § 65-5-208(c)." In fact,
BSE and BellSouth -agreed to be bound by those
structural separation requirements. The TRA could
have included other requirements directly related to
preventing anticompetitive practices between BSE
and BellSouth. Again, BSE and BellSouth agreed to
additional safeguards, including the filing of var-
ous documents, accepting advertising restrictions
which ensure the proper identification of the affili-
ate, providing cost allocation data, and setting its
price floor equal to the wholesale price it pays to
BST.

FNI12. The Georgia Public Service Com-
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mission, in roling on a similar application
by BSE in Georgia, stated that:

The critical issue that is raised in this
proceeding stems from the affiliate rela-
tionship the Applicant has with the pre-
dominant incumbent local exchange car-
der in Georgia, BellSouth Telecommu-
njcations, Inc. Testimony presented by
the intervenors raises questions as to
whether the service expected to be
provided by the Applicant will indeed be
in competition with BST. Or, will the
entry of the Applicant into the local ex-
change market simply gamer for the par-
ent corporation an even larger share of
the market in Georgia and thereby thwart
the movement toward telecommunica-
tions competition in the state.

After finding that there was not suifi-
cient cause to deny the application, the
Commission found that certain condi-
tions would be imposed. Those mcluded
use of the same operating system support
as other CLECs, a prohibition of favor-
ing treatment to BSE by the incumbent,
and certain reporting requirements.

The TRA determined these offers were not suf-
ficient. However, it did not, by order or rule, estab-
lish the minimum requirements or safeguards it
thought necessary. Instead, it determined that BSE
did not sufficiently ailay concemns that anticompet-
itive practices might occur. The TRA found that ap-

‘proval of BSE's application “may” be inconsistent

with the goal of fostering competition, that poten-
tially abusive, collusive behavior “might” occur,
and that the relationship “could be potentlally” ad-
verse to cornpetition.

Additionally, the TRA is not bound by the
FCC's judgment that competition in local markets
would pot be harmed, considering the safeguards
provided elsewhere, if Section 272 affiliates were
to offer local service. The TRA is authorized to

make its own determination about the effect of
competition in this state. However, the TRA did not
make a determination that competition would be
adversely affected by certification of BSE
statewide. It merely found that certification “may”
be contrary to promotion of competition. Appar-
ently, any harm to competition would come only if
the affiliated entities. acted collusively, in an anti-
competitive manner, and in violation of existing
prohibitions.

*17 While Tenn.Code Ann. § 65-5-208(c) au-
thorizes the TRA to implement safeguards to pro-
hibit anticompetitive conduct between an ILEC and
its affiliated CLEC, we can find nothing in the stat-
ute to authorize the TRA to deny certification of a
related entity simply because, by its nature, the af-
filiate relationship may provide the opportunity for
anticompetitive practices. The legislatire has pro-

" hibited anticompetitive conduct, not affiliation rela-

tionships. The TRA's responsibility in that situation
is to put in place standards or requirements to pro-
hibit and prevent the anticompetitive possibilities
from becoming realities and/or to make violations
easier to discover so that regulation is effective.

We conclude that the TRA's decision herein
must be vacated because it is in excess of the stat-
utory authority of the agency. We remand to the
TRA for consideration of BSE's application in Light
of the principles set out in this opinion. Because the
order which is the subject of this appeal does not
establish standards, requirements, or conditions, for
the certification, we do not rule upon the validity of
any such requirement. ™" Costs of this appeal are
taxed to the Tennessee Regulatory Authority.

FN13. For example, we decline to address
the issue of whether the TRA may impose
a minjiumum charge or price floor on BSE
which insures #t recoups all its costs.

Tenn.Ct.App.,2003.
Bellsouth BSE, Inc. v. Tennessee Regulatory Au-
thority
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BRANSTETTER, STRANCH & JENNINGS. PLLC
ATTORNEYS AT LAW
237 SECOND AVENUE NORTH
FOURTH FLOOR
MNASHYILLE, TENNESSEE 37201-1631
TELEPHONE (8/5) 254-8801
FACSIMILE {615} 250-3937

CECIL D, BRANSTETTER, SR
C. DEWEY BRANSTETTER, IR,
| RANDALL C. FERGUION
| R IAN JENNINGS =
1 JOE P, LENISKI, JR-
| DONALD L. SCHOLES
| JAMES G. STRANCH, 1ll
1. CERARO STRANCH, IV . .
1ANE B SsTRANCH Sept&mbe:r ]7’ 2010
—

«ALSO ADMITTED IN GA

Mary W. Freeman, Chairman
Tepnessee Regulatory Authority
460 James Robertson Patkway
Nashville, TN 37243-0505

Re: Lynwood Utility Corporation ~Bery’s Chapel Utility, Inc.

Dear Chairman Freeman:

Recsived
MARY W. FREEMAN

SEP 17 2010
N Reguiaiory Authority

ASSOCIATES

B. DENARD MICKENS
STEVEN . SIMERLEIN "
STACEY K, SKILLMAN **
MIKE STEWART

‘1. D, STUART

MICHAEL J. WALL

'OF COUNSEL:

ROBERT J, RICHARDSON. IR, ***
®ALSO ADMITTED IN CA
= ALSO ADMITTED IN KY

~s2ONLY ADMITTED IN DH

Via Hand Delivery

Effective September 1, 2010, the ownership of the sewer treatment and collection systerm
of the Lynwood Utility Corporation became vested in Berry's Chape! Utility, Inc., 2 Tennessee
| nomprofit corparation. On September 1, 2010, Lynwood Utility Corporation merged into Berry’s
| Chapel Utility, Inc. with Berry’s Chapel Utility, Inc. assuming all of the assets and liabilities of
Lynwood Utility Corporation. Lynwood Utility Corporation ceased to exist on the effective date
of the merger. 1 have enclosed copies of the charter of Berry’s Chapel Utility, Inc. and the

Articles of Merger of Lynwood Utility Corporation into Berry’s Chapel Utility, Inc. as filed with -

the Tennessee Secretary of State.

»

Pursuact to T.C.A. § 65-4-101(6)(E), Berry’s Chapel Utility, Foc. is 2 nonutility because it

is a momprofit corporation. Under the T.CA § 654-112(b), the mer

ger of Lynwood Utility

- Corporation into Berry’s Chapel Utility, Inc. did not require any approval by the Authority since

Berry's Chapel Utility, Inc. is a nonutility.

Please cancel the certificate of public convenience and necessity issued to Lynwood Utility

Co;:poraﬁon. Thank you for your assistance in this matter.

RECEIVED

Sincerely yours,
SEP 2 © 2010 ‘T._ MLQJL
. [+
TN REGLLATORY AUTHORITY DONALD L. SCHOLES

Enclosures  UTILITIES DIViSION
c: General Ryan McGehee
Tyler Ring
Tim Ford

{004472/103 12/0206593.00C / Verl }
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Nonprofit Corporation Act, adopts the following Charter for such corporation:
1.

2,

FILED

STATE UF TENNESSEE

CHARTER INTHP PH : og

OF . CHARRE
BERRY'S CHAPEL UTILITY, R TARY OF STarE

The undersigned, acting as the incorporator of a corporation under the Tennessee

BEIGZ 5¥LE

The name of the corporation is Berry’s Chapel Utlity, Inc.
This'corporation is & mutnal benefit corporation.

The inftial registered agent for the corporation is Tyler L. Ring whose street address is
321 Billingsly Court, Suite 4, Franldin, Tennessee 37065.

The name and address of the incorporator is:
Tylez L. Ring ‘

321 Billingsly Court, Suite 4

Franklin, TN 37065

The street address of the principal office of the corporation is 321 Billingsly Court, Suite
4, Franklin, Tennessee 37065.

This corporation is not for profit
This corporation is not & religious corporation,
This corporation will not have members.

This corporation’s initial directors and their addresses are:

+ John Ring ‘ '

321 Billingsly Court, Suite 4
Franklin, TN 37065

Tyler L. Ring
321 Billingsly Court, Suite 4
Franklin, TN 37065

James B. Fard ' R
0579 Amrora Court
Brentwood, TN 37027

(00278 0Z52400195492,00C \ Ver2)




10. The purpose of the corporation shall be to own end operate a sanitary sewer collection
and trestment system and to engage jn any other lawful business.

11, Upon dissolution, after all creditors of the corporation have been paid, its essets shall be
distributed to eny person, partnership, limited partnership, limited liability company ar
corporation engaged in the senitary sewer business or to the State of Tennessee or any
county, municipelity or political subdivision of the State of Tennessee.

the extent allowed by the laws of the State of Tennessee, no present or futnre director

12.To
heirs and personal representatives) shall be liable

of the corporation (or his or her estate,
1o the corporation for monetary damages for breach of fidociary
corporation. Any Habjlity of a director (or his ar ber estate, heirs and personal
representatives) shall be further eliminated or limited to the fullest extent allowed by the
laws of the State of Tennessee, as may hereafter be adopted or amended.

13. With respect to claims or liabilities arising out of service as a director or officer of the
corporation, the corporation sball indempify and advance expenses to each present end

duty as a director of the -

future director and officer (and his or her estate, heirs and personal representatives) io'the

fullest extent allowed by the laws of the State of Tennessee, both as now in effect and es
hereafter adopted or amended, .

445
Dated the_I1~ day of Tuly, 2010.
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STATE OF TENNESSEE
Tre Hargett, Secretary of State

Division of Business Services

312 Rosa L. Parks Avehue
6th Floor, William R. Snodgrass Tower
Nashville, TN 37243

Berry's Chapel Utility, Inc. - July 16, 2010
294 Billingsly Court :

Suilte 4
Franklin, TN 37065 USA

Filing Acknowledgment

Piease review the filing information below and nbtify our office immediately of any discreparicies.

Control #: 635712 Fomation Locale: Willlamson Gounty
Filing Type: Corporation Non-Profit - Domestic Date Formed: 07/16/2010
Filing Date: 07H18/2010 4:08 PM Fiscal Year Closa 12
Status: Active Annual RptDue:  04/0172011
Duration Term: Perpetual Image#: £745-2519
pyblic/Mutual Benefit: Mutuai

) T . ' Document Recelpt _

W)S Recelpt#: 221470 , ' Filing Fee: $100.00
payment:Check/MO - BRANSTETTER STRANCH & JENNINGS, PLLC, NASHVILLE, TN : $100.00
Registered Agent Address '

Tyler L Ring
321 Blliingsly Court
Sulte 4 i

Franklin, TN 37085 USA

Congratulations on the successful filing of your Charter for Berry's Chapel Utllity, Inc. in the State of Tennessee
which Is effective on the date shown ahove. You must also file this document in the office of the Registar of Deeds In
\he county where the entity has its principal office if such principal office Is in Tennessee,

vou must file an Annual Report with this office on or before the Annual Report Due Date noled above and malntain a
Registered Office and Registered Agent. Fallure to do 50 will subject the business to Administrative

Dissolution/Revocation.

Tre Harget,, Secr-!tary of State
Busihess Services Division

 Processed By: Cheryl Donnell

Fhone (615)-741-2286 * Fax (615) 741-7310 * Wabsite: hitp:finbear.tn.gov/
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ARTICLES OF MERGER OF LYNWOOD UTILITY CORPORATION ,
INTO BERRY’S CHAPEL UTILITY, INC. fDAUG 20 PH 3 13

-l W L ora \:._TT
Pursuant to the pravisions of Section 48-21-107 of the Tennessee Bussgn%lgg Ilﬁt‘:{'{p‘groagu%TME
Act and Section 48-61-104 of the Tennessee Nonprofit Corporation Act, the nndersigned domestic

corporations hereby submit these Articles of Merger and state as follows:

1, Tﬁe Plan of Merger is attached hereto and was approved Ey- each of the herein
named corporations in the manner prescribed by Section 48-21-104 of the Tennessee Business
Corporation Act and Section 48-61-103 of the Tennessee Nonprofit Corporation Act.

2. As to Lynwood Utility Corporation, approval of the Plan by its shareholders is
required by Section 48-21-101, et seq., of the Tennessee Business Corporation Act, and the Plan
was duly approved by the affirmative vote of 21} of the votes entitled to be cast, there being no

voting by voting group-

3. AstoBerry's Chapel Utility, Inc., which is the surviving corporation of the merger,
the Plan was duly approved by 2 umanimons vote of its board of directors. Berry’s Chapel Uiility,
Tnc. has no members; therefore, no voie by the corporation’s members was required.

4, These Arficles of Merger shall ot be effective upon filing by the Secretary of State,
but the delayed effective date and time they are to become effective, and the merger is to take
offect, is September 1, 2010, &t 12:00 a.m.

Dated this W‘f_{/[‘ day of August, 2010,

LYNWOOD UTILITY CORPORATION
Q& .

BEERY’S CHAPEL UTILITY, INC.

W
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Westlaw.
T.C. A.§ 634-101 ' Page 1

C
West's Tennessee Code Annotated Currentness

Title 65. Public Utilities and Carriers (Refs & Annos)
xg Chapter 4. Regulation of Public Utilities by Authority (Refs & Annos)
xg Part 1. General Provisions (Refs & Annos)
= § 65-4-101. Definitions

As used in this chapter, unless the context otherwise requires:

(1) “Competing telecommunications service provider” means any individual or entity that offers or provides any
two-way communications service, telephone service, telegraph service, paging service, or commumnications ser-
vice similar to such services and is certificated as a provider of such services after June 6, 1995 unless otherwise
exempted from this definition by state or federal law. .

(2) “Current authorized fair rate of return” means:

(A) For an incumbent local exchange telephone company operating pursuant to a regulatory reform plan
ordered by the former public service commission under TPSC rule 1220-4-2-.55, any return within the range
contemplated by TPSC rule 1220-4-2-.55(1)(c)}(1) ar TPSC rule 1220-4-2-.55(d);

(B) For any other incumbent local exchange telephone company, the rate of return on rate base most recently
used by the former public service commission in an order evaluating its rates.

(3) “Gross domestic product-price index (GDP-PI)” used to determine limits on rate changes means the final es- |
{fimate of the chain-weighted gross domestic product-price index as prepared by the United States department of
commerce and published in the Survey of Current Business, or its successor. ) )

(4) “Incumbent local exchange telephane company” means a public utility offering and providing basic local ex-
change telephone service as defined by § 65-5-208 pursuant to tariffs approved by the former public service
commission prior to June 6, 1995.

(5) “Interconnection services” means telecommunications services, including intrastate switched access service,
that allow a telecommunications service provider to interconnect with the networks of all other telecommunica-
tions service providers.

(6) “Public utility” means every individual, copartnership, association, corporation, or joint stock company, its.

© 2011 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.
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lessees, trustees, or receivers, appointed by any court whatsoever, that own, operate, manage or control, within
the state, any interurban electric railway, traction company, ali other common carriers, express, gas, electric
light, heat, pawer, water, telephone, telegraph, telecommunications services, or any other like system, plant or
equipment, affected by and dedicated to the public use, under privileges, franchises, licenses, or agreements,

" granted by the state or by any political subdivision thereof, “Public utility” as defined in this section shall not be

construed to in-clude the following nonutilities:
(A) Any corporation owned by Or any agency or instrumentality of the United States;
(B) Any county, municipal corporation or other subdivision of the state of Tennessee;
(C) Any corporation owned by or any agency or instrumentality of the state;

(D) Any corporation or joint stock company more than fifty perceﬁt (50%) of the voting stock or shares of
which is owned by the United States, the state of Tennessee or by amy nonutility referred to in subdivisions

(@)(1), (2),and GB);
(E) Any coaperative organization, association or corporation not organized or doing business for profit; .

(F)-Any individual, partnership, copartnership, association, corparation or joint stock company offering do-
mestic public cellular radio telephone service authorized by the federal communications commission;
provided, that the real and personal property of such domestic public cellular radio telephone entities shall be
assessed by the comptroller of the treasury pursuant to §§ 67-5-801(a)(1), 67-5-901(2)(1), and §
67-5-1301(a)(2); provided, however, that until at least two (2) entities, each independent of the other, are au-
thorized by the federal commumnications commission to offer domestic public cellular radio telephone service
in the same cellular geographical area within the state, the customer rates only of a company offering domestic
public cellular radio telephone service shall be subject to review by the Tennessce regulatory authority pursu-
ant to §§ 65-5-101~-65-5-104, Upan existence in a cellular geographical area of the conditions set forth in the
preceding sentence, domestic public cellular radio telephone service in such area, for all purposes, shall auto-
matically cease to be treated as a public utility under this title. The Tennessee regulatory authority's authority
over domestic public cejtular radio telephone service is expressly limited to the above extent and the authority
shall have no anthority over resellers of domestic public cellular radio telephone service. For the purpose of
this subdivision (6)(F), “authorized” means six (6) months after granting of the construction permit by the fed-
eral commumications commission to the second entity or when the second entity begins offering service in the
same ceflular geographical area, whichever should first occur. This subdivision (6)(F) does not affect, modify
or léssen the regulatory authority's authority over public utilities that are subject to regulation pursuant to
chapter 5 of this title;

(G) Any county, municipal corporation or other subdivision of a state bordering Temnessee, but only to the ex-
tent that such county, municipal corporation or other subdivision distributes natural gas to retail customers
within the municipal boundaries and/or urban growth boundaries of a Tennesses city, or town adjoining such

© 2011 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.
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T.C. A. § 65-4-101 ' ' Page 3

bordering state;

(H) Any of the foregoing nonutilities acting jointly or in combination or through a joint agency or instrument-
ality; and

- () For purposes of §§ 65-5-101 and 65-5-103, “public utility” shall not include interexchange carriers.
“[nterexchange carriers” means companies, other than incumbent local exchange telephone companies, own-
ing facilities in the state which consist of network elements and switches, or other communication transmis-
sion equipment used to carry voice, data, image, and video traffic across the local access and transport area
(LATA) boundaries within Tennessee.

(7) “Public utility” does not mean nonprofit homeowners associations or organizations whose membership is
limited to owners of lots in residential subdivisions, which associations or erganizations own, construct, operate
or maintain water, street light or park maintenance service systems for the exclusive use of that subdivision,;
provided, however, that the subdivisions are unable to obtain such services from the local utility district. None
of the property, property rights or facilities owned or used by the association or crganization for the rendering of
such services shall be under the jurisdiction, supervision or control of the Tenmessee regulatory authority.

(8) “Telecommunications service provider” means any incumbent local exchange telephone company or certific-
ated individual or entity, or individual or entity operating pursuant to the approval by the former public service
commission of a franchise within § 65-4-207(b), authorized by law to provide, and offering or providing for
hire, any telecommunications service, telephone service, telegraph service, paging service, or communications
service similar to such services unless otherwise exempted from this definition by state or federal law.

CREDIT(S) .
1919 Pub.Acts, c. 49, § 3; 1935 Pub.Acts, c. 42, § 1; 1943 Pub.Acts, c. 51, § 1; 1979 Pub.Acts, c. 195, § 1; 1984
Pub.Acts, c. 869, § 1; 1995 Pub.Acts, c. 305, § 14, eff. July 1, 1995; 1995 Pub.Acts, c. 305, § 20, eff. July 1,

1996; 1995 Pub.Acts, c. 408, §§ 2, 3, eff. June 6, 1995; 1999 Pub.Acts, . 317, § 1, eff. May 26, 1999; 2001
Pub.Acts, c. 27, § 1, eff. March 22, 2001.

Formerly Shanner's Code Supp., § 3059286; 1932 Code, § 5448; 1950 Code Supp., § 5448; § 65-401.

CROSS REFERENCES ‘

Advertising material affixed to public utility property, see § 2-19-144.
LIBRARY REFERENCES 7
Key Numbers |

Public Utilities €= 103.

© 2011 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.
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Business Entity Detail ' . ' Page 1 of |

Department Homa | Contact Us | Search: | ____ ___

ngs | Business Services | Charitable Fundraising | Flections | Ubrary & Archives | Publications

Administrative H

Tennessee Department of State |

Motor Vehicle Temperary Liens l Notary Commission Ij‘rademaric;] Summans l More Services I

Business Services Online > Business Information Search > Business Entity Detail

Business Ehtity Detalil

Entity details cannot be edited. This detail reflects the currant state of the filing in the system.
Click Here to return to the Business Informoation Search

0001i18764: Corparation Non-Profit - Domestic

Name: HICKMAN-FULTON COUNTIES RURAL ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE CORPORATICN

old Name:
Business Type:
Status: Active R Initial Filing: 05/15/1540
. Formed in: Tennesses Delayed Effective Date:
Fiscal Year Close: June AR Due Date: 10/01/2011
Term of Duration: Perpetual Inactive Date:

Principal Office: 1702 MOSCOW
HICKMAN, KY 420500150 USA

Annual Report P.O. BOX 190
Mailing Address: HICKMAN, KY 420500000 USA

AR Exempt: No
Mutual Benefit Corporation: Yes

[ Assumed Names |__History || Registered Agent ]
Name Status Date Expires
No Assumed Names Found...

[ Priter Friendly Yersion .

Division of Business Services
312 Rosa L. Parks Avenue, Snodgrass Tower, Gth Floor
Nashvills, TN 37243
615-741-2286
Emall | Directions, | Hours and Holldays

Coptact Us | Slte Man | Weh Polides § Dlschimer | Degarkent of State | Tennessee.gov,

© 2009 Tennessee Department of State
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STAEgLEE

AIE OF TeNKEssEE

CHARTER
, OF RC HARAET
BERRY’S CHAPEL UTILITY, méECRErAR Y OF $Tage

The undersigned, acting as the incorporator of a corporation under the Tennessce

Nonprafit Corporation Act, adapts the following Charter for such corporation:

1.

2,

The name of the corporation is Berry’s Chapel Utility, Inc.
This"corporation is a mutual benefit corporation.

The initial registered agent for the corporation is Tyler L. Ring whose street address is
321 Billingsly Com:t. Suite 4, Franklin, Tennessee 37065.

The name and address of the mcorpnrator is:

Tyler L. Ring
321 Billingsly Court, Suite 4
Franklin, TN 37065

The street address of the principal office of the corporation is 321 Billingsly Court, Suite
4, Franldin, Tennessee 37065.

This corporation is not for profit.
'This corparation is not & religious corporation,

This corporation will not have members.

.- This corporation’s initial directors and their addresses are:

John Ring ) \
321 Billingsly Court, Suite 4 '
Franklin, TN 37065

Tyler L. Ring
321 Billingsly Court, Suite 4

- Franklin, TN 37065

Jemes B. Fard .
0679 Amrora Court
Prentwood, TN 37027

[Q0Z73\LI252000199492.D0C\ Ver2)

EISZ 'L¥LE




oretion shall be to own and'operata g sanitary sewer collection

10. The purpase of the corp
d to engage in eny other lawful business,

and treatment system an

11, Upon dissolution, after 21l creditors of the corporation have been paid, its assets shall be
distdbuted to any person, partnership, limited partnership, limited liability company or
corporation engaged in the sanitary sewer business or to the State of Tennessee or any
county, municipality or political subdivision of the State of Tennessee.

extent allowed by the laws of the State of Tennessee, no present or future director
of the corparation (or his or her estate, heirs and personal representatives) shall be liable
t the corporation for monetary damages far breach of fiduciary duty s a director of the -

corporation. Any liahility of a director (or his or her estate, heirs and personal
representatives) shall be further eliminated or limited to the fullest extent allowed by the

laws of the State of Termessee, as may hereafter be adopted or amended.

of service as 2 director or officer of the

12. To the

13. With respect to claims or liabilities srising out
corporation, the corporation shall indemnify and advance expenses to each present and
future director and officer (and his or her estate, beirs and personal representatives) to'the
fullest extent allowed by the laws of the State of Tennessee, both as now in effect and 2s

higreafter adopted or amended.
4&
Dated the %~ day of Tuly, 2010.
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STATE OF TENNESSEE
Tre Hargett, Secretary of State
Division of Business Services

312 Rosa L., Parks Avenue
6th Floor, William R. Snodgrass Tower
Nashville, TN 37243

Berry's Chapel Utility, Inc. g  Juy 16, 2010
321 Billingsly Court

Sulte 4

Franklin, TN 37085 USA

Filing Acknowledgment

Please review the filing information below and nofify our office immediately of any discreparicies.

‘Control #: BI5712 Formation Locale: Willamson County
Fling Type: Corporation Non-Profit - Domestic Date Formed: 07H6/2010
Filing Date: D7HE2010 4:08 PM - Fiscal Year Close 12
- Status: Active Annual Rpt Due:  04/01/2011
i Duratian Term: PEI’PEE[EI Image 7 E745-2519
| Public/Mutual Benafit: Mutual
Y N R Document Recelpt _
i w)s Receipt#: 221470 : ' Fillng Fee: $100.00
| Payment:Check/MO - BRANSTETTER STRANCH & JENNINGS, PLLG, NASHVILLE, TN $100.00
| Registerad Agent Addmsé ' .
Tyler L. Ring
321 Billlngsly Court _
Sulte 4 .

Frankin, TN 37085 USA

Congratulations on the suceesstul fling of your Charter for Berry's Chapel Utllity, Inc. in the Siate of Tennesses
which Is effective on the date shown above. You must also file this document in the office of the Regisler of Deeds in
the county where the entity has its principal office if such principal office Is In Tennessee.

you must file an Annual Repart with this office on or before the Annual Report Due Date noted ebove and malntzain a
Registered Office and Registered Agent. Faflure to do 50 will subject the business to Administrative

Dissolution/Revocation. )

Tre Hargett, Secné’tary of State
Business Services Division

Processed By: Cheryl Donnell

Phone (615)741-2286 * Fax (615) 741-7310 * Website: http/ftnhear.in.gov?
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ARTICLES OF MERGER OF LYNWOOD UTILITY conromm%
INTO BERRY’S CHAPEL UTILITY, INC. 2010 AUGZ0 PH 3+ 13

.l ST I \:._.TT
Puyrsuant to the provisions of Section 48-21-107 of the Tennessee B1.1SSJE11Cf:isqs}.E L oiggr%nimﬁ
Act and Section 48-61-104 of the Tennessee Nonprofit Corporation Act, the undersigned domestic

| corporations hereby submit these Articles af Mezger and state as follows:

1, The Plan of Mexrger is attached hereto end was approved by each of the herein
nzamed corporations in the manner prescribed by Section 48-21-104 of the Tennessee Business
Corporation Act and Section 48-61-103 of the Tennessee Nonprofit Carparation Act.

2. As to Lynwood Utility Corporation, approval of the Plan by its shareholders is
required by Section 43-21-101, et seq., of the Tennessee Business Corporation Act, and the Plan
was duly approved by the affirmative vote of all of the votes entitled to be cast, thére being no

voting by voting group.

3. As to Berry’s Chapel Utility, Inc., which is the surviving corporation of the merger,
the Plan was duly approved by a unanimous vote of its board of directors. Berry’s Chapel Utility,
Inc. has no members; therefore, no vote by the corporation’s members was rcquired.

4,  These Articles of Merger shall not be effective upon filing by the Secretary of State,
but the delayed effective date and time they are to become effective, end the merger is to take
effect, is Septernber 1, 2010, at 12:00 a.m.

Dated this Wiﬁ day of Angust, 2010,

LYNWOOD UTILITY CORPORATION

2

[OeX7ES/ 1025200200 122 RTFfVer2)
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Page 2 of 32

Westlaw.
T.C. A. § 67-5-212 Page |

C
West's Tennessee Code Annotated Currentness
Title 67. Taxes and Licenses (Refs & Annos)
~g& Chapter 5. Property Taxes
g Part 2. Exemptions
=+ § 67-5-212. Property of religious, charitable, scientific or nonprofit educational institutions

(a)(1) There shall be exempt from property taxation the real and personal property, or any part of the real and
personal property, owned by any religious, charitable, scientific or nonprofit educational institution that is occu-
pied and actually used by the institntion or its officers purely and exclusively for carrying out one (1) or more of
the exempt purposes for which the institution was created or exists. There shall further be exempt from property
taxation the property, or any part of the property, owned by an exempt institution that is occupied and actually
used by another exempt institution for one (1) or more of the exemnpt purposes for which it was created or exists
under an arrangement in which the owning institution receives no more rent than a reasonably allocated share of
the cost of use, excluding the cost of capital improvements, debt service, depreciation and interest, as determ-
ined by the beard of equalization.

(2) In determining the exemption applicable to a post-secondary educational institution, there shall be a pre-
sumption that the entire original campus of an institution chartered before 1930 is an historical and integral en-
tity, and is exempt so long as no particular portion of such campus is used for nonexempt purposes.

(3)(A) The property of such institution shall not be exempt, if:

(i) The owner, or any stockholder, officer, member or employee of such institution shall receive or may be
lawfully entitled to receive any pecuniary profit from the operations of that property in competition with
like property owned by others that is not exempt, except reasonable compensation for services in effecting
one (1) or more of such purposes, or as proper beneficiaries of its strictly religious, charitable, scientific or
educational purposes; or

(ii) The organization thereof for any such avowed purpose be 2 guise or pretense for directly or indirectly
making any other pecuniary profit for such institution, or for any of its members or employees, or if it be
not in good faith organized or conducted exclusively for one (1) or more of these purposes.

(B) The real property of any such institution not so used exclusively for carrying out thereupon one (1) or
more of such purposes, but leased or otherwise used for other purposes, whether the income received there-
from be used for one (1) or more of such purposes or not, shall not be exempt; but, if a portion only of any lot
or building of any such institution is used purely and exclusively for carrying out thereupon one (1) or more of
such purposes of such institution, then such lot or building shall be so exempt only to the extent of the value
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of the portion so used, and the remaining or other portion shall be subject to taxation.

(4) No church shall be granted an exemption on more than one (1) parsonage, and an exempt parsonage may not
include within the exemption more than three (3) acres. :

(b)(1) Any owner of real or personal property claiming exemption under this section or § 67-5-207, § 67-5-213

or § 67-5-219 shall file an application for the exemption with the state board of equalization on a form pre-
scribed by the board, and supply such further information as the board may require to determine whether the
property qualifies for exemption. No property shall be exempted from property taxes under these sections, un-
less the application has been approved in writing by the board. A separate application shall be filed for each par-
cel of property for which exemption is claimed. An application shall be deemed filed on the date it is received

by the board or, if mailed, on the postmark date. The applicant shall provide a copy of the application with any
supporting materials to the assessor of property of the county in which the property is located. An application

for exemption pursuant to this section or any other section referring to these procedures shall be treated as an ap-
peal for purposes of § 67-5-1512. ‘

(2) The board shall make an initial determination granting or denying exemption through its staff designee, who
shall send written notice of the initial determination to the applicant and the assessor of property. Either the as-
sessor of property or the applicant may appeal the initial determination to the board and shall be entitled to a
hearing prior to any final determination of exemption. The assessor shall maintain on file copies of any ap-
proved applications. Upon approval of exemption, it is not necessary that the applicant reapply each year, but
the exemption shall not be transferable or assignable and the applicant shall promptly report to the assessor any
change in the use or ownership of the property that might affect its exempt status. The board may by rule impose
a fee for processing applications for exemption. Such fee shall not exceed one hundred twenty dollars ($120)
and shall be proportionate to the value of the property at issue. The total fees collected in any fiscal year shall
not exceed the cost of processing exemption applications in that fiscal year.

(3)(A) Any institution claiming an exemption under this section that has not previously filed an application for
and been granted an exemnption for a parcel must file an application for exemption with the state board of equal-
ization by May 20 of the year for which exemption is sought. If the application is approved, the exemption will
be effective as of January 1 of the year of application or as of the date the exempt use of such parcel began,
whichever is later. If application is made after May 20 of the year for which exemption is sought, but prior to the
end of the year, the application may be approved but will be effective for only a portion of the year determined
as follows:

' (i) If application is filed within thirty (30) days after the exempt use of the property began, exemption will
be effective as of the date the exempt use began or May 20, whichever is later; or

(if) If application is filed mnore than thirty (30) days after the exempt use began, the exemption will be ef-
fective as of the date of application.
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(B) If a religious institution acquires property that was duly exempt at the time of transfer from a transferor
who had previously been approved for a religious use exemption of the property, or if a religious institution
acquires property to replace its own exempt property, then the effective date of exemption shall be three (3)
years prior to the date of application, or the date the acquiring institution began to use the property for reli-
gious purposes, whichever is later. The purpose of this subdivision (b)(3) is to provide continuity of exempt
status for property transferred from one exempt religious institution to another in the specified circumstances.
For purposes of this subdivision (b)(3), property transferred by a lender following foreclosure shall be deemed

- to have been transferred by the foreclosed debtor, whether or not the property was assessed in the name of the
Tender during the lender's possession.

(4) All questions of exemption under this section shall be subject to review and final determination by the board;
provided, that any determination by the board is subject to judicial review by petition of certiorari to the appro-
priate chancery court. All other provisions of law notwithstanding, no property shall be entitled to judicial re-
view of its status under this statute, except as provided by the Uniform Administrative Procedures Act, compiled
in title 4, chapter 5, and only after the exhaustion of administrative reinedies as provided in this section.

(5) The state board of equalization may revoke any exemption approved under this section, if it determines that
the exemption was approved on the basis of fraud, misrepresentation or erroneous information, or that the cur-
rent owner or use of the property does not qualify for exemption. The executive secretary of the board tnay initi-
ate proceedings for revocation on the executive secretary's own motion or upon the written complaint of any per-
son upon a determination of probable cause. Revocation shall not be retroactive, unless the order of revocation
incorporates a finding of fraud or misrepresentation on the part of the applicant or failure of the applicant to give
notice of a change in the use or ownership of the property as required by this section.

(¢) As used in this section, “charitable institution” includes any nonprofit organization or association devoting
" its efforts and property, or any portion thereof, exclusively to the improvement of human rights and/or condi-
tions in the community.

(d)(1) The property, or any part thereof, owned by any religious, charitable, scientific or educational member-
ship nonprofit organization chartered by the United States congress shall not be denied exemption because ad-
ministrative, social or recreational activities of such organization are conducted thereon, where the activities are:

{A) Agencies for the advancemnent and enlargement of the purposes for which the organizations exist;

(B) In furtherance of the general purposes of such organization; or
(C) To promote the interest of its membership in such organizations.

(2) When property is owned by corporations organized for the exclusive purpose of holding title to property
for use of any organization that itself qualifies for such exemption from taxation under this subsection (d), only
such property of the corporation, or such parts thereof, as would be entitled to an exemption under this subsec-
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tion (d) if owned directly by such organization shall not be denied exemptions.

(3) The exemption of property or parts thereof under this subsection (d) shall be applicable only to such part of
the property on which such organization conducts admmlsiranve social or recreational activities, if it is less
than the entire property.

(¢)(1) There shall be exempt from property taxation the property of labor organizations exempted from the
payment of federal income taxes by the United States Internal Revenue Code (26 U.S.C. § 501(c)(5)), when such
property is not used for revenue producing profit, but is used by such organization for charitable or education-
al meetings; but, if part of the property is used for revenue producing profit, then the part so used shall not be
exempt from property taxation; provided, that the real property on which the building is situated shall be ex-
empt from property taxation.

(2) No such organization that discriminates against any person based upon race, sex, religious beliefs or national
origin shall be eligible for the property tax exemption authorized by subdivision (e)(1).

() There shall be exempt from property taxation the property or any part thereof of nonprofit artificial breed-
ing associations chartered under the provisions of the Tennessee Nonprofit Corporation Act, compiled in title
48, chapters 51-68.

(g)(1) In the case of property that is owned by any religious, charitable, scientific or educational institution
and on which such institution constructs improvements to be occupied and used by such institution or its officers
purely and exclusively for carrying out thereupon one (1) or more of the purposes for which the institution was
created or exists, the property, to the extent of the value of the improvements constructed thereon for these pur-
poses, shall be considered to be occupied and used by the institution or its officers purely and exclusively for the
stitution's purposes from and after, but not before, the commencement of the construction of the improvements
and to the extent of such value shall be exempt from taxation; provided, that, if the improvements upon comple-
tion are not so occupied and used, then no part of the value of the property shall be exempt from taxation during
the construction of the improvements.

(2) If upon completion of the improvements a portion thereof is not so used and occupied, such portmn shall not
be exempt from taxation during construction.

(3) If the improvements upon completion are not occupied and used by such institution or its officers for a peri-
od of ten (10} years, purely and exclusively for carrying out thereupon one (1) or more of the purposes for which
such institution was created or exists, the institution shall be liable for the full amount of property taxes that
would otherwise have been due and payable during the period of construction, plus penalties and interest as
provided in this title.

(4) Construction begun, and having the effect of activating the provisions of this subsection (g), shall be com-
pleted within five (5) years or the effect of this subsection (g) shall be null and void.
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(h) There shall be exempt fromn property taxation the property or any part thereof of fraternal organizations ex-
empted fromn the payment of federal income taxes by the United States Internal Revenue Code (26 U.S.C. §
501(c)), to the extent that such property is used not for revenue-producing profit, but directly, physically and ex-
clusively for religious, charitable, scientific and educational activities.

{i) There shall be exempt from property taxation the property, or any part thereof, of nonprofit county fair asso-
ciationis.

(j) There shall be exempt from property taxation the property or any pertion thereof containing one (1) residen-
tial dwelling located in a community park that is open to entry by the general public, if such dwelling is owned
by a nonprofit religious, charitable, educational or scientific organization that does not receive income from the
resident thereof, if such resident does not occupy the dwelling in lieu of a salary, and if such resident, by such
resident's presence, would discourage or prohibit damage or destruction by vandalism of the organization's prop-

erty.
(k) There shall be exempt from property taxation any property upon which a caretaket's dwelling is located, if:

(1) The dwelling is located upon land owned by a nonprofit member organization chartered by the United States
CONgTEss; '

(2) The land immediately swrrounding the dwelling is used by such organization for nonprofit religious, charit-
able, educational or scientific purposes; and '

(3) The caretaker's presence is required for the physical security of the users of the property as well as to dis-
courage or prohibit damage or destruction. of the organization's property by vandalism.

{D) The general assembly finds that public radio broadcasting serves a valid educational purpose so long as the
broadcaster holds an educational broadcast license issued by the federal communications commission; and,
‘therefore, that property, or any part thereof, owned by a public radio station that is an affiliate member of the
public broadcasting network, and that holds such a license, whether as a transferee, successor, or otherwise, of a
license formerly held by the public library board of any county having a metropolitan form of government, shall
be exempt from property taxation to the extent the property is used in a manner consistent with the license.

(m) The general assembly finds that public television broadcasting serves a valid educational purpose so long as
the broadcaster holds a noncommercial educational broadcast license issued by the federal communications
commission. Therefore, that property, or any part thereof, owned by a public television station that is an affiliate
member of the public broadcasting network, and that holds such license, whether as a transferee, successor, or
otherwise, of a license formerly held by the public school board of any county having a metropolitan form of
government shall be exempt from property taxation to the extent the property is used in a manner consistent with
the license.

© 2011 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.

https://web2 .Westlaw.com/print/printstream.aspx?sv=Sp1'it&prft:HTMLE&rs=WLW1 1.01... 2/15/2011




Page 7 0of 32

T.C. A. § 67-5-212 | ' Page 6

(n) There shall be exempt from property taxation the real and personal property, or any part thereof, that is
owned by a religious or charitable institution and that is occupied and used by such institution for a thrift shop;
provided, that:

(1) The institution is exempt from payment of federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Rev-
enue Code (26 U.S.C. § 501(c)(3));

(2)(A) The thrift shop is operated as a training venue for persons in need of occupational rehabilitation; or
(B) The thrift shop is operated primarily by volunteers;

(3) The inventory of the thrift shop is obtained by donation to the institution that owns and operates the shop;

(4) Goods are priced at levels generally ascribed to used property;

(5) Goods are given to persons whose financial situations preclude payment; and .

(6) The net proceeds of the thrift shop are used solely for the charitable purposes of the institution that owns and
operates the shop. '

(0) Land not necessary to support exempt structures or site improvements associated with exempt structures, in-
cluding land used for recreation, retreats or sanctuaries, shall not be eligible for exemption beyond a maximum
of one hundred (100) acres per county for each religious, charitable, scientific or nonprofit educational institu-
tion qualified for exemption pursuant to this section. For purposes of applying this limit, land owned by an ex-
empt institution shall be aggregated with land owned by related exempt institutions having common ownership
or control. Qualifying land in excess of the limit shall be classified as forest land upon application submitted
pursuant to § 67-5-1006, or as open space land upon application submitted pursuant to § 67-5-1007, and the ef-
fective date of the classification shall he the date the property might otherwise have qualified for exemption.

CREDIT(S)

1973 Pub.Acts, ¢. 226, § 5; 1974 Pub.Acts, ¢. 771, §§ 5to 7; 1974 Pub.Acts, c. 774, §§ 1, 2; 1975 Pub.Acts, c.
322, § 1; 1976 Pub.Acts, <. 670, §§ 1, 2; 1976 Pub.Acts, c. 849, § 1; 1977 Pub.Acts, ¢. 255, §§ 1, 2; 1977
Pub.Acts, ¢. 421, §§ 1 to 5; 1979 Pub.Acts, ¢. 22, § 1; 1981 Pub.Acts, c. 96, § 1; 1981 Pub.Acts, c. 218, § 1;
1981 Pub.Acts, c. 306, §§ 1, 2; 1982 Pub.Acts, c. 713, § 1; 1983 Pub.Acts, ¢. 460, § 1; 1984 Pub.Acts, c. 507, §
1; 1984 Pub.Acts, c. 651, § 1; 1984 Pub.Acts, c. 749, § 1; 1984 Pub.Acts, <. 766, § 1; 1984 Pub.Acts, c. 809, §
1; 1984 Pub.Acts, c. 832, § 4; 1985 Pub.Acts, c. 68, § 1; 1994 Pub.Acts, ¢. 541, §§ 2 to 8, eff. Jan. 1, 1995; 1997
Pub.Acts, c. 467, § 1, eff. June 13, 1997; 2000 Pub.Acts, c. 628, § 1, eff. April 5, 2000; 2000 Pub.Acts, c. 793, §
1, eff. May 23, 2000; 2000 Pub.Acts, ¢. 938, § 2, eff. June 21, 2000; 2000 Pub.Acts, ¢. 993, § 2, eff. June 28,
2000; 2002 Pub.Acts, ¢. 687, §§ 1, 2, eff. May 1, 2002; 2003 Pub.Acts, c. 251, § 1, eff. June 3, 2003; 2004
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Pub.Acts, ¢. 531, § 2, eff. April 14, 2004; 2004 Pub.Acts, c. 635, § 1, eff. May 10, 2004; 2004 Pub.Acts, c. 732,
§§ 1, 2, eff. May 24, 2004; 2005 Pub.Acts, c. 500, § 12, eff. June 22, 2005; 2006 Pub.Acts, c. 740, § 1, eff. May
23, 2006; 2006 Pub.Acts, c. 861, § 1, eff. June 5, 2006; 2007 Pub.Acts, c. 292, § 2, eff. May 30, 2007; 2008
Pub.Acts, c. 1104, §§ 2 to 4, eff. June 5, 2008; 2010 Pub.Acts, c. 1036, § 2, eff. June 11, 2010; 2010 Pub.Acts,
c. 1074, § 1, eff. June 21, 2010.

Formerly § 67-513.

HISTORICAL AND STATUTORY NOTES

Section 10 of the 1994 amendatory act provides: '

“This act shall take effect on January 1, 1995, the public welfare requiring it; provided, however, that this act
shall not be construed to terminate the tax-exempt status of any parcel of property on that date.”

1997 Pub.Acts, c. 467, § 2, provides:

“This act shall take effect upon becoming a law, the public welfare requiring it, and shall apply both to applica-
tions filed after its effective date and to applications for exemption which are pending or under appeal to the
State Board of Equalization on the effective date of this act.”

2000 Pub.Acts, c. 628, § 1 which expired July 1, 2000 added two sentences to the end of subsec. (b}(3) which
provided: “Notwithstanding the date of application, the exemption shall take effect up to eighteen (18) months
earlier than the date of application, where the application was submitted due to relocation by the applicant of a
use previously approved for exemption. In no event may the exemption in such cases date back earlier than the
date the property subject to the application began to be used for exempt purposes.”

2000 Pub.Acts, c. 628, § 2, provides:

“SECTION 2. This act shall take effect upon becoming a law, the public welfare requiring it, and shall apply to
applications for exemption pending or under appeal to the State Board of Equalization on its effective date, but
shall expire and be void and of no effect July 1, 2000.”

2000 Pub.Acts, c. 793, § 1 added provisions appearing as subsec. ().
2000 Pub.Acts, c. 793, § 2, provides:

“This act shall take effect upon becoming a law, the public welfare requiring it and in addition to prospective ap-
plication it shall apply to applications for exemption pending or under appeal at the State Board of Equalization
on the effective date of this act.”
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| OMB No. 1545-0047

Form 990 Return of Organization Exempt From Income Tax

Under section 501(c), 527, or 4947{a}{1} of the Internal Revenue Code {except black lung 2 @ 1 0
benefit trust or private foundation} Open to Public
Department of the Treasugy .
Intemal Revenue Service » The organization may have to use a copy of this return to satisfy state reporting requirements. Inspection
A For the 2010 calendar year, or tax year beginning , 2010, and ending + 20
B Check if applicable; C Name of organization N N D Employer identification number
] address change Doing Business As
D Name change Number and street jor P-C. box if mall is not delivered to street address) Roem/suite E Telephone number
D initial return
O terminated City or town, state o couniry, and ZIP + 4
[0 Amended retum G Gross receipts §
O Application pending | F Name and address of principal officer: Hia) Is this a group return for affiiates? ves [No
: Hib) Are all affiliates included? [ves O No
I Tax-exemnpt status: [L] 50109 [ sotie)( ) {insertno) [ ] 4047(@)(1 or [] 527 If “No,” attach a list. {see Instructions)
J  Website: b H(c) Group exemption number P
K Form of organization: [_] Gorporation || Trust [] Association [_] Other ] L Year of formation: | M State of legal domicile:
Summary
1  Briefly describe the organization’s mission or most significant activities:
£
% 2  Check this box » [] if the organization discontinued its operations ar disposed of more then 25%cF its net assets.,
g 3 Number of voting members of the governing body (Part VI, line 1a) . 3
@[ 4  Number of independent voting members of the governing body {Part VI, line 1b) 4
:‘E 5  Total number of individuals employed in calendar year 2010 {Part V., line2a) . . . . . 5
E 6  Total number of volunteers (estimate If necessary) . e e e e 6
7a Total unrelated business revenue from Part VHI, column (C) line 12 e e e e e e 7a
b Net unrelated business taxable income from Form 990-T, line34 . . . . . . . . . 7h
Pricr Year Current Year
o | 8 GContributions and grants (Part VI, fine 1h) .
g 9  Program service revenue (Part VI, line 2g) .
é 10  Investment income {Part VIil, column {A), lines 3, 4, and 7d)
11 Other revenue (Part Vill, column (A), lines 5, 8d, 8¢, 9¢, 10c, and 11g) .
12  Total revenue—add lines 8 through 11 {must equal Part VIIi, column (A), line 12)
13  Grants and similar amounts paid (Part IX, column {A), lines 1-3) .
14  Benefits paid to or for members (Part IX, column (A), line 4) .
w |15  Salaries, other compensation, employee benefits (Part IX, column {A}, lines 5-1 O)
2 | 16a Professional fundraising fees {Part iX, column {A), line 11e)
§ b Total fundraising expenses {Part iX, column {D), line 25) »
W47  Other expenses (Part IX, column (A}, ines 11a-11d, 111-24f) .
18  Total expenses. Add lines 13-17 (must equal Part IX, column (A), line 25)
19 Revenue less expenses. Subtract line 18 from line 12
‘5'§ Beginning of Current Year End of Year
85|20  Total assets (Part X, line 16}
ﬁ:é 21 Total liabllitles (Part X, line 26) .
=g| 2 Net assets or fund balances. Subtract line 21 from Ilne 20

Signature Block

Under penalties of perjury, | declare that | have examined this return, including accompanying schedwes and statements, and to the best of my knowledge and belief, it is
rue, correct, and complete. Declaration of preparer {other than officer} is based on all information of which preparer has any knowledge.

Sign } Signature of officer ) Date
Here
Type or print name and title

Paid Print/Type preparer’'s name Preparer's signature Date Check [ if PTIN
Preparer self-employed
Use Only | firm'sname ¥ : Firm's EIN »

Firm's address » Phone no.
May the IRS discuss this return with the preparer shown above? {seeinstructions) . . . . . . . . . . . . [Oyes[]No

For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the separate instructions. Cat. Mo, 11282Y Form 990 (2010}
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ET4Il] Statement of Program Service Accomplishments

Check if Schedule O contains a response to any question inthis Partil . . . . . . . . . . . . . . []

1 Briefly describe the organization’s mission:

2 Did the organization undertake any significant program services during the year which were not listed on the
prior Form 990 or 990-EZ7 . . . . . . . . . . . L. o 0o e e e e [1Yes [1No
if “Yes,” describe these new services on Schedule O.

3 Did the organization cease conducting, or make significant changes in how it conducts, any program
services? . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. ... .. TJlYes [No
K “Yes," describe these changes on Schedule O.

4  Describe the exempt purpose achievements for each of the organization's three largest program services by expenses. Section
501(c)(3} and 501{(c)(4} organizations and section 4947(a)(1} trusts are required to report the amount of grants and allocations to
others, the total expenses, and revenue, if any, for each program service reported.

4a (Code:  ){Expenses$ including grants of$ )J{Revenue$ )

4b (Code: ~  )(Expenses$_ ____________includinggrantsof$ J(Revenue$ )

4c (Code: J(Expenses$ including grantsof$ =~ J(Revenue$ )

4d Other program services. (Describe in Schedule O.)

{(Expenses $ . including grants of $ } (Revenue $ )
4e Total program service expenses »

Form 990 (2010
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[EXEY  Checkiist of Required Schedules

1

10

11

— @

12a

13
14a

15

16

17

18

19

20 5
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Is the organization described in section 501(0){3) or 4947(&)(1) {other than a private foundation}? /f “Yes,”
complete Schedule A .

Is the organization required to complete Schedule B, Sohedule of Contributors? (see instructions) .
Did the organization engage in direct or indirect political campaign activities on behalf of or in opposltéon to
candidates for public office? If “Yes,” complete Schedule C, Part | .

Section 501(c)(3) organizations. Did the organization engage in lobbying activities, or have a section 501 (h)
etection in effect during the tax year? If “Yes,” complete Schedule C, Part il .

Is the organization a section 501(c){4), 501(c)(5), or 501(c}{6} organization that receives membershlp dues,
assessments, or similar amounts as defined In Revenue Procedure 98-197 Jf “Yes,” complete Schedule G,
Partifi .
Did the organization maintain any donor advised funds or any similar funds or accounts where donors have
the right to provide advice on the distribution or investment of amounts in such funds or accounts? If “Yes,”
complete Schedule D, Part]. . e e e e e
Did the organization receive or hold a conservation easerment, lncludmg easements to preserve open space,
the environment, historic land areas, or historic structures? if “Yes,” complete Schedule D, Part |}

Did the organization maintain collections of works of art, historical treasures, or other similar assels? If “Yes,”
complete Schedule D, Partifl . . . . . .

Did the organization report an amount in Part X Ilne 21;serve as a custodaan for amounts not Ilsted in Part
X; or provide credit counseling, debt management, credit repair, or debt negotiation services? If “Yes,”
complete Schedule D, Part IV e e e e e e e e e e e e .

Did the organization, directly or through a related organization, hold assets in term, permanent, or quasi-
endowments? If “Yes,” complete Schedule D, Part V P e e

if the organization’s answer to any of the following questions Is "Yee " then complete Schedule D, Parts VI
ViI, VI, IX, or X as applicable.

Did the organization report an amount for land, buildings, and equipment in Part X, line 107 If “Yes,”
complete Schedule D, Part V{ . . .

Did the organization report an amount for investments— other securities ln Part X Ime 12 that is 5% ar more
of its total assets reported in Part X, line 167 If “Yes,” complete Schedule D, Part VIi . .
Did the organization report an amount for investments—program refated in Part X, line 13 that is 5% or more
of its total assets reported in Part X, line 167 If “Yes,” complete Schedule D, Part Vil .

Did the organization report an amount for other assets in Part X, line 15 that is 5% or more of its total assets
reported in Part X, line 167 If "Yes,” complete Schedufe D, Part IX . .

Did the organization report an amount for other liabilities in Part X, line 25? ff *Yes,” complete Schedule D, Part X
Did the organization’s separate or consolidated finandial staterments for the tax year include a footnote that addresses
the organization’s lability for uncertain tax positions under FIN 48 (ASC 740)? If “Yes,” complete Schedule D, Part X

Did the organization cbtain separate, independent audited financial statements for the tax year? If “Yes,” complete
Schedule D, Parts Xi, Xil, and XIil

Was the organization included in consolidated, |ndependent audlted ﬁnan(:lal sta%ements for the tax year’? lf "Yes and if
the organization answered "No" to line 12a, then completing Schedute D, Parts X!, XIl, and Xl is optional

Is the organization a school described in section 170(b)(1)(A)(il)? i “Yes,” complete Schedule E

Did the organization maintain an office, employees, or agents outside of the United States?

Did the organization have aggregate revenues or expenses of more than $10,000 from grantmaking, fundralemg,
business, and program service activities outside the United States? If “Yes,” complete Schedufe F, Parts | and IV
Did the organization report on Part IX, column (A}, line 3, more than $5,000 of grants or assistance to any
organization or entity located outside the United States? if “Yes,” complete Schedule F, Parts il and IV .

Did the organization report on Part IX, column (&), line 3, more than $5,000 of aggregate grants or assistance
to individuals located outside the United States? If “Yes,” complete Schedule F, Parts I and IV

Did the organization report a total of more than $15,000 of expenses for professional fundraising services on
Part X, column {A}, lines 6 and 11e? If “Yes,” complete Schedule G, Part | (see instructions)

Did the organization report more than $15,000 total of fundraising event gross income and contributions on
Part VIll, lines 1c¢ and Ba? If “Yes,” complete Schedule G, Part il . .

Did the organization report more than $15,000 of gross income from gaming activities on Part VI, line 9a?

If “Yes,” complete Schedule G, Part lli

Did the organization operate one or more hospitals? l'f “Yes, o complete Schedule H

If “Yes” to line 20a, did the organization attach its audited financial statements to this return? Note. Some
Form 990 filers that operate one or more hospitals must attach audited financial statements {see instructions)

—

11b

11¢

11d

11e

11f

12a

12h

13

14a

14b

15

16

17

18

19

20a

20b
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Form 990 {2010}
SENRNE  Checklist of Required Schedules {continued)

21

22

23

24a

26

27

30

3

32

37

Page 4

Did the organization report more than $5,000 of grants and other assistance to governments and organizations
in the United States on Part IX, column (&), line 17 If “Yes,” complete Schedule i, Parts  and

Did the organization report more than $5,000 of grants and other assistance to individuals in the United States
on Part X, column {&), line 2? If “Yes,” complete Schedule I, Parts | and ill

Did the organization answer “Yes” to Part VII, Section A, line 3, 4, or 5 about compensatlon of the
organization’s current and former officers, directors, trustees, key employees, and highest compensated
employees? If “Yes,” complete Schedule J .

Did the organization have a tax-exempt bond issue with an outstanding prlnc;pal amount of more than
$100,000 as of the last day of the year, that was issued after December 31, 20027 If “Yes,” answer lines 24b
through 24d and complete Schedule K. If “No,” go to line 25 .

Did the organization invest any proceeds of tax-exempt bonds beyond a temporary period exception? .
Did the organization maintain an escrow account other than a refunding escrow at any time during the year
to defease any tax-exempt bonds?

Did the organization act as an “on behalf of” issuer for bonds outstanding at any time during the year’?
Section 501 (c)(3) and 501(c}{4) organizations. Did the organization engage in an excess benefit transaction
with a disqualified person during the year? If "Yes,” complete Schedule L, Part |

Is the organization aware that it engaged in an excess benefit transaction with a disqualified persen in a prior
year, and that the transaction has not been reported on any of the organization's prior Forms 990 or 990-EZ?
f "Yes,” complete Schegule L, Part | . . .
Was a loan to or by a current or former officer, dlrector trustee, key employee, h1ghly compensated employee or
disgualified person outstanding as of the end of the organization’s tax year? if “Yes,” complete Schedule L, Part if

Did the organization provide a grant or other assistance to an officer, director, frustee, key employee,
substantial contributor, or a grant selection committee member, or to a person related to such an individual?
If “Yes,” compiete Scheduie L, Part Il .

Was the organization a party to a business transaction wrth one of the foilowmg partlee (see Schedule L,
Part IV instructions for applicable filing threshoids, conditions, and exceptions):

A current or former officer, director, trustee, or key employee? If “Yes,” complete Schedufe L, Part IV

A family member of a current or former officer, director, trustee, or key employee? if “Yes,” complete
Schegule L, Partlv. . . . .

An entity of which a current or former officer, dlrector trustee, or key employee (or a famlly member thereot)
was an officer, director, trustee, or direct or indirect owner? If “Yes,” complete Schedufe L, PartiVv .

Did the organization receive more than $25,000 in non-cash contributions? If “Yes,” complete Schedule M
Did the organization receive contributions of art, historical treasures, or other similar assets, or quaiifled
conservation contributions? if “Yes,” complete Schedule M

Did the organlzatlon lqu|date terminate, or dissolve and cease operatlone? If “‘r’es, complete Schedu!e N,
Part |

Did the organlzatlon sell exchange d|spose of or tranefer more than 25% of EtS net assete? lf “Yes
complete Schedule N, Part If

Did the organization own 100% of an entity d|sregarded as eeparate from the organlzatron under Regulatlons
sections 301.7701-2 and 301.7701-37 If “Yes,” complete Schedufe R, Part | .

Was the organization related to any tax—exempt or taxable entity? /f “Yes,” complete Schedule R, Pan‘s i, m
NoandV,linet . . . . . . . . .

Is any related organization a controlled entlty within the meaning of section 512(b)(‘l 3)‘? .

Did the organization receive any payment from or engage in any transaction with a

controlled entity within the meaning of section 512(b)(1 3)?7 If “Yes,” complete Schedule R,

PartV, line2 . . . . . e e OYes [ONo
Section 501{c)(3} orgamzatlons. Did the orgamzataon make any transfers to an exempt non-charitable
related organization? If “Yes,” complete Schedule R, Part V, line 2 .

Did the organization conduct more than 5% of its activities through an entity that is not a related organization
and that is treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes? If “Yes,” complete Schedule A,
Part VI .

Did the organization complete Schedute 0] and provrde explanatlons in Schedule O for Part VI lanes 11 and
19?7 Note. All Form 990 filers are required to complete Schedule O .

21

Yes

No

22

23

24a

24b

24c

24d

25a

25b

26

28b

28c

30

3

32

37

38
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Form 990 2010)
IZXAJ Statements Regarding Other IRS Filings and Tax Compliance

Check if Schedule O contains a response to any question in this Part V

1a
b
c

2a

b

3a
b
4a

5a

6a

[y =2

Ta - o0 Q

12a

13

14a

Enter the number reported in Box 3 of Form 1096. Enter -0- if not applicable 1a

Enter the number of Forms W-2G included in line 1a. Enter -0- if not applicable . 1b

Did the organization comply with backup withholding rules for reportable payments to vendors and
reportable gaming {gambling} winnings to prize winners?

Enter the number of employees reported on Form W-3, Transmnttal of Wage and Tax
Statements, filed for the calendar year ending with or within the year covered by thisreturn | 2a

If at least one is reported on line 2a, did the organization file all required federal employment tax returns?
Note. If the sum of lines 1a and 2a is greater than 250, you may be required to e-file. (see instructions)

Did the organization have unrelated business gross income of $1,000 or mere during the year?

If “Yes,” has it filed a Form 990-T for this year? /f "No,” provide an explanation in Schedule O .

At any time during the calendar year, did the organization have an interest in, or a signature or other author:ty
over, a financial account in a foreign country (such as a bank account, securties account, or other financial
account)? . e e e e

if “Yes," enter the name of the foreign country: »

See instructions for fliing requirements for Form TD F 90-22.1, Report of Foreign Bank and Financial Accounts.
Was the organization a party tc a prohibited tax shelter transaction at any time during the tax year? .

Did any taxable party notify the organization that it was or is a party to a prohibited tax shelter transaction?

i “Yes” to line ba or 5b, did the organization file Form 8886-T7? .

Does the organization have annual gross receipts that are normally greater than $1 00 000 and dld the
organization solicit any contributions that were not tax deductible? .

i “Yes,"” did the organization include with every solicitation an express statement that such contrlbutions or
gifts were not tax deductible? .

Organizations that may receive deduct:ble contnbutlons under sectlon 170(c)

Did the organization receive a payment in excess of $75 made partly as a contribution and partly for goods
and services provided to the payor? . e e e e e e e e e e .

if “Yes,” did the organization notify the donor of the value of the goods or services prowded? .

Did the organization sell, exchange, or otherwise dispose of tangible personal property for which it was
required to file Form 82827 . - c e

i “Yes,” indicate the number of Forms 8282 filed durlng the year .
Did the organization receive any funds, directly or indirectly, to pay premiums on a personal benefit contract?
Did the organization, during the year, pay premiums, directly or indirectly, on a personal benefit contract? .

If the organization recelved a contribution of qualified intellectual property, did the organization file Form 8899 as required?
If the organization received a contribution of cars, boats, airplanes, or other vehicles, did the organization file a Form 1098-C?
Sponscring organizations maintaining donor advised funds and section 509(a}(3) supporting
organizations. Did the supporting organization, or a donor advised fund maintained by a sponscring
organization, have excess business holdings at any time during the year?

Sponsoring organizations maintaining donor advised funds.

Did the organization make any taxable distributions under section 49667 .

Did the organization make a distribution to a donor, donor advisor, or related person’?

Section 501(c)}(7) organizations. Enter;

5b
5c

Initiation fees and capital contributions included on Part VIil, line 12 10a
Gross receipts, included on Form 990, Part Vili, line 12, for public use of club facrhtles 10b
Section 501{c)(12) organizations. Enter:

Gross income from members or shareholders . . 11a
Gross income from other sources (Do not net amounts due or pa]d to other sources
against amounts due or recelved from themy} . 11b

Section 4947(a){1) non-exempt charitable trusts. Is the organlzatlon flilng Form 990 in lieu of Form 10417

If “Yes,” enter the amount of tax-exempt interest received or accrued during the year .
Section 501{c){29) qualified nonprofit health insurance issuers,
Is the organization licensed 1o issue qualified health plans in more than one state??

12b

Note. See the instructions for additional information the organization must report on Schedule O

Enter the amount of reserves the organization is required to maintain by the states in which

the organization is ficensed to issue qualified health plans 13b

Enter the amount of reserves on hand . 13c ;
Did the organization receive any payments for lndoor tannang services durlng the tax year’) . 14a
Y "Yes," has it filed a Form 720 to report these payments? i "No," provide an explanation in Schedule O 14b

Form 990 (2010}




Form 980 (2010} Page 6
Governance, Management, and Disclosure For each “Yes™ response to lines 2 through 7b below, and for a
“No™ response to line 8a, 8b, or 10b below, describe the circumstances, processes, or changes in Schedule
0. See instructions.
Check if Schedule O contains a response to any questioninthisPartvl . . . . . . . . . . . . . . []

Section A. Governing Body and Management

1a Enter the number of voting members of the governing body at the end of the tax year .
b Enter the number of voting members included in line 1a, above, who are independent -
2 Did any officer, director, trustee, or key employee have a family relationship or a business relationship with ¢
any other officer, director, trustee, or key employee? . . . . ' 2
Did the organization delegate control over management duties customarlly performed by or under the dzrect
supervision of officers, directors or trustees, or key employees to a management company or other person? . 3
Did the organization make any significant changes to its governing documents since the prior Form 990 was filed? 4
Did the organization become aware during the year of a significant diversion of the organization’s assets? . 5
Does the organization have members or stockholders? . 6
a Does the organization have members, stockhoiders, or other persons who may elect one or more members
of the governing body? . e e e e e e e e e
b Are any decisions of the governing body subject to approval by members, stockholders, or other persons?
8 Did the organization contemporanecusly document the meetings held or written actions undertaken during
the year by the following:
a The governing body? . .
b Each committee with authority to act on behalf of the governlng body’v' .
9 Is there any officer, director, trustee, or key employee listed in Part VII, Section A, who cannot be reached at

1~ ]

~N & G0 B

the organization’s malling address? If “Yes,” provide the names and addresses in Schedule O. . . . . 9
Section B. Policies (This Section B requests information about policies not required by the Internal Reventie Code.)
Yes [ No
10a Does the organization have local chapters, branches, or affiliates? . . . 10a
b If “Yes,” does the organization have written policies and procedures govermng the actlvrtses of such
chapters, affiliates, and branches to ensure their operations are consistent with those of the organization? . 10b
11a Has the organization provided a copy of this Form 990 to all members of its governing body before filing the
form? . . . . c e 11a
b Describe in Schedule O the process, if any, used by the organrzataon to review thls Form 990,
12a Does the organization have a written conflict of interest policy? if “No,” go to line 13 . . . . 12a
b Are officers, directors or trustees, and key employees required to disclose annually interests that cou!d give
risetoconflicts? . . . . . . . . . e I P
¢ Does the organization regularly and conslstently monitor and enforce compliance with the policy? /f “Yes,”
describe in Schedufe O how thisisdone. . . . e e e e e e 12¢

13  Does the organization have a writien whistleblower polloy'? . .
14  Does the organization have a writien document retention and destruction pollcy’? . .
15 Did the process for detemmining compensation of the following persons include a review and approval by
independent persons, comparability data, and contemporanecus substantiation of the deliberation and decision?
a The organization’s GEQ, Executive Director, or top management official . . . . . . . . . . . . 15a
b Other officers or key employees of the organization . . . e e e e 15b
If “Yes” to fine 15a or 15b, describe the process in Schedule 0. (See |nstructlons) G
16a Did the organization invest in, contribute assets to, or participate in a joint venture or ssmllar arrangement
with a taxable entity during the year? . e e e e e e e
b If “Yes,” has the organization adopted a written policy or procedure requiring the organization to evaluate its
participation in joint venture arrangements under applicable federal tax iaw, and taken steps to safeguard the
organization’s exempt status with respect to such arrangements? .o
Section C. Disclosure ‘
17  List the states with which a copy of this Form 990 Is required to be filed »
18  Section 6104 requires an organization to make its Forms 1023 {or 1024 if applicable), 990, and 99C-T (501(c){3)s only} available
for public inspection. indicate how you make these available. Check all that apply.
1 Own website [] Another’s website [ Upon request
19  Describe in Schedule O whether (and if so, how), the organization makes its governing documents, conflict of interest policy,
and financial statements available to the public.
20  State the name, physical address, and telephone number of the persen who possesses the books and records of the
organization: »

Farm 990 (2010)




Form 990 (2010} Page T
Compensation of Officers, Directors, Trustees, Key Employees, Highest Gompensated Empioyees,
and Independent Contractors
Check if Schedule O contains a response to any questioninthisPartvVil . . . . . . . . . . . . . . [
Section A. Officers, Directors, Trustees, Key Employees, and Highest Compensated Employees
1a Complete this table for all persons required to be listed. Report compensation for the calendar year ending with or within the
organization’s tax year.

» List all of the organization’s current officers, directors, trustees (whether individuals or organizations), regardless of amount of
compensation. Enter -0- in columns (D), {E), and (F} if no compensation was paid.

» List alt of the organization’s current key employees, if any. See instructions for definition of “key employee.”

s List the organization’s five current highest compensated employees (cther than an officer, director, trustee, or key employee)
who received reportable compensation {Box & of Form W-2 and/or Box 7 of Form 1099-MISC) of more than $100,000 from the
organization and any related organizations.

» List alf of the organization’s former officers, key employees, and highest compensated employees who received more than
$100,000 of reportable compensation from the organization and any related organizations.

e List all of the organization’s former directors or trustees that received, in the capacity as a former director or trustee of the
organization, more than $10,000 of reportable compensation from the organization and any related organizations.

List persons in the following order: individual trustees or directors; institutional trustees; officers; key employees; highest
compensated employees; and former such persons.
[C1 Check this box if neither the organization nor any related organization compensated any current officer, director, or trustee.

A (B) {© D) ] 1}
Name and Title Average Position {check all that appiy) Reportable Reportable Estimated
hours per —T = campensation |compensaticn fram amount of
waek i‘a g g ‘?;:: %‘%—; én from related ather
{describe é'a E g @ g & g the organizations compensation
hoursfor | 25 | o g_ g0 | 7] organization | (W-2/1099-MISC) from the
related L K] 5 (W-2/1099-MISC) organization
organizations _ﬁ é" 3 Q and related
in Schedule e % z arganizations
0) [ g}
(=}
U]
{2)
3)
{4
{5)
{6)
{7
{8)
9)
(10)
{11)
{12)
(13)
{14
{15)
{16) L

Form 990 (2010)




Form 290 (2010} Page 8
ARl Section A. Officers, Directors, Trustees, Key Employvees, and Highest Compensated Employees (continued)

A (B} () (D) (E) F}
Name and title Average Position (check alf that apply) Reportahle Reportable Estimated
hours per T @ compensation jcompensation from amount of
week o ﬁ g 5? g% g from related other
(describe | T E g 2|22 g the organizations compensation
hours for %5 g -_g_ &5 | | organization (W-2/1099-MiSC) from the
refated S| B ] 5 (W-2/1099-MISC} organization
organizations] & g 2 E] and related
in Schedule ola @ organizations
o} & 3
(=%
{17)
(18)
{19)
(20)
1)
(22)
(23)
(24)
(25)
(26)
{27}
(28)
1b Sub-total . . . . . A &
¢ Total from continuation sheets to PartVI! SecttonA A &
d Total (add lines thandic). . . . . . .-

2 Total number of individuals (including but not hmated to those listed above} who received more than $100,000 in
reportable compensation from the organization »

3 Did the organization list any former officer, director or trustee, key employee, or highest compensated
employee on line 1a? If “Yes,” complete Schedule J for such individual

4  For any individual listed on iine 1a, is the sum of reportable compensation and other compensation from the
otrganization and related organizaiions greater than $150,0007 /f “Yes,” compiete Schedule J for such
individual .

5 Did any person listed on Ilne 1a receive or accrue compensation from any unreiated organlzatton or snd;wdual
for services rendered to the organization? If “Yes,” complete Schedule J for such person

Section B. Independent Contractors

1  Compilete this table for your five highest compensated independent contractors that received more than $100,000 of

compensation from the organization.

] {B) ‘ ()

Name and business address Description of services Compensation

2 Total number of Independent contracters (including but not limited to those listed above) who
received more than $100,000 in compensation from the organization ™

Form 990 (2010}
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Page 9

Gontributions, gifts, grants |
and other similar amounts

= &

Statement of Revenue

Federated campaigns . . .
Membership dues .
Fundraising events . . . .

Related organizations . . .

Government grants (contributions}
Al other contributions, gifts, grants,
and similar amounts not included above

1a

1b

1¢

1d

1e

1f

Noncash contzibutions inciuded in fines 1a-1%: §

Total. Addlinesfa-1f . . . . . . . . . P

Program Service Revenue

tﬂ"'tbﬂ.ﬂﬂ'k),

Business Code

(A)
Total revenue

B}
Related or
exempt
function

revenue

[C) D)
Urrelated Revenue
business excluded from tax

under sectiohs
512,513, or 514

fevenue

Al} other program service revenue .

Total. Add lines2a-2f . . . . . . . . >

6a

]

7a

8a

Other Revenue

Investment income {including dividends, interest,
and other similaramounts} . . . . . . . »

Income from investment of tax-exempt bond proceeds »

Rovalties e e .
tii} Personal

‘(i) F;eal }

Gross Rents . .
Less: rental expenses
Rental income or {|0ss)
Netrental incomeor{loss) . . . . . . . W&
Gross amount from sales of ) Securities (i) Other
assets other than inventory
Less: cost or other basis
and sales expenses
Gain or (loss) . .
Netgainorfloss) . . . . . . . . . . P

Gross income from fundraising
everts {not including $

of contributions reportéa on line 1c}.
SeoPartV,line18 . . . . . a
Less:directexpenses . . . . b
Net income or (Joss) from fundraisingevents . P
Gross income from gaming activities.
SesPartlV,line18 . . . . . ga
Less: directexpenses . . . . b
Net income or {loss) from gaming activities . . »
Gross sales of inventory, less
returns and allowances . . . g
Less:costofgoodssold . . . b
Net income or {loss) from sales of inventory . . »

Miscellaneous Revenue Business Code

11a

o Q0

12

All otherrevenue . . . . .

Total. Add lines 11a—11d . . . . . . . .
Total revenue. See instructions. . . . . .

Form 990 (2010}




Form 990 (2010)
=V Statement of Functional Expenses

Section 501{c)(3} and 501{c)d} organizations must complete all columns.
All other organizations must complete column (A) but are not required to complete columns {B), (C}, and (D).

Page 10

Do not include amounts reported on lines 6b,
7h, 8b, 9b, and 10b of Part Vili.

{(A) B C} {D}
Total expenses Program service Management and Fundraising
. expenses general expense

1  Grants and other assistance to governments and
organizations in the U.S. See Part IV, line 21 .
2 Grants and other assistance to individuals in
the U.S. See Part IV, line 22 .
3  Grants and other assistance to govemments,
organizations, and individuals outside the
U.S. See Part IV, lines 16 and 16
4  Benefits paid to or for members
5 Compensation of current officers, dzrectors
trustees, and key employees
6  Compensation not included above, to dlsquallfled
persons (as defined under section 4958(f){1)) and
persons described in section 4958(c)(34B)
7  Other salaries and wages
8  Pension plan contributions (include sectlon 401(k)
and section 403{b) employer confributions}
9  Other employee benefits .
10 Payroll taxes . .
11 Fees for services {hon- employees)
a Management
b Legal
¢ Accounting
d Lobbying .
e Professional fundraastng services. See Pan IV Ilne 17
f Investment management fees
g Other
12  Advertising and promotion
13  Office expenses
14  Information technology
15 Royalties
16  Occupancy
17 Travel
18  Payments of travel or entertainment expenses
for any federal, state, or local public officials
19  Conferences, conventions, and meetings
20 Interest ..
21 Payments to affiliates .
22  Depreciation, depletion, and amort;zatlon
23  Insurance . . e
24  (Other expenses. ltemize expenses not covered
above {List miscellaneous expenses in line 24f. If
line 24f amount exceeds 10% of line 25, column
{A) amount, list line 24f expenses on Schedule O.)
a
b
c
d ——
e
f Al other expenses
25  Total functional expenses. Add lines 1 through 24f
26 Joint costs. Chack here P[] if following

SOP 98-2 {ASG 958-720). Complete this line
only if the organization reported in column
(B) joint costs from a combined educational
campaign and fundraising solicitation

Form 990 (2010}
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Balance Sheet

Page 11

(A) {B)
Beginning of year End of year
1 Cash—non-interest-bearing 1
2  Savings and temporary cash investmenis 2
3 Pledges and grants receivable, net 3
4  Accounts receivable, net . 4
5 Receivables from current and former offtcers directors trustees key
employees, and highest compensated employees. Complete Part Il of
Schedule L
6 Receivables from other disqualified persens (as defined under section
4958(f)(1)), persons described in section 4958(c}(3}B), and contributing
employers and sponsoring organizations of section 501{c)}{8) voluntary e
n employees' beneficiary organizations (see instructions})
f
#| 7 Notes and loans receivable, net
< 8 Inventories for sale or use .
9  Prepaid expenses and deferred charges
10a Land, buildings, and equipment: cost or
other basis. Complete Part VI of Schedule D 104
b Less: accumulated depreciation . . . . 10b
11 Investments—publicly traded securities
12  Investments—other securities. See Part IV, line 11
13  Investmenis—program-related. See Part IV, line 11 .
14  Intangible assets
15  Other assets. See Part {V, ime 11 .o
16  Total assets. Add fines 1 through 15 (must equal line 34)
17  Accounts payable and accrued expenses
18  Grants payable .
19  Deferred revenue .
20 Tax-exempt bond liabilities .
@ |21  Escrow or custodial account lability. Comp!ete Part EV of Schedule D
£ |22 Payables to current and former officers, directors, trustees, key
% employees, highest compensated employees, and disqualified persons.
Jar Complete Part Il of Schedule L e e e
23 Secured mortgages and notes payable to unrelated third parties
24  Unsecured notes and loans payable to unrelated third parties
25 Other liabilities. Complete Part X of Schedule D
26 Total liabilities. Add lines 17 through 25 .
Organizations that follow SFAS 117, check here » |:| and comple‘te
§ lines 27 through 29, and lines 33 and 34.
5127 Unrestricted net assets .
E 28 Temporarily restricted net assets .
'E 29  Permanently restricted net assets .
7 Organizations that do not follow SFAS 117 check here P |:| and
5 complete lines 30 through 34.
130 Capital stock or trust principal, or current funds
ﬁ 31 Paid-in or capital surplus, or land, building, or equipment fund
:5 32 Retained earnings, endowment, accumulated income, or other funds .
2133 Total net assets or fund balances .
34  Total liabilities and net assets/fund balances

Form 990 2010}




Form 840 (2010}
Part XI Reconciliation of Net Assets

Page 12

Check if Schedule O contains a response to any question in this Part X

A0k ON =

Total revenue {must equal Part VIll, column (A}, line 12) .

Total expenses {must equal Part X, column (A), line 25}

Revenue less expenses. Subtract line 2 from line 1

Net assets or fund balances at beginning of year {must equal Part X Eme 33 column (A))

B W(N -

Other changes in net assets or fund balances {explain in Schedule O} .

Net assets or fund balances at end of year. Combine lines 3, 4, and 5 (must equai PartX Elne 33
coumn(B) . . . . . . 6

=T dill  Financial Statements and Reportmg

Check if Schedule O contains a response to any question in this Part Xl

2a

3a

Accounting method used to prepare the Form 990:  [] Gash [] Accrua! [ ] Other

If the organization changed its method of accounting from a prior year or checked “Other,” explain in

Schedule Q.

Were the organization’s financial statements compiled or reviewed by an independent accountant? .

Were the organization’s financial statements audited by an independent accountant? .

It “Yes" to line 2a or 2b, does the organization have a committee that assumes respensibiiity for oversnght
of the audit, review, or compilation of its financial statements and selection of an independent accountant?
If the organization changed either its oversight process or selection process during the tax year, explain in
Schedule O.

If “Yes” to line 2a or 2b, check a box below te indicate whether the financial statements for the year were
issued on a separate basis, consoclidated basis, or both:

[] Separate basis [] Consolidated basis [ ] Bath consclidated and separate basis

As a result of a federal award, was the organization required to undergo an audit or audits as set forth in
the Single Audit Act and OMB Circular A-1337.

if “Yes,” did the organization undergo the required audit or audlts'? it the orgamzatlon dad not undergo the
required audit or audits, explain why in Schedule O and describe any steps taken to undergo such audits

3b

Form 990 (2010)
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CHAPTER 52
NOT-FOR-PROFIT ORGANIZATIONS
CONTENTS
Qverview 52.01
Background _ 52.02
Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations 52.03
Financial Statements Required 52.03
‘Statement of Financial Position 52.04
Statement of Activities - 52.06
- IMustration of Format of Statement of Financial :

Position ’ 52.06
Illustration of Format of the Statement of Activities 52.07
Statement of Cash Flows 52.10

Depreciation 52.10
Contributions Received and Made 52.11
Contributions Received 52.12

Contribution Standards Applicable Only to

Not-for-Profit Entities 52.13

Contributions Made . 52,14
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Definitions and Applicability 52.16
Measurement and Recognition Standards 52.18
Disclosure Standards 52.20
Accounting for Transfers of Assets 52.20
Related 2003 Miller GAAP Guide Chapters 52.21

OVERVIEW

Historically, accounting principles for not-for-profit organizationshave
been fragmented into industry-specific pronouncements prepared by

52.01




52.02 Not-for-Profit Organizations

the AICPA and other groups. The result of this fragmentation is that
the practices followed by the various types of organizations were
_inconsistent. The FASB has undertaken a broad project to address
many of these inconsistencies and to attempt to improve the account-
ing and reporting of not-for-profit entities.

GAAP for not-for-profit organizations are found in the following
pronouncements:

FAS-93 Recognition of Depreciation by Not-for-Profit Or-
ganizations :

FAS-99 Deferral of the Effective Date of Recognition of De-
preciation by Not-for-Profit Organizations

FAS-116  Accounting for Contributions Received and Contri-
butions Made

FAS-117  Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations

FAS-124  Accounting for Certain Investments Held by Not-
for-Profit Organizations

FAS-136  Transfer of Assets to a Not-for-Profit Organization
or Charitable Trust That Raises or Holds Contribu-
tions for Others

BACKGROUND

Prior to the issuance of FAS-93, the FASB and its predecessors did
not provide guidance on the subject of accounting for not-for-profit
organizations. The primary sources of GAAP for these entities were
contained in the following AICPA Audit Guides and Statements of
Position, such as the following;:

e Audits of Colleges and Universities
 Audits of Voluntary Health and Welfare Organizations (1574)

e SOP 78-10, Accounting Principles and Reporting Practices of
Certain Non-Profit Organizations (1978)

e Audits of Providers of Health Care Services (1990)

FAS-93 extends the provisions of paragraph 5 of APB-12 (Omnibus
Opinion—1967) to not-for-profit organizations, requiring disclosure
of information about depreciable assets and depreciation (FAS-93,
par. 2). FAS-93 also supersedes (4) those sections of the College and
University Audit Guide that made depreciation optional and (b) SOP
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78-10, which exempted certain long-lived tangible assets from depre-
ciation (FAS-93, par. 3).

FAS-116 and FAS-117 provide for significant changes in the stan-
dards for accounting for contributions received and made by all enti-
ties, as well as for the format and content of financial statements of ail
not-for-profit organizations. Accordingly, these two Statements super-
sede all inconsistent portions of the above AICPA Audit Guides and
SOP 78-10. FAS-124 establishes standards of financial accounting
and reporting for equity investments with readily determinable fair
values and for all investments in debt securities.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF
NOT-FOR-PROFIT ORGANIZATIONS

FAS-117 establishes standards for external financial statements of
not-for-profit organizations. It requires not-for-profits to present a state-
ment of financial position, a statement of activities, and a statement of
cash flows. Operating cash flows of (a) unrestricted net assets, (b}
temporarily restricted net assets, and {c) permanently restricted net
assets must be disclosed separately in the statement of activities, and
the statement of financial position must distinguish among these three
classes of net assets. FAS-117 amends FAS-95 (Statement of Cash
Flows), extending its provisions to not-for-profit entities (FAS-117,
par. 1). Not-for-profit entities are also required to disclose expenses by
functional classification. Voluntary Health and Welfare Organiza-

tions (VHWO) are required, and Other Not-for-Profit Organizations

(ONPOQ) are encouraged, to disclose expenses by natural classification
as well (FAS-117, par. 1).

Financial Statements Required

FAS-117 (a) specifies three financial statements that must be present in
external financial reports and (b) standardizes the approach to the
disclosure of operating cash flows from unrestricted, temporarily re-
stricted, and permanently restricted net assets. FAS-117 reviews and
discusses the fundamental concepts governing financial reporting; it
emphasizes that general-purpose financial statements can be pre-
pared to serve a wide range of user needs, including an assessment of
management’s stewardship responsibilities to safeguard entity assets
and use them for authorized activities. FAS-117 further specifies that
the user’s primary informational needs include (FAS-117, par. 5:

* Information about assets and ]iabilities_
¢ Inflows and outflows of resources
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o (Cash flows
o Service efforts of the org_anization

Three financial statements are necessary to provide this infor-
mation (FAS-117, par. 6):

» Statement of financial position
e Statement of activities
e Statement of cash flows

FAS-117 also requires specific notes to the financial statements
which complete the disclosures relevant to the information needs
listed above.

FAS-117 also emphasizes that the disclosure requirements con-
tained in all authoritative literature that do not specifically exempt
not-for-profit entities remainin effect (FAS-117, par. 7). Another note-
worthy aspect of FAS-117 is that the degree of disaggregated fund
information is not limited. Preparers have flexibility regarding the
amount of detail provided, the order of line items, and the grouping of
assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses, and gains. However, it is ex-
pected that the exercise of this flexibility will be similar to that used by
business enterprises (FAS-117, par. 8).

FAS-117 does not address issues related to measurement focus,
* basis of accounting, or measurement methods (FAS-117, par. 8).

Statement of Financial Position

According to FAS-117, the objective of the statement of financial posi- -
tion is to present information about assets, liabilities, and net assets to
facilitate analysis of credit, liquidity, ability to meet obligations, and
the need to obtain external financing (FAS-117, par. 9). In particular,
FAS-117 emphasizes the need to distinguish between unrestricted
assets and permanently or temporarily restricted assets. However, the
focus of FAS-117 is on the organization as a whole, and therefore, the
total amounts for assets, liabilities, and net assets must be reported -
(FAS-117, par. 10). ‘ :

The statement of financial position must provide information about
the entity’s liquidity. This disclosure can be accomplished () by
sequencing assets in the order of diminishing liquidity or by cur-
rent/noncurrent classification or (b) by sequencing liabilities accord-
ing to their nearness to maturity (FAS-117, par. 12).

Particular attention should be paid to disclosing which elements of
the statement of financial position have donor-imposed restrictions
on their use. Restrictions exist because assets cannot be used until 2
future period, because they may be used only for certain types of
expenditures, or because only the investment income from the asses




Not-for-Profit Organizations 52.05

may be used. Internally imposed restrictions made by the governing
board of an entity must also be disclosed. Preparers are given flexibil-
ity about where to show disclosures about restrictions: on the face of
the statements or in notes to the statements (FAS-117, pars. 14 and 15).

The principal difference between previous not-for-profit balance
sheets and the format required by FAS-117 is in the net assets (equity)
section. Instead of presenting a balance sheet with different columns
for each fund, entities present a single, combined balance sheet with a
net assets section distinguishing between classes of asset restrictions
(FAS-117, par. 13}

Net assets:
Unrestricted $ xxx
Temporarily restricted XXX
Permanently restricted | XXX
Total net assets $ xxx
Total liabilities and net assets $ xxx

While accounts may be maintained on a fund basis, the above
example emphasizes that the reporting focuses on the nature of the
restrictions and not on the particular fund in which an asset is carried.

«® PRACTICE POINTER: FAS-117 makes no recommendations
about whether the statement of financial position should show
assets and liabilities by fund. Indeed, the terms fund and fund
balance are not used in FAS-117. In its discussion of the
statement of activities, FAS-117 explicitly states that reporting
by fund groups is not precluded, but is not a necessary part of
external reporting. Accordingly, it seems clear that entities
may prepare a statement of financial position that includes
disaggregated fund groups, as long as those groups aggregate
with net asset classes. It is also important to note that the
statement of activities change in net asset class must articulate
with the net assets shown on the statement of financial posi-
tion. FAS-117 emphasizes that information should be simpli-
fied, condensed, and aggregated into meaningful totals, and
that the statements should not'be obscured by unnecessary
fund or line item details.

FAS-117 requires that either the statements or the notes thereto give
information describing the amount and nature of the various types of
restrictions that exist within the major categories of temporarily restricted
or permanently restricted assets. For example, disclosures must be made -
to show the amount of assets temporarily restricted as to time of avail-
ability or as to type of use allowed. Within the category of permanently
restricted assets, differentiation should be made regarding assets of an
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endowment nature, which earn income, and assets that may be part of 5
collection (of art objects, historical treasures, etc.) (FAS-117, par. 14).
Entities may disclose board designations on unrestricted assets either
on the face of the statements or in notes (FAS-117, par. 16).

Statement of Activities

The statement of activities is the operating statement for a not-for-
profit entity, analogous to an income statement for a business. This
statement combines the revenues, expenses, gains, and losses with the
changes in equities. The statement should use the term changes in net
assets or changes in equities to describe equity (FAS-117, par. 18). As
noted above, FAS-117 does not use the terms fund balance or changes in
fund balance. Rather, FAS-117 sees net assets or equities as encompass- -
ing the whole of the net assets of the entity, while fund balance has
historically been used to refer only to certain groups of assets. The

~ statement of activities must report the changes in total net assets and

the change in each net asset class (FAS-117, par. 19). Thus, an impor-

tant dimension of reporting operations for not-for-profit entities by

FAS-117 is the use of net asset classes instead of fund groups. The

requirement is to report changes in unrestricted, temporarily restricted,

and permanently restricted net assets in the statement of activities.

Therefore, the statement will contain sections for changes in unre--
stricted net assets (which includes revenues and gains), changes in

temporarily restricted net assets (both inflows and outflows), and a

line for total changes in net assets.

lllustration of Format of Statement of Financial Position

NFP Organization #1
Statement of Financial Position
December 31, 20X4
(in thousands)

Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents ' $ 15
Accounts and interest receivable ' 425
inventories and prepaid expenses 120
Contributions receivabie : 600
Short-term investments B 300
Assets restricted to investment in land, buildings,

and equipment 1,050
Land, buildings, and equipment : 12,300
Long-term investments 43,600

Total assets $68,410
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Liabilities and net assets:
Accounts payable
Refundable advance
Grants payable
Notes payable
Annuity obligations
Long-term debt

Total liabilities

Net assets:
Unrestricted
Temporarily restricted (Note B)
Permanently restricted (Note C)
Totai net assets
Total liabilities and net assets

800
$ 2,105

$23,010
4,800

- 28,495

56,305
$58,410

lilustration of Format of the Statement of Activities

NFP Organization #2

Statermnent of Activities for Year Ending June 30, 20X5

(in thousands)

Changes in unrestricted net assets:
Revenues and gains:
- Contributions
Fees
Investment income
Other
Total unrestricted income

Net assets released from restrictions:
Program restrictions satisfied
Equipment acquisition restrictions satisfied
Time restrictions expired
Total assets released from restrictions
" Total support

Less: Expenses and losses:
Program A
Program B
Management and administrative

$ 900
450

25

10

$ 1,385

600
750
400
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Fund-raising expenses 100

Total expenses and losses 1,850
Increase in unrestricted net assets 85

' Changes in temporarily restricted net assets:

Contributions 650
Investment income 250
Net assets released from restrictions (110)

increase in temporarily restricted net assets - 790

Changes in permanently restricted net assels: _
Contributions - : 310

Investment income 80
Net realized and unrealized losses on investments (550)
Decrease in permanently restricted net assets {160}
increase in net assets 715
Net assets, beginning of the year 2,600
Net assets, end of the year $ 3,315

FAS-117 states that the term changes in net assets or change in equity
should be used in the statement (FAS-117, par. 18).

«@ PRACTICE POINTER: FAS-117 does not specifically state that
the operating statement must be titied “Statement of Activities.”
The operating statement may be disaggregated into a “Statement
of Unrestricted Revenues, Expenses, and Other Changes in Unre-
stricted Net Assets” (changes in unrestricted net assets in the
previous illustration) together with a second statement, “State-
ment of Changes in Net Assets” (changes in temporarily and
permanently restricted net assets in the previous illustration).
FAS-117 unequivocally states, however, that the focus must be
on net assets and the three major classes of restrictions: unre-
stricted, temporarily restricted, and permanently restricted.

Several provisions in FAS-117 simplify reporting requirements for
restricted resources. When donor-restricted assets are received, they
normally are reported as restricted revenues or gains. In cases in
which the restrictions are met in the same period the resources are
received, it is permissible to classify the receipts as unrestricted, pro-
vided the policy is disclosed and applied consistently (FAS-117, par.
21). In addition, gains and losses on investments are unrestricted,
regardless of the nature of the restrictions on the investment assets,
* unless the governing board determines that the law requires that such

. gains and losses be restricted (FAS-117, par. 22). Finally, FAS-117
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allows reporting of subtotals for operating and nonoperating items,
endable and nonexpendable items, or other terms as desired to
rovide additional detail within the three classes of net assets. This
* gditional detail isnot required, but preparers can make such distinc-
fions as they deem necessary (FAS-117, par. 23).

FAS-117 allows the reporting of gains and losses as net amounts if
they result from peripheral transactions, such as disposal of assets. In
its basis for conclusion, the FASB clearly states that this approach
should not be used for special events that are ongoing major activities

(FAS-117, par. 25).

gervice efforts One of the most important disclosures for not-for-

rofit organizations is information about service efforts. Inhealth-care
entities, colleges and universities, and ONPOs, this disclosure is ac-
complished by arranging the statement of activities along functional
Jines. For VHWOs, this information traditionally has been contained
in the Statement of Functional Expenses. Functional expense disclo-
sure involves informing the statement users of the different types of
expenses (e.g., salaries, rent, professional fees) incurred for the major
types of programs or functions the entity conducts.

EAS-117 requires all not-for-profits to rep ort expenditures by func-
tional classification and encourages ONPOs, health care providers,
and colleges and universities to also provide disclosure of expenses by
natural classification (FAS-117, par. 26). '

Health care providers, colleges and universities, and ONPOs can
comply with the functional expense disclosure standards by reporting
expenses by function in the statement of activities. VHHWOs are required to
show expenses by both functional and natural classifications (FAS-117,
par. 26). This mustbe done by showing, ina matrix-formatted statement,
the amounts and types of expenses allocated to programs compared with
the amounts spent on administration and fund-raising. The matrix for-
‘mat is accomplished by using multiple columns for each type of program
or support expenditure while retaining line item expense categories in
vertical format, This approach enables statement users to understand the
basis of program expenditures and totalexpendituresand tocompare the
amounts of expenditures for programs with those for support.

OBSERVATION: While an ONPQO’s disclosure of expenses in
a functional-natural matrix is not required by FAS-117, any
. ONPO whose primary mission is to conduct public service,
educational, research, or similar programs will have to disclose
these data to fulfill the concept of full disclosure. FAS-117 has
an expressed goal of describing the minimum disclosures nec-
essary. Preparers are expected to exercise their professional
judgment and go beyond the minimum disclosures as needed.

Proper classification of expenditures between program and sup-
port is a fundamental disclosure principle. FAS-117 provides detailed
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guidance about the appropriate classification of items of a support
nature. Supporting activities are divided into three categories: (1)
management and general, (2) fund-raising, and (3) membership devel-
opment (FAS-117, par. 28). '

OBSERVATION: FAS-117 specifies that membership develop-
ment is an elerment of support activity and should be so reported.

Also, it is important to emphasize that much information
about service efforts may not be presentable in the body of the
financial statements. Accordingly, preparers should ensure that
notes provide full disclosure of information describing service
accomplishments, including program descriptions, statistical data
relevant to program inputs and outputs, and narratives about
accomplishments.

Statement of Cash Flows

The requirement that the statement of cash flows be included in the
reports of all not-for-profit entities removes a significant inconsis-
tency in previous statements. FAS-117 amends several sections of
FAS-95 to require that not-for-profit organizations now include a state-
ment of cash flows in their financial statement package (FAS-117, par.

~ 30). All these changes involve minor wording changes or additions to

FAS-95 to clarify that FAS-95 is applicable to not-for-profit entities. As
is the case for business entities, either the direct or indirect method
may be used to present the cash flow information. The cash flow
statement is best presented on an aggregated basis for the three classes
of net assets; to do otherwise would result in a very detailed statement.

o PRACTICE POINTER: The statement of cash flows as required
by FAS-117 is essentially the same as that required by FAS-95
for business enterprises. The only substantive difference is the
substitution of “change in net assets” of the not-for-profit organi-
zation for “net income” of the business organization. For that
reason, an illustration of the statement of cash fiows is not
presented here; see the 2003 Miller GAAP Guide chapter titled
“Cash Flow Statement.” -

DEPRECIATION

FAS-93 requires that not-for-profit entities recognize the cost of using
up the future economic benefits or service potential of long-lived
tangible assets by reporting depreciation on those assets. In addi-
tion, disclosure of the following items is required for those assets
(FAS-93, par. 5):
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e Depreciation expense for the period

o Balances of major classes of depreciable assets by nature or
function

o Accumulated depreciation by major class or in total
o  Adescription of the methods of depreciation used

Depreciation is not required to be taken on works of art or historical
treasures considered to have an indefinite service potential or an
extraordinarily long useful life. Verifiable evidence should exist which
indicates that () the historical treasures or works of art are of such
value that they are worth preserving perpetually and (b) the entity
has the capacity to preserve the undiminished service potential of
the asset for an indefinite period, and is doing so (FAS-93, par. 6).

CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVED AND MADE

FAS-116 eliminates inconsistencies in the method of accounting for
contributions of cash and other assets, provides guidance for contribu-
tions received and contributions given, and promises to give cash or
other assets, contributed services, collections of works of art, and gifts
with donor-stipulated conditions. FAS-116 also specifies when to rec-
ognize the expirations of donor-imposed restrictions. (Prior to the
issuance of FAS-116, accounting practices for contributions varied
depending on the type of entity involved, the form of the contribution
(whether cash, other assets, or services), and the purpose of the gift. To
determine the correct practice for a particular financial reporting ques-
tion, accountants were required to refer to the AICPA Audit Guide or
SOP that specifically addressed the type of entity in question.} FAS-
116 also eliminates inconsistencies in the terminology used to describe
the contributions and in the timing of recognition of income for the
contributions received and expense for contributions given.

OBSERVATION: FAS-116 is consistent with the general trend in
recent standards toward a full accrual approach to the recogni-
tion of revenue and expenses, as well as an emphasis on fair
market value as a basis for measuring nonmonetary transactions.

FAS-116 applies to contributions of cash, nonmonetary assets, and
services, and to promises to give the same. It applies to exchange
transactions in which the value received is substantially different
from the value given. It does not apply to (4) bargained arm’s-length
transactions without a gift element or (b) transactions in which the
entity is an intermediary or is acting in some form of agency capacity
(FAS-116, par. 4). '
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OBSERVATION: Transfers of assets in which the reporting entity
acts as an agent are not contributions. Accordingly, the guidance
in AICPA Audit Guides for agency funds continues to be authori-
tative. However, FAS-116's basis for conclusion provides an
analysis that differentiates between receipt of funds by an agent
or intermediary and receipt of funds by an entity as a donee. This
analysis indicates that the United Way organizations and other
federated fund-raising entities are donees, not agents. In instances
in which a donor uses an intermediary that acts as an agent to
transfer assets to a third-party donee, neither the receipt nor the
disbursement by the agent is a contribution received or made.
Furthermore, a recipient of funds that makes disbursements in
accordance with strict donor instructions (i.e., the recipient has
discretion regarding the use made of those funds) is also an agent.

Also expressly excluded from the scope of FAS-116 are transactions
that convey only contingent or indirect benefits, such as tax abatements.
Transfers of assets from governments to businesses also are not covered
by the Statement. The FASB concluded that these transactions pose
specific complexities that may require further study, and so excluded
them from the scope of the Statement (FAS-116, par. 4).

Contributions in FAS-116 include cash, assets, or services—or un-
conditional promises to give these in the future (FAS-116, par. 5). The
Statement emphasizes the word promise and requires verifiable docu-
mentary evidence that a promise has been made (FAS-116, par. 6). It
also distinguishes between donor-imposed conditions and donor-
imposed restrictions to provide a basis for differentiating the way these
items are reported (FAS-116, par. 7). Imposing restrictions on how a
gift is to be used does not delay recognition of income or expense.
However, recognition of conditional gifts is delayed until the condi-
tions are substantially met.

Contributions Received

FAS-116 generally requires that all unconditional contributions—
whether assets, services, or reductions of liabilites—be measured at
fair marketvalue on the date received and be recognized currently as
revenue or gains (FAS-116, par. 8). FAS-116 takes the current recogni-
tion, fair value approach, which embraces the characteristics of rel-
evance and reliability and the qualities of comparability and consis-
tency that are discussed in FASB Concepts Statement 2 (Qualitative
Characteristics of Accounting Information).

OBSERVATION: The FASB Statements of Financial Account-
ing Concepts are intended to provide conceptual guidance in
selecting the economic events recognized and reported in
financial statements. Concepts Statement 2 examines the char-
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acteristics of accounting information and is useful as a refer-
ence .to understanding the importance attached to various
concepts that are emphasized in the FASB Standards.

FAS-116 also provides new guidance in accounting for donated
services. In particular, it holds that donated services must create
or enhance nonfinancial assets, or must be of a specialized nature,
must be provided by individuals possessing those skills, and typically
need to be purchased, before they can be included as revenue or gains
in the operating statement (FAS-116, par. 9). Thus, routine volunteer
services requiring no particular expertise may notbe reported as con-
tribution revenue. Finally, FAS-116 requires explanatory footnotes
that describe the programs or activities for which contributed services
are used and other information that aids in assessing the success or
viability of the entity (FAS-116, par. 10). . '

Assets to be included in a collection are recognized as revenue or
gains if they are capitalized, but may not be included in revenue or
gains if they are not capitalized (FAS-116, par. 13). To be part of a
collection, the assets must be (FAS-116, par. 11):

s Held for public exhibition, education, or research rather than
held for financial gain -

o Protected, preserved, and not used as collateral or otherwise
encumbered '

* Subject to a policy that requires. the proceeds of collection
items sold to be reinvested in collections

Entities are encouraged by FAS-116 to capitalize collections retro-
actively or on a prospective basis; however, capitalization is optional.
Capitalization of selected items is not permitted (FAS-116, par. 12). An
entity that does not capitalize collections is required to disclose addi-
tiona] information as described later in this chapter.

Contribution Standards Applicable Only to
Not-for-Profit Entities

FAS-116 requires that not-for-profit organizations distinguish the use
of assets and support as unrestricted, temporarily restricted, or perma-
nently restricted (FAS-116, par. 14). This separation could be accom-
plished through fund accounting by having a different fund for each
of the three classes of net assets. Support that is restricted by donorsas -
being available only in future accounting periods is reported as re-
stricted support (FAS-116, par. 15). :

Expiration of donor-imposed restrictions requires reclassification of
net assets from restricted to unrestricted, or from a restricted to an
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unrestricted fund. FAS-117 provides guidance on financial statement
format. Since restricted contributions are reported as support in the
temporarily restricted class of net assets when first received, they are
reclassified in the operating statement when restrictions lapse. FAS-117
supersedes the requirement in SOP 78-10 that support or revenue re-
stricted for certain operating purposes be deferred until the restrictions
are met. The classification “capital additions” required by SOP 78-10 for
contributions to be added to endowments or plant funds is also super-
seded. FAS-116 requires that contributions to acquire fixed assets or
contributions of plant assets be reported as restricted support over the
life of the asset if (a) the donor restricts the use and disposition of the
asset or (b) the donee has a policy of imposing a time restriction that
expires over the life of the donated assets or the life of assets acquired
with donated money (FAS-116, par. 16).

When restrictions lapse, recognition is required in the statement of
activities. In general, a restriction expires when the period of the
restriction has lapsed or when an expenditure for an authorized
purpose is made. If an expense is incurred for a purpose for which
both unrestricted and temporarily restricted net assets are available,
the donor-imposed restriction is met (FAS-116, par. 17).

Contributions Made

FAS-116 continues the emphasis on full accrual and fair market value
in providing guidance for contributions made. The fair market value
emphasis is particularly evidentin the directions given for accounting
for contributions of normonetary assets. Contributions of nonmon-
etary assets are recognized as expenses and decreases in assets (or
increases in liabilities) in the period made. Donors should find the
most objective way possible to determine the fair market value of
nonmonetary assets (FAS-116, par. 18).

OBSERVATION: Absence of a definite valuation does not jus-
tify use of historical cost as a basis for recording the transaction.

FAS-116 states that appraisals, present value of estimated cash flows,
net realizable value, and quoted market prices areall acceptable ways of
determining the fair market value of donated nonmonetary assets
(FAS-116, par. 19). The difference between the book value and the fair
market value of donated assets is a realized gain or loss on dispositionin
accordance with APB-29 (Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions)
(FAS-116, par. 18). When a promise is recorded as a liability, any interest
accruals on the promise should be accounted for as contribution ex-
pense by the donor and as contribution revenue by the donee. No interest
income or expense should be reported (FAS-116, par. 20).




Not-for-Profit Organizations 5215

Conditional Promises

Material gifts or promises subject to conditions present accounting
problemsregarding the appropriate time to recognize the gift revenue
or expense. They may also create the need for additional note disclo-
sures describing the nature of the conditions. FAS-116 requires thata
promise to give be recognized when the conditions of the promise are
substantially met (FAS-116, par. 22). Conditional promises are essen-
tially contingent events. If the contingent event (condition) is remote, it
may be ignored and the promise accounted for as an unconditional
promise. Otherwise, the gift is not recognized until the conditions
have been substantially met. Although FAS-116 requires note disclo-
sure by recipients of conditional promises, there is no similar require-
ment for the promisor.

Recognition problems also occur for donees when ambiguous
wording makes it difficult to determine if conditions for recognition
exist. Conditional promises are essentially contingent revenue for
the donee. FAS-5 (Accounting for Contingencies) prohibits recogni-
tion of contingent gains, and FAS-116 is consistent with FAS-5 in that
regard (FAS-116, par. 23). The donee need only prepare a note to the
financial statements describing the nature and conditions of the prom-
ise and the amounts promised (FAS-116, par. 25). Accrual of condi-
tional promises is not permitted unless the probability that the condi-
tion will not lapse is remote. For unconditional promises, the notes to
the financial statements should indicate the timing of the cash flows
as well as amounts, and should disclose the balances in any allow-
ances for uncollectibles (FAS-116, par. 24).

Additional Disclosures for Collections

As described previously, capitalization of collections by donees is
optional. FAS-116 requires that the financial statements disclose the
cash flows associated with collections whether the collection is capital-
ized or not. The choice of capitalization policy affects the way that these
cash flows are disclosed. If collections are capitalized, the cash conse-
quences of collection activities are a result of routine transactions
recorded in the ledger, and would appear in the statement of activities
(FAS-116, par. 26).

I collections are not capitalized, the cash consequences of collec-
tion activities appear in the statement of activities within a separate
category called “changes in permanently restricted net assets.” This
category follows the revenue and expense categories. Substantial
descriptive notes regarding the collections are required when collec-
tions are not capitalized. These disclosures must include the relative
significance of the collection, along with the accounting and steward-
ship policies followed. In addition, the notes should indicate the
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values of items sold, lost, or destroyed. A line in the financial state-
ments must refer to the collections note (FAS-116, par. 27).

OBSERVATION: The note disclosures required for uncapitalized
collections are extensive. They emphasize that readers of the
financial statements must be made aware of the details of all
significant changes in the collection. In particular, statement users
must be advised regarding casualty losses, insurance recoveries,
accounting policies, and managerial controls in place. The concept
of full disclosure is very much in evidence in this standard.

ACCOUNTING FOR INVESTMENTS

Definitions and Applicability

FAS-124 establishes standards for certain investments in debt and
equity securities. The term securities is defined in FAS-124 as a share,
participation, or other interest in property or in an enterprise of the
issuer or an obligation of the issuer that has the following characteris-
tics (FAS-124, par. 112):

* Itisrepresented by an instrumentissued inbearer or registered
form, or it is registered in books maintained to record transfers
by or on behalf of the issuer.

* Itisof atypethatis commonly dealtin on securities exchanges or
markets or, when it is represented by an instrument, commonly
recognized as a medium for investment in any area in whichitis
issued or dealt in. -

* Itis oneof a class orseries, or by its terms is divisible into a class
or series of shares, participations, interests, or obligations.

Equity securities represent an ownership interest in an enterprise

~ (e.g., common and preferred stock) or the right to acquire (e.g.,

warrants, rights, call options) or dispose of (e.g., put options) an

ownership interest at fixed or determinable prices. Convertible debt

and preferred stock that by their terms either must be redeemed by the

issuing enterprise or are redeemable at the option of the investor are
not considered equity securities (FAS-124, par. 112).

Debt securities represent a creditor relationship with an enterprise.
Debt securities include U.S. Treasury securities, U.S. government agency
securities, municipal securities, corporate bonds, convertible debt, com-
mercial paper, securitized debt instruments and interest-only and
principal-only strips. Preferred stock that must be redeemed by the
issuing enterprise or that is redeemable at the option of the investor, as
well as collateralized mortgage obligations that are issued in equity
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form but are required to be accounted for as nonequity instruments
regardless of how the instruments are classified, are considered debt
securities. The term excludes option contracts, financial futures con-
tracts, forward contracts, lease contracts, and swap contracts (FAS-
124, par. 112). ‘

OBSERVATION: FAS-133 (Accounting for Derivative Instru-
ments and Hedging Activities) indicates that FAS-124 does not
apply to investments in derivative instruments that are subject
to the requirements of FAS-133. If an investment would other-
wise be in the scope of FAS-124 and has within it an embedded
derivative subject to FAS-133, the host instrument remains
within the scope of FAS-124.

A final term that is particularly important for understanding FAS-
124 is fair value. Fair value is the amount at which an asset could be
bought or sold in a current transaction between willing parties, other
than in a forced or liquidation sale. If a quoted market price is available
for a financial instrument, the fair value of an investment is the num-
ber of trading units multiplied by the market price per unit. If a quoted
market price is not available, the estimate of fair value should be based
on the best information available. It may be appropriate to consider
prices of similar assets and valuation techniques (FAS-133, par. 535¢).

«@ PRACTICE POINTER: The measurement standards of FAS-124
are applicable for investments in equity securities that have
readily determinable fair values (with limited exceptions) and
for all investments in debt securities. The exceptions for equity
securities that have readily determinable fair values are invest-
ments that are accounted for by the equity method and invest-
ments in consolidated financial statements.

An equity security is deemed to have a readily determinable fair
value if one of the following criteria is met:

1. Sales prices or bid-and-asked quotations for the security are
available on a securities exchange registered with the Securi-
ties and Exchange Commission (SEC) or in the over-the-
counter market. For over-the-counter market prices to qualify,
they must be publicly reported by the National Association of
Securities Dealers Automated Quotation (NASDAQ) system or
by the National Quotation Bureau.

OBSERVATION: Restricted stock does not meet this criterion.
The term restricted stock refers to equity securities for which
sale is restricted at acquisition by governmental or contractual
requirement, other than in connection with being pledged as
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collateral, except if that requirement terminates within one year
or if the holder has the power by contract or otherwise to cause
the reguirement to be met within one year. Any portion of the
security that can be reasonably expected to qualify for sale
within one year is not considered restricted.

2. For an equity securify traded only in a foreign market, that
market is of a breadth and scope comparable to a U.S. market
referred to in (1) above.

3. Foraninvestmentina mutual fund, the fair value per share or
unit is determined and published and is the basis for current
transactions.

Measurement and Recognition Standards

The most important measurement and recognition requirement is
that qualifying investments in equity securities (i-e., investments that
have readily determinable fair values and are not accounted for by
the equity method or consolidation) and all investments in debt

securities are to be accounted for at fair value in the statement of .

financial position (FAS-124, par. 7).

OBSERVATION: FAS-115, which specifies requirements for
debt and equity investments for business enterprises, includes
a category of investments labeled “held to maturity,” which
includes only certain debt securities that are accounted for at
arnortized cost. While the requirements of FAS-11 5 for busi-
ness organizations and FAS-124 for notfor-profit organizations
are comparable in many respects, an important difference is
that FAS-124 does not incl ude a category of investment for debt
securities that are nof measured at fair value as FAS-1 15 does
for business enterprises.

Building on the general reporting requirements of FAS-117 (Finan-
cial Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations), FAS-124 provides the
following guidance for the income offects of measuring investments at
fair value (FAS-124, pars. 8-10):

e Gains and losses on investments resulting from their measure-
ment at fair value are tobe reported in the statement of activities
as increases or decreases in unrestricted net assets, unless their
use is temporarily or permanently restricted by donor stipula-
Hon or by law. '

« Dividend, interest, and other investment income is to be re-
ported in the period earned as increases in unrestricted net
assets, unless the use of the assets received is limited by donor
restrictions.
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« Donor-restricted investment income is to be reported as an
increase in temporarily restricted net assets or permanently
restricted net assets, depending on the nature of the donor
restriction.

o (Cains and investment income that are limited to specific uses
by donor restriction may be reported as increases in unre-
stricted net assets if the restrictions are met in the same report-
ing period as the gains and income are recognized (provided
the organization has a similar policy for reporting contribu-
tions received, applies that policy consistently, and discloses
that policy).

FAS-124 also deals with accounting for a donor-restricted endow-
ment fund, which is an endowment fund created by a donor stipulat-
ing that the gift be invested in perpetuity or for a specified term.
Gains and losses on investments in a donor-restricted endowment
fund are classified as changes in unrestricted net assets, unless they
are temporarily or permanently restricted by a donor’s stipulation or
by law that extends the donor’s restriction to them (FAS-124, par. 11).

OBSERVATION: FAS-117 states that gains and fosses on restricted-
net assets are unrestricted unless the donor stipulates otherwise.
Thus, in a permanent endowment three possibilities exist:

1. Neither the donor nor law stipulates that the endowment
restriction extends to gains and losses, in which case the
gains and losses are unrestricted income.

2. The donor stipulates that gains and losses are to be used for
some restricted purpose, often the same purpose for which
the endowment income is restricted. In this case, the gains
and losses are temporarily restricted income.

3. Either the donor or law stipulates that gains and losses become
part of the endowment principal. In this case, the gains and
losses are permanently restricted income. FAS-124 mentions
the situation in which an endowment cannot be sold (i.e., must
be held in perpetuity), in which case gains and losses on that
security would be permanently restricted income.

As a general rule (i.e., unless otherwise restricted by donor stipula-
tion or law), losses on investments in a donor-restricted endowment
reduce temporarily restricted net assets to the extent that donor-im-
posed temporary restrictions on net appreciation of the fund have not
been met before the loss occurs. Further losses reduce unrestricted net
assets (FAS-124, par. 12). If losses reduce the assets of a donor-restricted
endowment fund below the level required by donor stipulation or law,
gains that restore the fair value of the assets to the required level are
classified as increases in unrestricted net assets (FAS-124, par. 13).
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Disclosure Standards

The FAS-124 disclosure requirements can be separated into three
classifications.

First, the following information related to the statement of activities
is required (FAS-124, par. 14):

1. Composition of investment return, including at least the fol-
lowing components:

a. Investmentincome (e.g., dividends, interest)

b. Net realized gains or losses on investments reported at
other than fair value '

c. Net gains or losses on investments reported at fair value

2. Areconciliation of investment return to amounts reported in

the statement of activities, if the investment is separated into

. operating and nonoperating amounts and an explanation of

how the amount included in operations is computed, includ-
ing any changes in policy, used to make that classification

Second, the following information related to the statement of finan-
cial position is required (FAS-124, par. 15):

1. Aggregate carrying amount of investments by major type

2. Basis for determining the carrying amount for investments other
_ than equity securities with readily determinable fair values
and all debt securities

3. Themethod(s) and significant assumptions used to determine
fair values (related to the FAS-107 requirement) '

4. The aggregate amount of the deficiencies for all donor-
restricted endowment funds for which the fair value of the
assets at the reporting date is less than the level required by
donor stipulations or law |

Third, for the most recent period for which a statement of financial
position is presented, the nature of and carrying amount for each indi-
vidual investment or group of investments that represents a significant
concentration of market risk are required (FAS-124, par. 16).

ACCOUNTING FOR TRANSFERS OF ASSETS

FAS-116 (Accounting for Contributions Received and Contributions
Made) includes the following statement (paragraph 4):

This Statement does not apply to transfers of assets in which
the reporting entity acts as an agent, trustee, or intermediary,
rather than as a donor or donee.

'}

———————SEEEE
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FAS-136 (Transfer of Assets to a Not-for-Profit Organization or
Charitable Trust That Raises or Holds Conftributions for Others) amends
FAS-114 by requiring a recipient organization to recognize at fair
value an asset and liability instead of contribution revenue if the
recipient organization accepts cash or other financial assets from a
donor and agrees to use those assets, or disburse them and the return
from investing the assets, or both, to a specified beneficiary (FAS-136,
par. 11). The specified beneficiary reports its interest in the assets held
by the recipient organization as an asset and as contribution revenue
(FAS-136, par. 15). Exceptions to the above are situations in which the
recipient organization is granted variance power (i.e., can redirect the
use of funds) and in which the recipient and beneficiary organizations
are interrelated (FAS-136, pars. 12-14). ,

FAS-136 also specifies criteria for determining when the recipient

_organization and the specified beneficiary are considered interrelated

organizations. These criteria are typically met by a not-for-profit orga-
nization and a related foundation (FAS-136, pars. 13~14).

FIN-42 (Accounting for Transfers of Assets in Which a Not-for-
Profit Organization Is Granted Variance Power) was a temporary
solution to the issue covered by FAS-136 and was effective until FAS-
136 was first applied, at which time FIN-42 was superseded.

RELATED 2003 MILLER GAAP GUIDE CHAPTERS

* Chapter 5, “Cash Flow Statement”

* Chapter 12, “Depreciable Assets and Depreciation”

e Chapter 28, “Investments in Debt and Equity Securities”
* Chapter 32, “Nonmonetary leansactions”
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